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DEFINITIONS
Bx

In this annual report, unless the TEARFHA @ BRXEZSERTEI © THAZEEBFATEE :
context otherwise requires, the

following expressions shall have

the following meanings:

“2023 AGM” the AGM to be held on June 20, 2023

—ECFREBFERE] ARAFBBAR-_ZE_=FNA-TEETHRRBEFAS

“AGM” annual general meeting of the Company

[REEF RS ] RRABNREAFRE

“Angame” Angame Inc., a company incorporated in the BVI with limited liability on July 5, 2005,
which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

[Angame | Angame Inc. ' — KR ZZEZTRAF+-ARHERBELZHEIMAINERAR - AEARRK
TEMBAR

“ARPPU” average revenue per month per paying user, which represents our revenue recognized

for a particular game, a particular type of games or all of our games, as applicable, in the
period divided by the number of paying users of the game, the type of games or all of our
games, as applicable, in such period

[ARPPU | BENERFERATHRA - H—FEE - —REESERMMEEE (NER) R —ERAMAMR
TR - BRAZREERL - BB M BB (ER) N BRAn N ERFEE

“Articles” the memorandum and articles of association of the Company as amended from time to
time

[HEEEI2AA) ] RABENRHE T R L Z 12 K40 & 48 A

“Audit Committee” the audit committee of the Board

[ERZEg ] BEEEeBETEREZES

“Board Committees” the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee

[E=ZE9 EREES FWEEgkREEES

“Board of Directors” or “Board” the board of Directors of the Company

=3 ZN/NSIE: =]

“BVI” British Virgin Islands

[HEBREAZHS] HERLHS

“Beijing You Lai” Beijing You Lai Information Technology Company Limited* (1t Rz (s BRI AR AR]), a

company established in the PRC with limited liability on November 14, 2014, which is an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

Blazvizi g IERBEREERRERAE  —KRZE—HF+—A+HBAERBIKINERIR - AER
AIMEEEENE LR
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DEFINITIONS (Continued)

B (&)

“Beijing You Tang”

b |

“CG Code” or “Code’
ESS S ENEAR T

“China” or “PRC”

[FPE )

“Company”, “our Company”, “Digital

n o« » o«

Hollywood”, “Group”, “our Group”,

“ n o«

we”, “our” or “us”

[ARAE - [EHES ] [AREH ]Ik
45N

“Controlling Shareholder(s)

[ R ARAR R |

“‘COVID-19 Outbreak”
[COVID-19%15

»

“Director(s)

[E%]

“FY2021”
T -MREE]

Beijing You Tang Information Technology Company Limited* (It R#EE{EERHEER L
A]), a company established in the PRC with limited liability on July 17, 2015, which is an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

IRBEZEEMBRERAR  — KR ZE—AFtAT+HHAERBKINERDR - AERRQA
B 2 E B QA

the “Corporate Governance Code” as contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

LR BT ER I ATE A [ R ER ST

the People’s Republic of China, which for the purpose of this annual report and for
geographical reference only, excludes Hong Kong, Macau Special Administrative Region
of the PRC and Taiwan

hEARANE - ERAFREMBIRANE - AREEE  RFENTRERSE

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited (##E &)5£E AR A E)*), a company incorporated
under the laws of the Cayman Islands with limited liability on November 24, 2014 and
except where the context indicated otherwise (1) our subsidiaries and (2) with respect to
the period before our Company became the holding company of our present subsidiaries,
the business operated by our present subsidiaries or (as the case may be) their
predecessors

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited 3B BEEBRAF) — KR _T—NF+—A=
TUAEREFEHEEZTMRINERLATE - UERBRXESEREN - (NYEMOHERE R
Q)BERERRKASREMBERARIMNZERARANBENE - aRAMB AR (RIERME)
HAT g QAR ENER

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules and unless the context requires
otherwise, refers to Mr. LU Yuanfeng, Ms. LUO Simin, Mr. HUANG Guozhan, Mr. HUANG
Deqgiang, LYF Digital Holdings Limited, Angel Age Limited, LXT Digital Holdings Limited
and HDQ Digital Holdings Limited

BERELTRAUME TERE  BXESEMEN  BERELE  REHFXL  FBEES
4~ H{E58 54 - LYF Digital Holdings Limited * Angel Age Limited * LXT Digital Holdings
Limited 2HDQ Digital Holdings Limited

the outbreak of the novel coronavirus
FAEMRREHLEF

the director(s) of the Company or any one of them

ARREELEPEA—BES

the year ended December 31, 2021
BHE-_ZTZ-_—F+-_fF=+—HBI&E

BEREBHEEERAT




DEFINITIONS (Continued)
B3 (5)

“FY2022”

ZECHBEE]

“Guangzhou SYND”

[BEM R AR

“Guangzhou You Lai”

“Guangzhou ZYK”

[EMEmRE]

“HK$” or “Hong Kong Dollars”

[T

“Hollywood BVI”

[Hollywood BVI ]

“Hollywood HK”

[Hollywood HK

“Hong Kong”

(&%)

“HTMLS5”

[HTMLS5 ]

the year ended December 31, 2022
HE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE

Guangzhou Suiyue Niandai Software Technology Company Limited* (& /N 5% A EREF
B AR A7), a company established in the PRC with limited liability on June 12, 2010,
which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

BT RAFRBEEREERAT  —RR_ZE—ZF A THEFEXINERAR - &
RATNHEEEEWE QA

Guangzhou You Lai Information Technology Company Limited* (E/I#&3H{EER AR A
A]), a company established in the PRC with limited liability on May 13, 2015, which is an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

BMEREEREAERAT  — KRR ZE-—AFHEAT=AEFEXIHNERAT - HAAA
M2 EHE Q)

Guangzhou Zhang Ying Kong Information Technology Company Limited* (Bl Z&mi%E 5
B AR A R]), a company established in the PRC with limited liability on March 6, 2013,
which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
BNERZEEEREARAG  —FRZE—=F=ANBEFEKINERAR  AAQHE
M2 EHE Q)

Hong Kong Dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BEREEEREET

Digital Hollywood International Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI with limited
liability on November 25, 2014, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
Digital Hollywood International Limited * —RR =T —WNF+— A+ AHEABERES
FMEZHERAT - AARFENEEMBRF

Game Hollywood Hong Kong Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with
limited liability on December 5, 2014, which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company

Game Hollywood Hong Kong Limited " XA -Z— 4+ - AR BREBFBRIHERA
A RARFINEELENBE AR

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEEBRFRIITEH R

hypertext markup language 5, the fifth and current major version of the hypertext markup
language standard; used for structuring and presenting content on web pages and for
creating web applications

FAMBXFRLES  BXFRLCESFENELREBAINEZRA  ARESE FHE
RERANE  RelBBEEMAER
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DEFINITIONS (Continued)

B (&)

“IFRS”
[ BIFR A B s 22 Al |

“IPO”

(&R AR
“JV Partner”
aEBH]

“Listing”
[ 7]

“Listing Date”
[ £ H
“Listing Rules”
[Em#RAl

“‘MAUs”

[EAERAF]

“Model Code”

RERSEN

“Nomination Committee”

[REZBE

“Now To Play Game”

[Now To Play Game]

“Now To Play Game (Spain)”

[Now To Play Game (Fg¥I ) |

International Financial Reporting Standards

B PR  75 $R 5 2 B

the initial public offering of the Company, having become unconditional in all aspects on
December 15, 2017
EEFEXAEEGE  ARAFRZE—tF+_ATHBETHNERAREE

Guangzhou Red Circle Information Technology Company Limited* (E/M4LE {z BRI AR
‘X 7]), a company established in the PRC with limited liability
BMABESMRERARF  —KRPEKZINERAF

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
P& FERSE 22 P AR =7

December 15, 2017, on which the Shares were listed and from which dealings therein
were permitted to take place on the Stock Exchange

“E—FT-A+THE - BT BT N B U AR B A P T B e A

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (as amended from
time to time)
B2 PR E R A (T RHERT)

monthly active users, which refers to the number of individuals who login to a particular
game in the relevant calendar month; average MAUs for a particular period is the average
of the active users in each month during that period

BRERAPH  HBEFMEAANEHEEEENAL  REEHHENTHEAERABFEE
ZEREE ARERA P T8

the “Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
FHARBIMSETAE EEITAERETESFRSNEETA]

the nomination committee of the Board

EEeETREZRS

Now To Play Game Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on
March 29, 2011, which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

Now To Play Game Limited ' X - E——F=F -+ A BEEBFMRINBERAT
RARNFNEZE2EWNB AT

Now To Play Game Sucursal En Espafia, a branch office established in Spain on July 24,
2014 by Now To Play Game, which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
Now To Play Game Sucursal En Espafia * —XENow To Play Game A —Z—MF+ A=
THOEEARTR LN XHEE - RARRNEEZENB AR

RO CFFR @

BEREBHEEERAT




DEFINITIONS (Continued)
B3 (5)

“Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”
[ERRRESEERET S

“Prospectus”

[ ERE ]

“Qianhai Huanjing”

[ A& 2)35% ]

“Remuneration Committee”

[FHZEE

“RMB”
[AR¥]

“SDK”

[SDK]

“SFO”

[3& 7 RS D]

“Share(s)”
[tn |

“Shareholder(s)”
A5 |

“Shenzhen 7Road”

RYIE A8 ]

the share option scheme conditionally adopted by the Company on May 27, 2017
ARARZB—HFHA =+ HB R RGE BT S

the prospectus of the Company dated December 5, 2017
ARBABPA-ZT—+F+-ALRNBRERE

Shenzhen Qianhai Huanjing Network Technology Co., Ltd.* (FIITATELBMERRER
A 7]), a company established in the PRC on July 12, 2015, one of our game developer
partners and a fellow subsidiary of 7Road Holdings, a substantial shareholder of the
Company

RYNTRNE L RBEBEAERAR  —ZR_E—AF AT ZBETEKINHAA - BEA
BB EREH 2 - RELREERNBRNBAR  ARARFRNEIERE

the remuneration committee of the Board

EEgRETHFMEES

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
FEUEEEBEARE

software development kit, typically a set of software development tools that allows the
creation of applications for a certain software package, software framework, hardware
platform, computer system, video game console, operating system, or similar development
platform

PHREEE  —MRA—ERNURETA USRS EEM4e MEESE  BHTE SRR
o MEBEEH - RIERGRBEUNHETERIEMARER

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BEREVESTIEZ S MMBIRD - ETFERT - AAIAE M B

ordinary share(s) of US$0.001 each in the share capital of the Company
RABRAH FARE(EO0.001 5= T H) E AR

holder(s) of Shares
USHESEEPN

Shenzhen 7Road Technology Co., Ltd.* (FYUIEL-XKERHEHBRAE), a company
established in the PRC on January 22, 2008, one of our game developer partners and a
fellow subsidiary of 7Road Holdings, a substantial shareholder of the Company
FRYBLREMBARLA  —FZR _EEN\F-A- T - HERFBEKRINLQR - BRIk
BREEBH 2 —RBELRNEBERORREMB AR RARRNEZRR
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DEFINITIONS (Continued)
B3 (5)

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

[ B8 32 P | BEREBMARGAERAT

“U.S. Dollars”, “USD” or “US$” United States Dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

EH EEDEFEWET

“VR” virtual reality, a computer technology that uses certain equipment to generate realistic

images, sounds and other sensations that simulate a user’s physical presence in a virtual
or imaginary environment

[EHRE SR ERER EAETREREREREREREINERIIENRED  EMELZEEY
& BENHEMEE 2 B

“7Road” 7Road Holdings and its fellow subsidiaries

RN FEHREERKRER ZHE AT

“7Road Holdings” 7Road Holdings Limited (5t K:EERBRAF*), a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability on September 6, 2017, a substantial shareholder of the
Company

[ REER] FLREEZERARLAA  — KR _E—tFNANBERSHESIMKXINEGRAR - BAA
AN EERR

“%” per cent.

(%] Bt

* For identification purposes only ~— * B
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CORPORATE PROFILE
~EEFR

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. LU Yuanfeng (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. HUANG Guozhan

Mr. HUANG Degiang

Independent Non-executive Directors

Professor CHAU Chi Wai, Wilton
Mr. LI Yi Wen
Mr. LU Qibo

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Professor CHAU Chi Wai, Wilton (Chairman)
Mr. LI Yi Wen
Mr. LU Qibo

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. LI Yi Wen (Chairman)
Mr. LU Yuanfeng
Mr. LU Qibo

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. LU Yuanfeng (Chairman)
Mr. LI Yi Wen
Mr. LU Qibo

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. WONG Wai Chiu

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. LU Yuanfeng
Mr. WONG Wai Chiu
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CORPORATE PROFILE (Continued)
ARER (&)

AUDITOR

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited

23/F, Tower 2, Enterprise Square Five, 38 Wang Chiu Road
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTER AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN THE PRC

2nd Floor, No. 368 Jiang Nan Da Dao (South)
Haizhu District

Guangzhou

The PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG

11/F, Tai Sang Bank Building
784 Nathan Road

Kowloon

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
2/F, 673 Nathan Road

Mong Kok, Kowloon

Hong Kong

BBVA Compass Bank
Placa de Tetuan, 26
08010, Barcelona
Spain

HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISER

P.C. Woo & Co.

12th Floor, Prince’s Building
Central

Hong Kong

B

HELEG R EBAERAR
)

NENEE
RIRBI8FR I EIS T 22318

AN EE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

RBRPEEEEF R

Y

BN

BIRE

IR KEBmM3685 8

BERTEEXRMH

B5

hEE
THHET84 5
RERITREI11E

FEERRIT

B8 LEELRTT
B

FUBERE /4
FHGE6T35: 218

BBVA Compass Bank
Placa de Tetuan, 26
08010, Barcelona
Spain

BEREEER
HE 2R

EN Rk
RFRE121E
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CORPORATE PROFILE (Continued)
ARER (&)

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
Stock Code: 2022

WEBSITE

www.gamehollywood.com/company/
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MILESTONES

BiE®

Year Events
F15 =
2010 . Our founders became the beneficial shareholders of our first operating entity, Guangzhou SYND
—ET-TF c EMMAIMARARMERLEEEEMNRAFTRNERRE
2011 . The first overseas subsidiary was established to develop overseas operation
T o KUBE-RBIERRIAERGINET
2012 . Launched multiplayer web game Wartune with an exclusive license for overseas publishing in English-
speaking markets
—T-CF o EMEZmMRBEEEWartune « WRAERBTISHBETBINEITE
2013 . We were granted the “Facebook’s Excellent Game-Advertiser Award”
—T—=%F . HAPIEEE [ Facebook 875 7 B & 5 & K42 |
. Wartune was granted the “Facebook Staff Favorites Recognition”
. Wartune #7835 [ Facebook 8 T &= & 25} 1% |
. Launched Stallion Race on Facebook
. 7 Facebook# i Stallion Race
. We were granted the “Best Overseas Publisher Award” by 7Road
c BMERERNELRBERE [ REFINEREITRARRE]
2014 . Established Now To Play Game (Spain) as our liaison office in Europe
—T-mE «  BX3ZNow To Play Game (7t 7F ) {E AR P RUN BB 48 B F 2
2015 . Launched several successful casual shooting games, including a special edition featuring sports figures
and scenes licensed from Barcelona Football Club
—T-RF « EMBEERDHRBSEER - BEMADREES EHGEENEEAY SRR
2016 . Launched our cross-platform Wing SDK
—E—RF . BT 4 Wing SDK
. Entered into the VR market with our investment in a VR studio in China
. FRREFPA-—FRERERIELR  EEEREETS
2017 . Launched Lord of Star, a mobile game in cross-platform format on Gameroom
—E—+F . R Gameroom & i 5 ¥ & 18 R K F S Lord of Star

Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 2022) on December 15, 2017
B =Bt F+ - A+RBEBIMER LS (MR :2022)

BEREBHEEERAT
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MILESTONES (Continued)
2R ()

Year Events
F15 =
2018 . French, German, Polish and Turkish versions of Dragon Awaken were launched successively, fully

penetrating into the European market
—E-N\F +  Dragon AwakenH);EE - BB < FH - T EEMRARE LG 2EESEONTS

. Robot Tactics, the strategic mobile game featuring anime graphics, was launched on and featured by
Google Play in more than 100 countries and regions around the world

o BIETMEHE D CORTTH R RS F AL FE N0 15 Google PlayfE 2 B 18 100 18 B R M i & HOHE R

. Digital Hollywood was awarded the 6th Jincha Award for 2018 Best Mobile Publisher

c  PBREHREFNESRRI T \BKEBHEEETH]

. Be elected as the vice-president of the Gaming Industry Association Guangzhou Branch

o BEBRNTEETEHERISREM

. Dragon Awaken was awarded “2018 Zhuoer Award for Top 10 Most Popular Windows Games” in 2018
Globe Windows Game Conference

+  Dragon Awaken EGWGCE2HKFZEMB—_T— \FEES[ZZ— \FELRARMHABE TME TAEI TR

EFER
2019 . A number of HTML5 games launched for global distribution
—ZE-NF « EEERREITZHHTMLSEE
2020 . Completed the technical replacement of flash to HTML5 and clients.
T TF . TR flashBEHTMLS R & Pin ) ilTE 5

. Distribute HTML5-based products in multi-terminal, multi-platform, and multilingual to meet the game
needs of global users in different scenarios.
« BUZE - ZTARZESHHIMLSER  WHEEHRAFPETRBRMNERT R

2021 . Conduct several salons on the official game developer event of Gamescom

T4 +  TEGamescom®E S HEIREEEEFHE TEISLE

2022 . Established a business ecosystem with a core of HTML5 product matrix and GHG game platform
ZTCCF . B T AHTMLSE m B R GHG L T & R L RIS £ R R

@ Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2022



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

Revenue for FY2022 amounted to approximately US$11.1 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 13.3% from approximately
US$12.8 million recorded in FY2021.

Gross profit for FY2022 amounted to approximately US$4.7 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 13.0% from approximately
US$5.4 million recorded in FY2021.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for FY2022 amounted to
approximately US$5.9 million, representing an increase of approximately
73.5% from approximately US$3.4 million recorded in FY2021.

Non-IFRS adjusted loss attributable to owners of the Company" for
FY2022 amounted to approximately US$5.9 million, representing an
increase of approximately 78.8% from approximately US$3.3 million
recorded in FY2021.

U To supplement our consolidated financial statements which are presented
in accordance with IFRS, we also use non-IFRS adjusted (loss)/profit
attributable to owners of the Company as an additional financial measure
to evaluate our financial performance by eliminating the impact of items
that we do not consider indicative of the performance of our business. Our
non-IFRS adjusted (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company was
derived from our (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company for the

year excluding share-based compensation and listing expenses.

TECCHMRFENRALORMABEET B
TR -MRFEHESHNN12.8ASETL FEY
13.3% °

SECCHBFREMENORLTERET B
SEC-MBEESAHN5ATEET TR
13.0% °

TR _UBEEARRIERAREREIENR5.9
BEXT BT UHFEEESNN34EE
KITIEMAIT3.5% °

“R_HMBEEARBER ARG IFERM ISR
EREAEHEBEONRIABETL  WT - —
M FESSNA3.3AEETIEIMNAT8.8% -

M RHARPVR IR BRI B &R 208 01875
ik - HAAIIE R IERIBR B TS MRS AR RS T EE (S
18), S FERBEINNEBEITE - BILEBREMR

RUBPNEBRRITBEZEENREZFE
ARHE R PIOF S E4E - RPN ARREE AR

HIER RSB REERLHE (BR),EF IR
BRMOADAEEARME (BB SZFFES
H MAREARG SERMHR EHRX -

T —FFIR @

EREBHEEFRA




FINANCIAL SUMMARY
M=

For the year ended December 31,

BEt+t-ZA=+t—-HLEE

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—E-)N\F ZE-NF TZF T —F ZBZZ

Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 US$’000

F=1 Fxx FEr FEr FErx

Revenue @N 24,161 17,919 17,550 12,753 11,142

Gross profit E A 13,319 8,397 9,160 5,413 4,659

Profit/(Loss) before income tax  BRFATSHATR ),/ (E518) 2,008 (5,603) (3,439) (3,191) (5,766)

Income tax expense Frisfimx 1,071 159 200 177 98

Profit/(Loss) for the year FREF(BE) 937 (5,762) (3,639) (3,368) (5,864)
Profit/(Loss) attributable to: LA TFEMRER],(EE) :

Owners of the Company RAREEB A 937 (5,762) (3,639) (3,368) (5,864)

Non-Controlling interests TR - - - - -
Non-IFRS adjusted RNEHB A B IEBIER
profit/(loss) attributable B 75 R 5 S RIS A B

to owners of the Company F/(E18) 3,570 (4,184) (2,986) (3,301) (5,864)

As at December 31,
R+=A=+-—H

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

“E-N\F —E-NF —TTF —T-—F ZBIZF

Us$’000 UsS$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000

FEx FEx FET FErx FErx

Total assets WEE 63,731 59,336 56,272 52,001 44,297

Total liabilities reE 10,454 12,060 11,167 10,,807 9,999

Equity attributable to the RAEHEE AEIEER
owners of the company 53,277 47,276 45,105 41,194 34,298

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2022



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE|E

Chairman: Mr. LU Yuanfeng
T BRI

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board and the management of Digital Hollywood
Interactive Limited, | am pleased to present to you the annual report of
the Company and its subsidiaries for FY2022.

OVERVIEW OF THE GROUP

We are a leading global online game publisher for China-based game
developers, with fast-growing in-house development capabilities for
mobile games. Our mission is to bring engaging, differentiated gameplay
experience to users across languages, cultures and borders. We offer
compelling value proposition to game developers by helping them
penetrate the international markets with one-stop solutions, including
game redesign, optimization, marketing, distribution, monetization,
payment support and other user-related services.

BRI -

ANERREREDEEERARESTSINER
& MAM METREARFAREMNBART -Z=
“HMBFEENFR -

B

HMR—K AT ENEEMEDREHERENEZIRE
TERRBRETE  BAREEROFHRES AT
MEEe N - HAWED BT ARANIMA—HKA
BEEERTAREES  BXCRBERANARL - &
YA —uh BV BRIR T R BB E M RET - B1L - 17
3BT B MNPSOS REMEE B E AR
R BB BEETHLERETS  REGRE
BRE|NNEERE -

T —FFIR @
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (Continued)
ERERE ()

We began our business as an international web game publisher and
grew quickly to become the leading web game publisher. Besides, we
strategically expanded our business focuses to develop and launch
mobile games by enhancing in-house development capabilities to capture
the market opportunity from the fast-growing smartphone users, and our
mobile games achieved considerable success in a number of regional
markets.

In recent years, the Group has begun to deepen the business of HTML5
multiplayer games and established a self-developed HTML5 game
platform. As such, the Group has the technical capability to achieve the
data exchange between personal computers and mobile terminals, and
embarked to launch a variety of HTML5 games of different types.

RESULTS OF THE GROUP

As of December 31, 2022, we launched and operated 60 games including
web games, mobile games and HTML5 games over the world. 15 of
such games were self-developed games, accounting for 25% of the total
number of games launched and operated.

As of December 31, 2022, calculating based on IP addresses we
recorded, we had cumulative registered users of approximately 9,009
million located in over 200 countries and regions.

As of December 31, 2022, our average MAUs for online games were
more than 0.4 million.

In 2022, we launched 15 HTML5 games and took advantage of our
global distribution network in the HTML5 game markets. We will continue
deepen our involvement in the HTML5 game distribution markets and
cooperate closely with our outstanding business partners in research
and development, distribution and promotion in the global HTML5 field,
vigorously enlarge our market shares in emerging markets for HTML5
games and further strengthen our leading position in overseas distribution.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE GROUP

Revenue of the Group for FY2022 amounted to approximately
US$11.1 million, representing a decrease of approximately 13.3% from
approximately US$12.8 million for FY2021. The decline in revenue was
mainly due to the decrease in revenue from some legacy game products.
Despite market volatility, the Group actively responded to the impact
of market changes, and continued to improve the layout of the HTML5
games.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (Continued)
ERERE ()

PROSPECTS AND STRATEGIES OF THE
GROUP

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to promote its core business
strategy, enrich the HTMLS product matrix and improve the GHG game
platform. The HTML5 game business has been the main business
developed by the Group in recent years, and the number of products and
user scale have both achieved significant growth. The Group will continue
to put efforts into the deployment of HTMLS5, further release HTML5 game
products in different categories such as action, adventure, simulation and
role-playing, as well as expand the Group’s HTML5 product matrix. The
Group has already launched the GHG game platform and will continue
to improve its functions and services in the future. Besides, the Group
will strive to improve the service quality for the users, establish the brand
image of the GHG platform and actively promote the platform to potential
users to let more potential users discover and sign up for the platform, so
that they can enjoy their game experience on the platform.

The Group will continue to develop GHG SDK technology in order to meet
the needs of accessing HTML5 games and mobile games at the same
time, realize the interconnectivity of users on different platforms and meet
the needs of users in multiple dimensions. The GHG SDK technology will
enhance user stickiness to the Group’s products, and will also bring more
business growth momentum to the Group’s HTML5 product matrix and
GHG platform.

The Group will continue to maintain the mentality of win-win cooperation,
and strive to strengthen the cooperation with platforms in more regions
around the world in respect of game publication. The Group believes
that, through cooperating with regional platforms and making rational and
effective use of its advantage in resources, new opportunities will emerge
for the Group’s future business growth.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to thank
the management of the Group and all our staff for their hard work over
the past year. | would also like to extend my sincere gratitude to our
Shareholders, business partners and stakeholders for their continued
support.

LU Yuanfeng
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, March 30, 2023
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREAEEEEN

Below are the brief profiles of the current Directors and senior NTAAESERTESRaREEENBEEL -

management of the Group.

DIRECTORS 5=

The Board currently comprises six Directors, of which three are executive EECERAANRESEN  BE-RZ2ITESER
Directors and three are independent non-executive Directors. The —HEBUFNITES c TR EBREFHNER -

following table sets forth information regarding the Directors.

Name Age Position

%& Fie B

Date of Appointment as
Director

BEZERESHWAY

Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. LU Yuanfeng 43  Chairman, executive Director and
chief executive officer

BoE R U o = 43 FF BOESEKEFATE

Mr. HUANG Guozhan 43 Executive Director and chief
operating officer

=mEE KA 43 BITEERAREZT

Mr. HUANG Degiang 49  Executive Director and chief
technology officer

| L 49 BITEERARRMNE

Independent non-executive Directors

BYFHITES

Professor CHAU Chi Wai, Wilton 61 Independent non-executive Director

AEEHE 61 BUIFRITES

Mr. LI Yi Wen 52 Independent non-executive Director

FRE 52 BUFBRITESE

Mr. LU Qibo 56 Independent non-executive Director

& RUK 52 4 56 BUIFMITES
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

EEREAEEEER (H)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LU Yuanfeng, aged 43, is an executive Director, our chief executive
officer and the chairman of the Board. Mr. LU has overall responsibilities
for strategic planning and positioning and management of the Group. Mr.
LU founded our Group in June 2010 and was appointed as an executive
Director on November 24, 2014. He also serves as a director of Angame,
Hollywood BVI, Hollywood HK and Guangzhou You Lai.

Mr. LU has over 20 years of experience in the game industry.

Prior to founding our Group, Mr. LU founded Guangzhou Blue Power
Digital Technology Company Limited (“Guangzhou Blue Power”) which
is primarily engaged in software development in May 2001 and served as
its chief executive officer from 2004 to January 2011, mainly responsible
for development, publication and operation of various games. From June
2001 to February 2004, Mr. LU served in various positions up to the chief
editor of the game channel at 21cn.com operated by 21CN Corporation
Limited which is primarily engaged in the provision of information
technology services.

Mr. LU graduated from Guangdong University of Technology with a
bachelor degree in architectural engineering on June 30, 2001.

Mr. HUANG Guozhan, aged 43, is an executive Director and our chief
operating officer. Mr. HUANG oversees the strategic planning and
development for the game projects, and he is also responsible for the
operation and marketing of the Group. Mr. HUANG joined our Group in
June 2010 and was appointed as an executive Director on November 2,
2015. He also serves as a director of Now To Play Game, Beijing You
Tang, Guangzhou SYND and Beijing You Lai.

Mr. HUANG has over 15 years of experience in the game industry.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. HUANG served as a video game operation
and planning officer at Guangzhou Blue Power from January 2006 to
January 2011. From February 2003 to January 2006, he served as
a radio host at Guangzhou Sheng Se Chuan Bo Entertainment and
Production Co., Ltd. which is primarily engaged in installation services of
stage lighting and audio equipment and cultural communication, mainly
responsible for hosting and planning radio programs.

Mr. HUANG graduated from Guangdong University of Technology with
a bachelor degree in architectural engineering on June 30, 2002. Mr.
HUANG obtained a certificate as a host issued by the State Administration
of Radio, Film and Television on February 12, 2005.

HITES

FEJRIESEAE - 4358 0 RIITES  BRMITER
EEGTR MALTHEHAEAEENRMIEE -
FRMERE - BEAENR -E—TENAAITAE
TR ZE—NF+ AT MAEZE AR
TEE - I/ EEAngame » Hollywood BVI
Hollywood HK 2 & M 3 & 5 -

PSRN EETT B BB20F 55 -

REIZAEERA  BEER T -FRARIL
BEMNTEECSH HBBMEARLFA(BENECT
Hl TERFERERE) YR _—_TEMFE-F
——F-AERBEERENTE  TBREEREEER
MFE - BITREE RN_TT—FAE_ZF
ME—A - BEELEERELEEEMBAREEIR
A (EERERMERMRRE)ZEEN21cn.com
BEEZETABUEEE T REEIIBRARE -

EERZZZ-FRA=ZTHEERERIEKX
P EGEETRESELE -

B R

BEREE 4357 ARTTESRERELE -
HAELHBENEBEENORERELER T8
EAREEMEEREH BEAENR-_T—ZTFXA
MARER YR -_T—AF+—A_BEZEEA
HITES » HIEENow To Play Game * b 7%
2 BEMNEAFARIERERNES -

BAERBEITRERBI15FER -

RIMAREER  HBEER-_TERNF-—AZ-F
——F-ARBMNECSH HEBRTREEEEREK
ETE-RZZBZE=F_AZ TR F—H
REMNEEERREZEERAR (TBREES
BAREERBLRERBARULBA)ERES
IF O EIBREEIHRREERME -

BREENRCZZ_FRA=THEHREERBERIEX
B EEEETRBLEN - @XREN_FTTRF
AT AESHAEREREYERERBELHME

+ T
Tfui% °

BEREBHEEERAT

ZEZFFR




PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

EEREAEEEER (#)

Mr. HUANG Degqiang, aged 49, is an executive Director and our chief
technology officer. Mr. HUANG is responsible for developing information
technology and operation and maintenance of the Company. Mr. HUANG
joined our Group in June 2010 and was appointed as an executive
Director and the chief technology officer on June 28, 2017.

Mr. HUANG has over 15 years of experience in the game industry.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. HUANG served as the manager of the
technology department of Guangzhou Blue Power from October 2004 to
January 2011.

Mr. HUANG graduated from Guangdong Financial and Trade Cadre
Academy with a college degree in financial management in July 1997.
He was enrolled in Aptech Certified Computer Professional, an IT career
program taught by Aptech Beida Jade Bird, from December 2001 to June
2003. Mr. HUANG obtained a national certificate as an intermediate
programmer and a national certificate as a software engineer in
December 2002 and June 2003, respectively, both issued by the Ministry
of Labor and Social Security of the PRC (now known as the Ministry of
Human Resources and Social Security of the PRC). In August 2003, he
was also certified as a Sun Certified Programmer by Sun Microsystems,
Inc.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

EEREAEEEER (H)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Professor CHAU Chi Wai, Wilton, aged 61, is an independent
non-executive director of the Company.

Professor CHAU has over 35 years of experience in venture development
and investment. Professor CHAU has led a number of projects in the
Asia-Pacific region and has extensive experience in investment on
technology companies. He has served in Temasek, a venture capital fund
in Singapore, mainly responsible for investment business in the North
Asia Region and concurrently served as vice chairman or director for a
number of technology companies; and has also served as independent
director and member of audit committee of various state-owned
enterprises in China. Currently he is the founding chairman of the Pan-
Asia Venture Development Platform (PAVD) and a vice chairman of the
Hong Kong Biotechnology Organization (HKBio). In addition, he is on the
board of several technology ventures and listed companies, including
China Three Gorges International Limited, where he is acting as an
independent director and Meilleure Health International Industry Group
Limited (2327.HK), a health care medical operator, where he is acting as
an independent director and the chairman of the audit committee.

In the academic area, Professor CHAU is a Professor of Practice in
Entrepreneurship in the Business School, the Chinese University of
Hong Kong (CUHK), and an Adjunct Professor in the Shenzhen Finance
Institute, developing and teaching MBM, MBA, and EMBA courses
covering topics of new venture creation, entrepreneurship, venture capital
and private equity and conducting study trips to Singapore, Malaysia and
Taiwan. Under his leadership, PAVD also cooperates with postgraduate
programs of several universities, including the Chinese University of
Hong Kong (Shenzhen), the Singapore Management University and
the National Taiwan University of Science and Technology, to provide
entrepreneurship training and help existing technology ventures or SMEs
develop their own commercialization program and fundraising strategy in
Asia. Professor CHAU was also an Adjunct Professor in the Department
of Strategy and Policy at the Business School of the National University
of Singapore, teaching MBA courses covering topics of technology
innovation and venture capital.

Professor CHAU holds a bachelor’s degree in applied mathematics,
a bachelor’'s degree in law and a master’s and doctorate degree in
business administration. He is also a member the Chartered Association
of Certified Accountants.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
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Mr. LI Yi Wen, aged 52, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr. LI
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on November
24, 2017.

Mr. LI has over 15 years of experience in the information technology
industry.

Mr. LI has served as a director of Aleo BME, Inc. which is primarily
engaged in biotechnology research and development since January
2016. He served as a director of Ningbo Lehui International Engineering
Equipment Co., Ltd. which is primarily engaged in development,
manufacturing of industrial equipment from March 2016 to November
2018. From January 2011 to October 2013, he also served as a
director, chief financial supervisor and secretary of the board at Guiyang
Longmaster Information & Technology Co., Ltd., a company listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300288) which is primarily
engaged in wireless games and Internet medical service. He served as
the general manager of Sina Net Technology (China) Co., Ltd. which is
primarily engaged in wireless games and deputy manager of Guangzhou
Xunlong Technology Co., Ltd. which is primarily engaged in wireless
games from October 2002 to February 2004 and June 2001 to October

2002, respectively.

Mr. LU Qibo, aged 56, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr. LU
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on October 3,
2019.

Mr. LU has over 24 years of experience in media and internet industry.

Mr. LU served as the chief executive officer of Guangdong Senlong Group
from May 2018 to December 2018. From 2014 to 2017, Mr. LU worked
as the president of KUFM of Guangzhou Kugou Computer Technology
Co., Ltd.,
is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (stock code: TME). Tencent

a subsidiary of Tencent Music Entertainment Group, which

Music Entertainment Group is a subsidiary of Tencent Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
700). Mr. LU founded Shengse Chuanbo Inc. in 1997 and served as its
chief executive officer and an executive director from 1997 to 2010. Mr.
LU served as an anchorman in Guangdong People’s Radio Station from
1989 to 1995.

Mr. LU completed his junior college study at South China Normal
University in July 1989.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LU Yuanfeng, see the above “Executive Directors” for details.
Mr. HUANG Guozhan, see the above “Executive Directors” for details.
Mr. HUANG Degiang, see the above “Executive Directors” for details.

Mr. LIU Jiahua, aged 42, joined our Group as our chief financial officer
on March 21, 2014. He is primarily responsible for the investment, the
legal affairs and the overall management of the finance of our Group. He
has served as the chief financial officer since March 2014.

Mr. LIU has over 19 years of experience in the field of financial
management.

Mr. LIU served as the finance controller at Moonbasa E-commerce Group
which is primarily engaged in the online sales of women apparels from
September 2010 to March 2014. From April 2009 to August 2010, he
served as a financial director at China Nepstar Chain Drugstore Ltd. which
is primarily engaged in pharmaceutical retail, a company previously listed
on the New York Stock Exchange (stock code: NPD). From November
2004 to February 2009, Mr. LIU served in PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong
Tian LLP.

Mr. LIU graduated from Sun Yat-sen University with a bachelor degree in
international finance on June 24, 2003.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
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Mr. SHI Lijia, aged 39, joined our Group as a vice president on August
17, 2015. He is primarily responsible for the overall management of the
research and development of the Group.

Mr. SHI has over 12 years of experience in the game industry.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. SHI served as the game producer in certain
medium and large companies which are researching and developing
game products from March 2010 to April 2015, mainly responsible for
game development and general administration.

Mr. SHI graduated from Lanzhou University with a bachelor degree in
information and computing sciences in 2007.

Mr. CHEN Yangzhao, aged 45, was appointed as our vice president on
July 1, 2015. He is primarily responsible for the management of Platform
Research and Development System and Operations Platform System of
our Group.

Mr. CHEN has over 20 years of experience in technology and software
engineering of game industry.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. CHEN served as the technology manager
of Guangzhou Tianya Internet Technology Co., Ltd. which is primarily
engaged in software development from January 2009 to March 2010. He
served from a platform development team member to a senior developer
at Beijing Bokee Net Information Technology Co., Ltd. which is primarily
engaged in technology service from October 2005 to November 2008. He
served as the senior software engineer at Guangzhou Ruixun Computer
Technology Co.,
manufacture of computers’ hardware and software from September

Ltd. which is primarily engaged in development and

2002. He briefly served as a software engineer at Asiainfo Technologies
(China) Inc.,
primarily engaged in development of network system from April 2002. Mr.
CHEN started his career in July 2001 with Guangdong Xiantong Digital
Technology Co., Ltd. as a software engineer.

a Nasdag-listed company (stock code: ASIA) which is

Mr. CHEN graduated from South China University of Technology with a
bachelor degree in computer science and technology on July 1, 2001.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERBNWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FUTURE
PROSPECTS

In 2022, with market competition intensified in the business environment
both domestically and abroad, coupled with the increased fluctuation
in the international market, the global economic situation was still not
optimistic. Facing a complex and ever-changing market environment, the
Group comprehensively considered its business development process
and continued to facilitate the Group’s operational strategic planning.

In 2022, the Group established its business ecosystem centered on
the HTML5 product matrix and the GHG game platform and continued
to promote its platform construction. The Group’s GHG game platform
(gamehollywood.com) was officially launched during the year, with its
functions continuously improved. The launch of the GHG platform has
brought various benefits to the development of the Group. On one
hand, the utilization of the GHG game platform has met the preference
of different game users and enhanced user stickiness to the platform.
On the other hand, the technical standardization of game platforms has
enabled our game projects to be launched online in a more efficient way
and gradually enriched the number of games on the platform. In 2022, the
Group released 10 HTML5 games, including the 3D war strategy game
Game of Thrones, the action game League of Angels Pact and the role-
playing strategy game Evil Awakening 2: Erebus etc.

In the second half of the year, the Group’s GHG game platform
established a platform currency system of G coins, through which
the platform can be connected to payment channels such as PayPal,
Safecharge and Boacompra, fully satisfying the payment needs of all
users on the platform around the world. After obtaining the platform
currency, users can purchase in-game virtual items or services of various
games on the platform, making it easier for users to experience fun in
different games.

During the year, the Group published the Japanese version of its self-
developed game Eternal Fury, entering the Japanese market where
the two-dimensional culture is popular. In addition, the Group actively
enriched the number of games in mainstream European languages
such as German, French and Polish, so as to further penetrate into the
European market. The Group has also further expanded its business
scale in the market of Latin American languages such as Spanish and
Portuguese through the promotion of games and efficient operation and
management.
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In 2022, the Group actively promoted the rebranding and development of
its classic flagship games to adapt to changes in the internet technology.
By utilizing the Group’s technological advantages and the conversion of
HTML5 development engines in a variety of web game products carried
out by our R&D team, the Group has not only embraced the changes of
internet technology to continue the life cycle of classic games, but also
continuously catered to users’ needs for internet entertainment.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to promote its business strategy,
enrich the HTML5 product matrix and improve the GHG game platform.
The HTML5 game business has been the main business developed by
the Group in recent years, and the number of products and user scale
have both achieved significant growth. The Group will continue to put
efforts into the deployment of HTML5 games, further launch HTML5 game
products in different categories such as action, adventure, simulation
and role-playing, as well as expand the Group’s HTML5 product matrix.
Meanwhile, the Group will continue to improve the functions and services
of the GHG platform, enhance the service quality for the users and
establish the brand image of the platform. The Group will also actively
promote the platform to potential users in order to develop its user base,
so that more potential users will enter the platform and sign up for the
service to enjoy their game experience.

The Group will continue to develop GHG SDK technology in order to
meet the needs of accessing HTML5 games and mobile games, realize
the interconnectivity of users on different platforms and meet the needs
of users in multiple dimensions. The GHG SDK technology will enhance
user stickiness to the Group’s products, and will also bring more business
growth momentum to the Group’s HTML5 product matrix and the GHG
platform.

The Group will continue to maintain the mentality of win-win cooperation,
and strive to strengthen the cooperation with platforms in more regions
around the world in respect of game publication. The Group believes
that, through cooperating with regional platforms and making rational and
effective use of its advantage in resources, new opportunities will emerge
for the Group’s future business growth.
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INDUSTRY OUTLOOK AND GROUP
STRATEGIES

Please refer to the section headed “Chairman’s Statement — Prospects
and strategies of the Group” in this annual report for industry outlook and
Group strategies.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our operations and prospects and future financial results involve, and
could be materially and adversely affected by, certain risks. The following
highlights the principal risks exposed to the Group and is not meant to be
exhaustive:

A small number of games have contributed a substantial majority of
our revenue.

We work with game distribution platforms to distribute our games,
and our business may be materially and adversely affected if
they breach their contractual obligations, or if we fail to maintain
relationships with a sufficient number of platforms, or if the platforms
lose popularity among Internet users.

Our growth prospects will suffer if we are unable to successfully
implement our game development strategies on mobile and HTML5
games.

Our businesses rely on our data analysis capabilities, any impact on
which would materially and adversely affect our ability to formulate
appropriate business strategies.

Our steady growth during the past years may not be indicative of our
future growth, and our limited operating history makes it difficult to
evaluate our growth prospects and future financial results.

If we fail to successfully execute our growth strategies, including
launching games of new genres, themes or operating formats and
investing in new technologies, our future results of operations and
growth prospects may be materially and adversely affected.

Protecting user and customer data is our top priority, and we are
fully aware that any loss or leakage of such information could have
a significant negative impact on the affected users and customers
and our reputation. This could in turn lead to potential legal actions
against us.
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. The Internet and technology industry is still evolving yet getting more
mature. Regulatory authorities in different jurisdictions have been,
in an attempt to keep up with such evolution, heightening respective
regulatory requirements. As we continuously expand our businesses
in the PRC and overseas to more countries and jurisdictions, it is
required to keep up and comply with the relevant applicable laws
and regulations in different countries and jurisdictions, including but
not limited to laws relating to data protection, Internet information
and cyber security, IP, gaming, Internet finance, etc. In addition,
development of various industries around the world may be impacted
by regulatory uncertainties.

To mitigate the identified risks, the Company improves its management
capability and adaptability and further ensures the realisation of the
business objectives and sustainable growth. We aim at implementing the
following strategies to further capture players and enhance profitability of
our games:

. Our growth also depends on our ability to continuously launch new
games that attract and retain a significant number of users, in order
to grow our revenue and maintain our competitive position.

. We strengthen our relationships with major international game
publishing and distribution partners to expand the reach of our
games to new countries and regions.

. We further strengthen and expand our mobile and HTML5 games
portfolio by developing additional high-quality mobile and HTML5
games, and offer more specific value-adding features to enrich
users’ game experience on devices.

. Our team members can utilise various data analysis engines to
collect and store all user behavior data in a timely manner.

. We manage our expanding business, continue to offer new
games and enhance our existing games, maintain and expand our
collaboration with game distribution platforms, anticipate and adapt
to evolving user interests, industry trends and market conditions.

. We have expanded our product offerings to attract a
demographically diverse user community and will continue to
identify new genres with high monetization potential from game
developers, meanwhile we actively enhance our in-house research
and development capabilities.
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. We are obliged to protect user and customer data, and as such,
we strive to provide the highest level of protection on such
information and data. In this regard, we have formulated and
kept optimising control measures to protect such information
and data. Information security is ensured through effective
management systems, encryption, access restrictions and controls,
and continuously improving the business continuity and disaster
recovery management. In addition, we arrange regular reviews by
independent specialists over our data protection practices; and
provides training for staff to enhance their awareness of information
security.

. We have invested enormous compliance resources and efforts to
ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulatory requirements.
This includes setting up special department and specialist team,
as well as engaging external professional consultants to work
closely with management to track on changes in relevant laws and
regulations; and take appropriate responding actions or measures to
ensure us is in compliance with such applicable laws and regulations
in the PRC and overseas. In addition, we also engage in active
dialogue with relevant regulatory authorities, and exchange view and
information with relevant regulatory authorities on the market trends
and the development of Internet and technology industry.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Overview

For FY2022, loss attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately US$5.9 million, representing an increase of approximately
US$2.5 million or 73.5% from approximately US$3.4 million for FY2021.
Non-IFRS adjusted loss attributable to owners of the Company amounted
to approximately US$5.9 million for FY2022, representing an increase of
approximately US$2.6 million or 78.8% from approximately US$3.3 million
for FY2021.

Revenue

For FY2022, revenue of the Group amounted to approximately US$11.1
million, representing a decrease of approximately US$1.7 million or
13.3% from approximately US$12.8 million for FY2021. The decline in
revenue was mainly due to the decrease in revenue from some legacy
game products. Despite market volatility, the Group actively responded to
the impact of market changes, and continued to improve the layout of the
HTML5 games.
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Cost of Revenue and Gross Profit Margin

For FY2022, cost of revenue of the Group amounted to approximately
US$6.5 million, representing a decrease of approximately US$0.8 million
or 11.0% as compared with approximately US$7.3 million for FY2021. The
gross profit margin of the Group slightly decreased from approximately
42.4% for FY2021 to approximately 41.8% for FY2022.

Other Gains/(Losses), Net

For FY2022, other gains of the Group amounted to approximately
US$0.55 million, as compared with other losses of the Group amounted to
approximately US$0.16 million for FY2021. The other gains of the Group
for FY2022 primarily consisted of (i) the net exchange gains resulting
from exchange rate fluctuations in the current year; and (ii) government
grants received in the current year.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

For FY2022, selling and marketing expenses of the Group amounted to
approximately US$3.2 million, representing a increase of approximately
US$0.1 million or 3.2% from approximately US$3.1 million for FY2021,
primarily due to the Group’s increased promotion for newly launched
games.

Administrative Expenses

For FY2022, administrative expenses of the Group amounted to
approximately US$5.1 million, representing an increase of approximately
US$2.1 million or 70.0% from approximately US$3.0 million for FY2021.
The increase was mainly due to the provision for impairment of
prepayments.

Research and Development Expenses

For FY2022,
amounted to approximately US$2.1 million, representing an increase of
approximately US$0.2 million or 10.5% from approximately US$1.9 million
for FY2021, primarily due to increase in technical development of HTML5
area by the Group.

research and development expenses of the Group

Net Impairment Losses on Financial Assets

For FY2022, net impairment losses on financial assets of the Group
amounted to approximately US$0.2 million, as compared to approximately
US$0.5 million for FY2021.
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Income Tax Expense

For FY2022, income tax expense of the Group amounted to approximately
US$0.1 million, as compared to approximately US$0.2 million for FY2021.

Loss Attributable to Owners of the Company

As a result of the above, loss attributable to owners of the Company
increased by approximately US$2.5 million or 73.5% from approximately
US$3.4 million for FY2021 to approximately US$5.9 million for FY2022.

Non-IFRS Adjusted Loss Attributable to Owners
of the Company

To supplement this annual results announcement which is presented in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (the
“IFRS”), we also use unaudited non-IFRS adjusted loss attributable to
owners of the Company as an additional financial measure to evaluate
our financial performance by eliminating the impact of items that we do
not consider indicative of the performance of our business.

For FY2022, non-IFRS adjusted loss attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to approximately US$5.9 million, representing an
increase of approximately US$2.6 million or 78.8% from approximately
US$3.3 million in FY2021. Our non-IFRS adjusted loss attributable to
owners of the Company in FY2022 and FY2021 was calculated according
to the loss attributable to the owners of the Company for the respective
years, excluding share-based compensation of nil in FY2022 and
approximately US$0.07 million in FY2021.

Liquidity, Treasury Policy and Source of Funding
and Borrowing

As at December 31, 2022, the Group’s total bank balances, cash
and short-term deposits amounted to approximately US$25.0 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 23.5% as compared with
approximately US$32.7 million as at December 31, 2021. The decrease
in total bank balances, cash and short-term deposits during the year was
primarily resulted from the decrease in the net cash flow generated from
operating activities.
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As at December 31, 2022, current assets of the Group amounted to
approximately US$36.5 million, including bank balances, cash and
short-term deposits of approximately US$25.0 million and other current
assets of approximately US$11.5 million. Current liabilities of the Group
amounted to approximately US$9.1 million, including trade payables
and contract liabilities of approximately US$3.0 million and other current
liabilities of approximately US$6.1 million. As at December 31, 2022, the
current ratio (the current assets divided by current liabilities) of the Group
was 4.0, as compared with 4.8 as at December 31, 2021. The Group
adopts a prudent treasury management policy to ensure that our Group
maintains a healthy financial position.

Gearing ratio is calculated on the basis of total borrowings (net of cash
and cash equivalents) over the Group’s total equity. The Group does not
have any bank borrowings and other debt financing obligations (excluding
lease liabilities) as at December 31, 2022 and the gearing ratio is nil (as
at December 31, 2021: nil). The Group intends to finance the expansion,
investments and business operations with internal resources.

Significant Investments

On January 20, 2022, Guangzhou You Lai Information Technology
Company Limited* (BN #E5{E ERHX AR 2 F]) (an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) (“Guangzhou You Lai”) entered into
an investment cooperation agreement dated January 20, 2022 with
Guangzhou Red Circle Information Technology Company Limited* (/&
METRB{EBRHEER A E]) (“JV Partner’), pursuant to which Guangzhou
You Lai and the JV Partner have agreed to establish Guangzhou Duolai
Technology Investment Limited* (FE/MZHEEFIEEBRAA) in the
PRC for an investment project. Details of the investment cooperation
agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder are set out
in the announcement of the Company dated January 20, 2022 and the
circular of the Company dated March 16, 2022.

As at December 31, 2022, the Group held 30% of equity interest of
the Project Company with a fair value of USD26,367. During the year
ended December 31, 2022, the Group prepaid USD3,622,500 for further
investment in the Project Company, representing approximately 8.2%
of the total asset of the Group as at December 31, 2022. The Project
Company is principally engaged in the provision of rental services and
information technology consulting services. Based on the latest unaudited
financial statements of the Project Company for the year ended December
31, 2022, it recorded a loss of approximately RMBO0.4 million. No dividend
income was received from the Project Company for the year ended
December 31, 2022. The Group considers that the Project Company
represents an excellent investment opportunity to the Group, through
which the Group will be able to hold an investment interest in the Project
Company which will hold the target properties upon successful bidding.
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Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any material
investments during FY2022.

Material Acquisitions

The Group did not have any material acquisitions of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during FY2022.

Material Disposals

The Group did not have any material disposals of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures during FY2022.

Pledge of Assets

As at December 31, 2022, none of the Group’s assets was pledged (as at
December 31, 2021: nil).

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at December 31, 2022
(as at December 31, 2021: nil).

Foreign Exchange Exposure

As at December 31, 2022, the Group mainly operated in the global market
and majority of its transactions were settled in United States Dollars (the
“USD”), being the functional currency of the group entities to which the
transactions relate. We currently do not hedge transactions undertaken in
foreign currencies but manage our exposure through constant monitoring
to limit as much as possible the amount of our foreign currencies
exposures. Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a
currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. The Group operates
internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect to Renminbi (“‘RMB”),
Euro (“‘EUR”) and Hong Kong dollar (“HKD”). As at December 31, 2022,
the Group did not have significant foreign currency exposure from its
operations.

Events Occurred Since The End of FY2022

The Group did not have any significant events after December 31, 2022
and up to the date of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SREARE

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high standards
of corporate governance by focusing on principles of integrity,
accountability, transparency, independence, responsibility and fairness.
The Company has developed and implemented sound corporate
governance policies and measures, and the Board is responsible for
performing such corporate governance duties. The Board continues to
review and monitor the corporate governance of the Company, as well as
various internal policies and procedures, including but not limited to those
applicable to the relevant employees and Directors, with reference to the
CG Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules and other applicable
legal and regulatory requirements so as to maintain a high standard of
corporate governance of the Company.

During FY2022, the Company has complied with the applicable code
provisions of the Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
except for the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG
Code as disclosed below.

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code, the roles
of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. However, the Company does not
separate the roles of chairman and chief executive officer and Mr. LU
Yuanfeng currently performs both roles. With extensive experience in the
internet industry, Mr. LU Yuanfeng is responsible for the overall strategic
planning and general management of the Group and is instrumental to
the Company’s growth and business expansion since its establishment
on November 24, 2014. The Board considers that vesting the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer in the same person is beneficial to
the management of the Group. The balance of power and authority is
ensured by the operation of the senior management and the Board, which
comprises experienced individuals. The Board currently comprises three
executive Directors (including Mr. LU Yuanfeng), and three independent
non-executive Directors and therefore has a fairly strong independence
element in its composition.

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2022

RAFEBEINFIE  HE &R B FE
RAFRA - AR ERMERFSKENLEE

o ARABHIEREITRIFHDEE AR MIE
Mo THESSEERNTZSOEETARE -&EF

z%imﬁWTﬁ+E%§W¢¥§ﬁ#%M&
HM@ER A REERE BRI REEAR
ﬂ%ﬁ%amﬁﬁu&yEW%ﬁ RRiER (B
BRRRERRNEHERENESNZERELE
FF) - AR AR R 2 RENBEER ©

RZZZZBHEE - ARRBES ETEAN
+@%%h#%%ﬂ%#%%¥ T ER
BEEERTANEXE ZED B C.2. KRR I ©

RIBGEEATRAKRINE_FHDEC.2.1G /&
BITRAEMNACESRS - WIHEHR— AR
£ o R RRARWERS EEEEERITE A
@ - R R EERIE LR EEZM AR - FER
BEETDMBTERALYEER  BEAEEE
MBI REEER  BAAARR_E—NE
F+—AZTMBRTARERA RN R R EBER
BHRZ -EFERA BERRERATENA
@F%W—A%Eﬁﬂm$%gm§@o%ﬁﬁﬁ
BREFS (RALERYEMNERNATAR) R EER
%%ﬁﬁ%@%ﬁ@ é%@ﬁ%&z%ﬂﬁ%%
(BEERELE) R =2BIUERNTEEENX - F
S HAAR BB ER R B TR -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EERERHRE (F)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for leadership and the internal control of the
Company and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising its affairs and assumes the
ultimate responsibility for preparing the accounts. The Board has general
powers for the management and operation of the Company’s business.
The day-to-day operations and management are delegated by the Board
to the management of the Company, who implements the strategy and
direction as determined by the Board.

The Board currently consists of six Directors, namely Mr. LU Yuanfeng
(chairman and chief executive officer), Mr. HUANG Guozhan and Mr.
HUANG Deqgiang as executive Directors, and Professor CHAU Chi Wai,
Wilton, Mr. LI Yi Wen and Mr. LU Qibo as independent non-executive
Directors. None of the Directors has a relationship (including financial,
business, family or material/relevant relationship) with each other.
The Board has a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company.

The biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 19 to 22 of this
annual report.

Code provision B.2.2 of Part 2 of the CG Code states that every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Exg

ERESREARANRERAMEE  MEEAE
B XS BBEARRKRE  UHFASESBES
REBARRAEHENHAEGHEEAERLR
£ MEERRRINKY - EREHEAEEREE
ARREBO—REN -EFSHATKLERER
EETALREEERE  ERERNTEFSE
TE B ERE K2 JT £t

EEHATAANBESAN  IRTESERES
E(EFEREFENTE) BEETERERBREE
B FRTERASERE  FRXEERE
Romses: - EF 2 HMERR(BEVE  B%E -
RELIERHEBR) EESAGBRARER
Ff 5 B 2 TRE S A B

EXERSRAFRFE19E22E -

®EERTANTRGXE — &5 %HB.2.21%7
B S2EF (BRAEEEHNERT)ERAR
Fr20E8=F-"R-

BEREBHEEERAT

T —FFIR @




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EERERHE (H)

In accordance with the Articles, all the Directors are subject to retirement
by rotation at an annual general meeting of the Company at least once
every three years. Any new Director appointed by the Board (i) to fill a
casual vacancy in the Board shall hold office only until the first general
meeting of the Company following his appointment and shall be subject to
re-election at such meeting; and (ii) as an addition to the Board shall hold
office until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company and the Company has issued letters of appointment to
each of the independent non-executive Directors. Each of the executive
Directors is appointed for a term of one to three years and is subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Each of the
independent non-executive Directors is appointed for a term of one to
three years, subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years. The terms of the service contracts and the letters of appointment
may be renewed in accordance with the Articles, the Listing Rules and
other applicable laws.

The aggregate remuneration (including fees, salaries, contributions to
pension schemes, share-based compensation expenses, discretionary
bonuses, housing and other allowances and other benefits in kind)
payable to the Directors for FY2022 was approximately USDO0.2 million.

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference to salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of
the Directors and performance of the Group. Details of the remuneration
of the Directors and senior management for FY2022 are set out in Note
13 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EERERHRE (F)

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
legal proceedings against the Directors.

The Board has agreed, as stipulated in code provision C.5.6 of Part
2 of the CG Code, on the procedure agreed to enable Directors,
upon reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

The Company has complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of independent non-executive Directors representing
at least one-third of the Board.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules, and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

The Directors have access to the services of the company secretary to
ensure that the Board procedures are followed. The company secretary
of the Company is Mr. WONG Wai Chiu. Mr. WONG Wai Chiu is the
associate director of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong)
Limited and he has the necessary qualifications and experience as
required under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules. In compliance with Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. WONG Wai Chiu has undertaken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year ended
December 31, 2022. During FY2022, the main contact person of Mr.
WONG Wai Chiu in the Company is Mr. LU Yuanfeng.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EERERHE (H)

During FY2022, the following Directors have participated in continuous RIZZZBHEE  TIHESZEREEATR
professional development by attending in-house briefing or reading BHANIERABE R RS ESESELRRE - AU
materials on the following topics to develop and refresh their knowledge FEEFE ISR EE & -
and skills:
Event/Reading
Materials motes
SEE
B AT M
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. LU Yuanfeng [ R I St 1,2
Mr. HUANG Guozhan BEEELA 1,2
Mr. HUANG Degiang EHEREE 1,2
Independent non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Professor CHAU Chi Wai, Wilton BEEHE 1,2
Mr. LI Yi Wen FERXELE
Mr. LU Qibo B RUK %4 1
Notes: B 5E
1. Reading materials relevant to corporate governance and regulations. 1. HEEBMCEERREROME -
2. Attending training session(s) relevant to corporate governance and 2. HEE B EE R RERNIE -
regulations.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EERERHRE (F)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties in
accordance with A.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code.

The duties of the Board in respect of the corporate governance functions
include:

(i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(ii) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(iii) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;
and

(v) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

In 2022 and up to the date of this report, the Board has performed the
corporate governance duties in accordance with its terms of reference.

MECHANISMS TO ENSURE INDEPENDENT
VIEWS AND INPUTS ARE AVAILABLE TO
THE BOARD

Each Director is entitled to have access to further information and
documents on matters discussed at Board meetings. As part of a
mechanism to ensure that independent views and inputs are available
to Directors, a written procedure has been established since August
2022 which will be reviewed annually to enable each Director to seek
external independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances
at the expense of the Company. The Board shall resolve to provide
independent advice to Directors in order to assist them in discharging
their responsibilities to the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EERERHE (H)

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy which aims to
build and maintain a Board with a diversity of Directors, in terms of
skills, professional experience, educational background, knowledge,
expertise, culture, independence, age and gender. A truly diverse Board
will include and make good use of differences in the skills, regional and
industry experience, cultural and educational background, race, gender
and other qualities of Directors. These differences will be taken into
account in determining the optimum composition of the Board. All Board
appointments will be based on merit while taking into account diversity
(including gender diversity).

The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board, but in identifying and selecting
such candidates to serve as a director of the Company, the Nomination
Committee would consider the above criteria necessary to complement
the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate,
before making recommendations to the Board.

The Board will take opportunities to increase the ratio of female members
over time when selecting and making recommendations on eligible
candidates for Board appointments. The Board will ensure that an
appropriate balance of gender diversity is achieved with reference to
stakeholders’ expectations and international and local recommended best
practices, with the ultimate goal of bringing the Board to gender equality.

The Company seeks diversity of members from multiple perspectives in
designing the composition of the Board, including gender, cultural and
education background, as well as professional experience. As at the
date of this annual report, the Board consists of six Directors. Directors
are with an extensive background in fields such as finance, accounting,
audit, economics and management, while some of them have multiple
professional backgrounds.

The Board is fully aware that diversity is now not considered to be
achieved through a single gender board. The Board plans to appoint
at least one female director by December 31, 2024. The Board plans
to implement recruitment and promotion policies which encourage the
sufficient presence of women in top managerial positions. The Board will
also review the board diversity policy on an annual basis.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EERERHRE (F)

As at December 31, 2022, male employees accounted for 64% and
female employees accounted for 36% of all employees (including
senior management) of the Group. To achieve gender diversity, we are
committed to creating gender-neutral positions in our working environment
to become a gender-balanced company. The gender balance scheme
includes hiring more female based on the qualifications, experience and
skills required for those positions. In addition, we may face the issue of
whether the supply of personnel in the human resources market meets
the academic qualifications, experience and skills requirements of the
positions within the Group. Despite these challenges, we are still moving
towards gender balance.

BOARD MEETING

The Company adopts a practice to convene Board meetings regularly
which is at least four meetings per year and roughly on a quarterly basis.
A notice of a regular Board meeting shall be delivered to all the Directors
at least 14 days in advance with the matters to be discussed specified in
agenda of the meeting. For other Board and Board Committees meetings,
reasonable notice is generally served. Agendas or relevant documents
of the Board or Board Committees meetings shall be despatched to the
Directors or members of the Board Committees at least 3 days prior to
the convening of the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time
to review the relevant documents and be adequately prepared for the
meetings. When Directors or Board committee members are unable to
attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and
given an opportunity to make their views known to the chairman prior
to the meeting. The minutes are kept by the company secretary of the
Company and the copies are circulated to all Directors for reference and
record purpose.

The minutes of the meetings of the Board and the Board Committees
thoroughly recorded all matters under consideration and decisions made
by consensus including any problems raised by the Directors. Draft
minutes of each Board meeting and the Board Committees meeting are
sent to the Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the date
on which the meeting is held. Directors have a right to review the minutes
of the Board meetings and the Board Committees meetings.

According to code provision C.5.1 of Part 2 of the Code, board meetings
should be held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly
intervals with active participation of the majority of the Directors, either in
person or through electronic means of communication.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EERERHE (H)

Five Board meetings and the AGM for 2022 were held during FY2022, RARIR - ZE__HMHRFENCRITAAESE
a&&_ifffﬁﬁxﬁﬂiﬁﬁw/\&ﬁ/\_giiiz
R=+HBTTRESIAS ([RREBIXE])
BEEHRFEREIIMNT

and an extraordinary general meeting of the Company was held on March
31, 2022 (the “EGM”). The Directors’ attendance is listed below:

Attendance/
Number of meetings
eligible to attend

Y EHEEEIE
Board meeting AGM for 2022
—E-C EGM
EEgER RRBFERE BRREFAIARE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. LU Yuanfeng BE R I& 52 A 5/5 11 11
Mr. HUANG Guozhan EEESTE 5/5 11 1/1
Mr. HUANG Degiang EHERAE 5/5 11 1/1
Independent non-executive
Directors BAFHITES
Professor CHAU Chi Wai,
Wilton BN EE e 2/5 1/1 1/1
Mr. LI Yi Wen TR E 2/5 11 11
Mr. LU Qibo & RUE S 2/5 11 11
BOARD COMMITTEES E?éﬁ%
The Company has three Board Committees, namely the Audit Committee, ZIN/N “HEFEES

the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Each of the

=8
KEE&#MKE%’"%1§$ £ ¥
HEEF ZEEZEGNBBEHENANA T RER
Fri@ut Al &5 5] -

Board Committees operates under its terms of reference. The terms of
reference of the Board Committees are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EERERHRE (F)

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. The Company has also amended the terms of reference
of the Audit Committee reflecting the changes to the Code in respect
of the Company’s risk management and internal control systems, which
became effective on November 24, 2017. The Company further amended
the terms of reference of the Audit Committee on November 23, 2018 and
December 30, 2022. The Audit Committee consists of three members,
namely Professor CHAU Chi Wai, Wilton, Mr. LI Yi Wen and Mr. LU
Qibo, all of whom are independent non-executive Directors. Professor
CHAU Chi Wai, Wilton has been appointed as the chairman of the Audit
Committee. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise, and provide an independent view of the effectiveness of the
financial reporting process, the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, oversee the audit process and perform other duties
and responsibilities as assigned by the Board.

Two meetings of the Audit Committee were held during FY2022. The
attendance of the committee members is listed below:

BEREES

RARE R BT HR RIS 8%+ P ATz <P RIRL S B8
BEEE WiV EABEEHE - AQRSEEH
EZZECWMERE  RRETAFREEARAR
WEBREERAI G EFSENER] AT —
tHE+—AZFTHBERER - R=ZT—N\F+—H
ZH=ERZIZBIF+A=1TH AR
WER] TERZESNRESRE - EKZETH=
BB - BIARERE - TRUEERERE
SE - TBERBERBYIIRITES - AEEHEE
BREZARBEZZEENER - BRZESHEIER
ERARTREBAEENMBERERE - ARERE
RAEEHIRGETHEAFTENERERME LR
B ERBARRE URBTEESHRENEME
EREM-

R-Z-_HMRFE BEXZBEECETMAE
o BB ZHFEBREIWT

Attendance/
Number of meetings
eligible to attend

Members RE HERE EEEEIRH
Professor CHAU Chi Wai, Wilton BAEEHE 2/2
Mr. LI Yi Wen FRIEE 2/2
Mr. LU Qibo ERUK o4 2/2

For FY2022, the Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s audited
annual results for the year ended December 31, 2021 and the Group’s
unaudited interim results for the six months ended June 30, 2022, and
was of the opinion that the preparation of the relevant financial statements
complied with the applicable accounting standards and requirements and
that adequate disclosure has been made. The Audit Committee provided
an independent view of the risk management and internal governance
systems of the Group. The Audit Committee has also reviewed the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, and selection
and appointment of the external auditors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EERERHE (H)

Further, during FY2022, the Audit Committee reviewed the effectiveness
of the internal audit function of the Group to ensure that it is in
compliance with the agreed procedures and standards. The Audit
Committee found that the existing systems are adequate and contributes
to the effectiveness of the Company’s operations, the reliability of
financial reporting as well as the Group’s compliance with applicable laws
and regulations.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee consists of two independent
non-executive Directors, being Mr. LI Yi Wen and Mr. LU Qibo, and one
executive Director, being Mr. LU Yuanfeng, who is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing and
assessing the composition of the Board and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors and making recommendations to
the Board on appointment and removal of Directors. In recommending
candidates for appointment to the Board, the Nomination Committee will
convene a meeting to consider candidates on merit against objective
criteria and with due regards to the benefits of the Board. The Nomination
Committee shall make recommendations or nominations to the Board
for candidates to fill a casual vacancy or for those who are elected at a
general meeting. A notice issued to shareholders will provide information
on the candidates. The Board shall make the final decision on all matters
in respect of the election of its proposed candidates at any general
meeting. The selection criteria for Board members will be considered
from a number of perspectives, including but not limited to all aspects of
integrity, achievement, experience and diversity, such as gender, age,
cultural and educational background, industry experience, technical and
professional skills and/or qualifications, knowledge, length of services and
time to be devoted as a Director. The Company will also take into account
factors relating to its own business model and specific needs from time
to time. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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One meeting of the Nomination Committee was held during FY2022. The
attendance of the committee members is listed below:

RZZEZ_HBREE REZEESHRITT KX
Fo BB ZHBBEREIWOT

8

Attendance/
Number of meetings
eligible to attend

HERE
Members RE EHEEBLH
Mr. LU Yuanfeng e IR U 5 A 11
Mr. LI Yi Wen TR E 11
Mr. LU Qibo B RUR & 11

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the nomination committee
reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board, assessed
the independence of independent non-executive Directors, and
considered the re-election of retiring Directors for 2022 AGM and made
recommendations to the Board.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee has three members,
comprising two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. LI
Yi Wen and Mr. LU Qibo, and one executive Director, namely Mr. LU
Yuenfeng. Mr. LI Yi Wen is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee include:

(a) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(b) to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

(c) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management.
This should include benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment;

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors;
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(e) to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities, and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Company and its subsidiaries;

(f) to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors
and senior management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms
and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

(g) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct to ensure that they
are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable
and appropriate;

(h) to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration;

(i) where the service contract of a Director or proposed director of
the Company or its subsidiaries is required to be approved by
the Shareholders pursuant to Rule 13.68 of the Listing Rules, the
Remuneration Committee (or an independent board committee)
shall form a view in respect of such service contract and advise
Shareholders (other than shareholders who are Directors with a
material interest in such service contract and their associates)
as to whether the terms are fair and reasonable, advise whether
such service contract is in the interests of the Company and its
Shareholders as a whole and advise Shareholders on how to vote;
and

(j) to consider all other matters as referred to the Remuneration
Committee by the Board.

In carrying out its duties under these terms of reference, the
Remuneration Committee should:

(a) provide the remuneration packages sufficient to attract and retain
Directors to run the Company successfully without paying more than
is necessary;

(b) be sensitive to the wider scene, including pay and employment
conditions elsewhere, especially when determining annual salary
increases;

(c) ensure that the performance-related elements of remuneration
form a significant proportion of the total remuneration package of
executive Directors of the Company and should be designed to align
their interest with those of Shareholders and to give these Directors
keen incentives to perform at the highest levels; and
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(d) ensure that executive share options (if any) are offered in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

One meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held during FY2022.
The attendance of the committee members is listed below:
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Attendance/
Number of meetings
eligible to attend

HERE

Members RE EHEERRE

Mr. LI Yi Wen EREE 11

Mr. LU Yuanfeng e IR U 5 A 11

Mr. LU Qibo B RUR & 11
For the year ended December 31, 2022, the remuneration committee BEZT-__F+-A=1+—HLFE FHZE
surveyed peer companies’ remuneration packages and reviewed the ERETRER TEI’J%?@HH—? CWIRE THITES

remuneration packages of the executive Directors and the management.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding dealings in the securities
of the Company by the Directors and the Group’s senior management
who, because of his/her office or employment, is likely to possess inside
information in relation to the Group or the Company’s securities.

Having made specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the Model Code during the year under review. In addition,
the Company is not aware of any non-compliance of the Model Code by
the senior management of the Group during the year under review.
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FRAMEWORK FOR DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has in place a policy on handling and dissemination of
inside information (the “Policy”) which sets out the procedures and
internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside information in a
timely manner in such a way so as not to place any person in a privileged
dealing position and to allow time for the market to determine the price of
the listed securities of the Company with the latest available information.
This Policy also provides guidelines to staff of the Company to ensure
that proper safeguards exist to prevent the Company from breaching the
statutory disclosure requirements. It also includes appropriate internal
control and reporting systems to identify and assess potential inside
information. Dissemination of inside information of the Company shall be
conducted by publishing the relevant information on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company, according to the requirements of the
Listing Rules.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited has been appointed as the external
auditor of the Group for the financial year ended December 31, 2022.

For FY2022, the fees paid/payable for audit and non-audit services
(primarily related to tax advisory services) are approximately USD255,428
and nil, respectively.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of the
financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flow during FY2022.
A statement from the auditor about its reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out on pages 111 to 113 of this annual report.
In preparing the financial statements for FY2022, the Directors have
selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently,
made judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and
prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The basis on which the Company generates or preserves value over the
longer term and the strategy for delivering its objectives are explained in
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 25 to 33 of
this annual report.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal
control and risk management systems in order to safeguard the Group’s
assets and Shareholders’ interests and reviewing the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control and risk management systems on an annual
basis so as to ensure that internal control and risk management systems
in place are adequate. Such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Company also has an internal audit function
which primarily carries out the analysis and independent appraisal of
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems, and reports their findings to the Board on, at
least an annual basis. The Company implements and strictly enforces
procedures on inside information according to the relevant procedures
stated under the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information.

The Group’s internal control system includes a well-established
organisational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility and
authority. The day-to-day departmental operations are entrusted to
individual department which is accountable for its own conduct and
performance and is required to operate its own department’s business
within the scope of the delegated authority and to implement and strictly
adhere to the strategies and policies set by the Company from time to
time. Each department is also required to keep the Board informed of
material developments of the department’s business and to implement
the policies and strategies set by the Board on a regular basis so as to
identify, evaluate and manage significant risks in a timely manner.

During FY2022, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the internal
control and risk management systems of the Group to ensure that a sound
system is maintained and operated by the management in compliance
with the agreed procedures and standards. The review covered all
material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls
and risk management functions. In particular, the Board considered the
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions are adequate. The review was conducted through discussions
with the management of the Company, its external auditor and the
assessment performed by the Audit Committee. The Board believes that
the existing risk management and internal control systems are adequate
and effective, in particular, for financial reporting and Listing Rules
compliance as well as for resolving internal control defects (if any).
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CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Articles were conditionally adopted by the Board on November 24,
2017 and became effective on the Listing Date. A copy of the Articles
is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
During FY2022, there was no significant change in constitutional
documents of the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands.

Under Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more Shareholders holding
at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company may at all times have the right, by a written
requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to
require the convening of an extraordinary general meeting to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If, within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors. All resolutions put forward
at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules
and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

The Board is not aware of any provision allowing the Shareholders to put
forward proposals at general meetings of the Company under the Articles
and the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands. Shareholders who wish
to put forward proposals at general meetings may refer to the preceding
paragraph to make a written requisition to require the convening of an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company.
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Detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as
a Director are published on the Company’s website.

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company as follows:

Address: 2nd Floor, No. 368 Jiang Nan Da Dao (South), Haizhu District,
Guangzhou, PRC

Attention: Office of the Board
The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Communication with Shareholders and Investors
Relations

The Board established a Shareholders’ Communication Policy in
November 2017 which was subsequently amended in December 2022.
It is reviewed regularly and aims to ensure that Shareholders and the
investment community are provided with information about the Company
(including its financial performance, strategic goals and plans, material
developments and corporate governance) in a timely manner, in order to
enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner, and
to enhance the communication between the Shareholders, the investment
community and the Company.

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Company’s business performance and strategies. The Company
endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and the
investment community, in particular, through the Company’s financial
reports (i.e. the interim and annual reports), annual general meetings
and other general meetings that may be convened, as well as making
available all corporate communications on the Company’s website.

Shareholders may direct their questions about their shareholdings
to the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar and may at any time
contact the Company’s Investor Relations Department or the Company
Secretary to enquire about the information published by the Company. In
addition, Shareholders and the investment community shall be provided
with designated contacts, email addresses and phone numbers of the
Company to enable them to make any queries in respect of the Company.
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Further, Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings
or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at such meetings for and on
their behalf if they are unable to attend. At the general meetings, Board
members, in particular, the chairman of the Board, the chairmen of Board
Committees or their delegates, appropriate management executives and
external auditors will attend AGMs to meet Shareholders and answer their
enquiries. As for the investment community, the Company, depending
on its need, will arrange, without limitation, investor/analyst briefings and
group/one-on-one meetings, roadshows (domestic and international) and
media interviews, and participate in marketing activities and forums for
specialists on a regular basis in order to facilitate communication between
the Company, Shareholders and the investment community.

During the year, the Board conducted a review of the implementation
and the effectiveness of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy and
made appropriate amendments in December 2022. Having considered
the different channels of communication and engagement in place as
mentioned above and in the amended Shareholders’ Communication
Policy, the Board is satisfied that the policy has been properly
implemented and is effective.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR - HEHEERHRE

This is the sixth environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) report
issued by the Group. The ESG report disclosed our sustainability policy
and performance for FY2022. The scope of the ESG report includes the
environmental and social performance of the Group’s headquarters in
Guangzhou during the period under review (unless otherwise stated). The
relevant data for all other regional offices have not been collected and
therefore is not disclosed in this ESG report.

The preparation of the ESG report complies with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix 27 (2022)
to the Listing Rules issued by the Stock Exchange and abides by the
mandatory disclosure requirements and “Comply or Explain” provisions
contained therein. The Board of Directors assumes full responsibility
for the Group’s ESG strategy and reporting, and through reviewing the
ESG report, guarantees that the reported content is true, accurate, and
complete.

The Group has prepared the Report in compliance with four reporting
principles of the 2022 ESG Guide. The following is the application method
of each principle in the Report:

Materiality

The Group regards ESG as part of its fiduciary responsibilities and
strives to integrate ESG considerations into its day-to-day operations and
management. The Board has overall responsibility for ESG matters and
oversees ESG strategy, direction and policy. The Board makes timely
decisions on important ESG issues, supported by regular reporting and
approval of annual ESG reports by Company management.

Quantitative

The Group disclosed or explained the quantified key performance
indicators (“KPI”) applicable in the 2022 ESG Guide and set out the
criteria, methodology, assumptions and/or references for the calculation
of the quantitative KPIs, including the source of the key conversion
factors, for comprehensive assessment of the ESG performance of the
Group during the Reporting Period.

Balance

The ESG report has fully applied the principle of balance.
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Consistency

Where feasible, the ESG report uses methods consistent with the previous
reporting period to collect statistics on KPI related information, so that
all stakeholders can make meaningful comparisons of ESG performance
during the Reporting Period. If the statistics of the Reporting Period and
the method of collecting KPI related information are inconsistent with the
previous reporting period, the Group will specifically list them in the form
of notes.

ABOUT DIGITAL HOLLYWOOD

Digital Hollywood was listed on the Stock Exchange in 2017. The Group
is committed to becoming a leading global online game publisher while
building success in developing and launching dozens of high-quality
mobile games.

We help China-based game developers penetrate into the international
markets with one-stop solutions, including game redesign, optimization,
marketing, distribution, monetization, payment support and other user-
related services.

We offer a diverse selection of games consisting primarily of casual
games and mid-and hardcore games in both web and mobile formats to a
demographically diverse user community.

VISION

To become and be recognized as an interactive entertainment group
providing world-class user experiences.

OBJECTIVE

Connecting with happiness among players, business partners and
employees.

CORPORATE CULTURE - CORE VALUES

We firmly believe that pooling people who agree with and adhere to
the common pursuit of long-term goals in creating cohesion is the most
valuable and worth-inheriting asset for us. In other words, the F.A.M.I.L.Y
(Focus/Agile/Mind/In-touch/Learn/You) culture.
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT POLICY

We are a leading global online game publisher for China-based game
developers, with fast-growing in-house development capabilities for
mobile games. In recent years, we have strategically expanded our
business focuses to develop and launch mobile games by enhancing in-
house development capabilities. This has also reflected our commitment
to sustainable development. We are committed to ensuring business
continuity, while sparing no effort in integrating ESG principles into our
business administrative practices, which has produced a positive impact
on the environment and the entire community.

The Board is responsible for executing corporate governance as defined
in the terms of reference, and for holding meetings at least once a year
to discuss issues concerning the Group’s corporate governance. In
keeping with the general trend of sustainable development of enterprises,
the Board is acutely aware of the importance of ESG governance to the
sustainable development of the Group. The Board is responsible for
supervising the Group’s ESG matters and assumes full responsibility for
strategy and the reporting of all these matters. The Board performs its
ESG governance responsibilities and holds meetings to discuss ESG
governance matters of the Group when necessary. For day-to-day ESG
governance, the Board authorises Company management to organise
and coordinate the ESG work of each subsidiary to ensure that its
decisions are implemented. The Board is committed to maintaining good
communication with Company management — who are also responsible
for assisting the Board to identify and prioritise material issues, reporting
to the Board regularly on the effectiveness of the environmental, social
and governance system and the performance of the Group in relation to
environmental and social key performance indicators — and making timely
decisions on important ESG issues, supported by regular reporting and
approval of annual ESG reports by Company management, to implement
its ESG supervisory function for the Group.

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group has formulated different
policies on ESG and other issues to advance and manage matters
relating to social responsibility, such as product responsibility, labor
practices, environmental protection, health and safety, and supply
chain management, so as to guide the Group’s business partners in
putting sustainable development into practice. The relevant policies and
measures and our sustainable development performance in all respects
can be found in the corresponding sections of this ESG report.

Going forward, the Board will continue to oversee and refine the Group’s
measures and performance on sustainable development in order to create
long-term value for all stakeholders and the communities in which we
operate.
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STAKEHOLDER COMMUNICATION

Our stakeholders mainly include employees, customers, suppliers,
business partners, Shareholders, the government and, in a broad sense,
the community. We are firmly convinced that our sustainable development
benefits from the unremitting support and trust of stakeholders. We listen
to the voices of stakeholders and respond to their needs through a range
of communication channels such as meetings, interviews, hotlines, official
websites, WeChat public accounts, emails, as well as communicate
with our stakeholders via the publication of annual and interim results
announcements, so as to maintain a close and harmonious relationship
with them and accordingly achieve long-term success.

COMMITMENT TO CUSTOMERS

As a technology company, we strive to create value for customers by
providing quality products and superior services. We offer services and
products primarily relating to web and mobile games. In recent years, we
have strategically expanded our business focuses to develop and launch
mobile games by enhancing in-house development capabilities to capture
the market opportunity from the fast-growing smartphone users, and our
mobile games have immediately achieved considerable success in a
number of regional markets. Since the beginning, we have established
an integrated business model and the resulting synergies have further
enhanced the overall performance of the Company. Our rich experience
in web game publishing has enabled us to effectively identify key success
drivers for mobile games and create game content that appeals to users.
Moreover, disclosure on description of quality assurance process and
the number of products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and
health reasons are not applicable due to the Group’s business nature.
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We help China-based game developers penetrate into the international
markets with one-stop solutions, including game redesign, optimization,
marketing, distribution, monetization, payment support and other user-
related services. With our deep understanding of the international
markets, rich distribution experiences and proprietary technologies, we
continuously provide solutions to game developing partners for them to
reach and monetize their global user base, thereby bringing an extremely
attractive value to them. When a game is launched, we will update and
repair the system on a regular basis. We are committed to maintaining
relationship with players by creating a highly-interactive and information-
based online gaming community and organising a series of activities in
and out of the game. In addition, we will collect player comments and
suggestions through various means such as questionnaires, forums
and customer services to improve the game and enhance the player
experience. The Group strictly abides by national laws and regulations
that are relevant to the business in developing products and providing
services that have significant impact on the Group, as well as other laws
and regulations relating to the health and safety of products and services
provided, advertising, labelling and privacy matters and remedies,
including but not limited to the Regulations on Internet Publishing, the
Measures on Internet Information Services and the Measures for the
Administration of Online Games.

The Group is committed to providing quality products and services and
values customers’ feedback. We require game masters to record and
report every potential complaint, which will be followed up via an interview
by our staff to properly collect player opinions for game improvement. To
prevent inappropriate handling of complaints and recurring complaints
from players, the Group keeps the staff responsible for the complaint
informed of the complaint handling process and result, analyzes the
reasons for complaint, and consults with relevant business departments.

During the period under review, the Group was not aware of any matter
that had been in violation of laws and regulations in relation to the
provision and use of the Group’s products and services, including but
not limited to matters concerning the health and safety of products and
services, information and labels, marketing communications (including
advertisement and promotion materials), property rights (including
intellectual property rights), and privacy issues that have a significant

impact on the Group.

R —WRRRT R (B ER R - (E

£~ 28 17 #3143 i%&ﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁ
ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%§%$lmﬁﬂﬁ¥ﬁ/ R e
BARELEE TSR AR - mﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁ

BERAMRE ﬁﬁﬁﬁT%Wk%%ﬁ@ﬁ%%
BHEAKB2RAPEMERPEBENERT
& REMARETRIBERSI HNEE - BRI
% HPEEMETEGEFREE - RABIR
BRITERE T8 KA AR R R K 48 45
— R BER AR B R EF R FIETROBE -

o BT ERBSESN  NREHEE - WwiE
REPRBEFRENRER REZNTEEE 2
T B85 - S B B IR  <r A2 B B E m B IR R TS
THEXGEE A AEEFEATENBEZTAR
RE - EEM G RPTIR A E MM RIS A (2 F i 2
2 EE  BEELBEEALERITERERE
BEORE  BRETEA(EBRBEREE) (&
SREEMREINE) - CRBEEEREE) -

SEMNRHEAERERY  SEERE,PIRH
BWER - RMERFTRAEEZINAIEFENRNF
MRy - ZMALEROIE - WHEIHHABETT
BB WEREFRE TR O #E N T E RSk
B R RTMRRFRENMIE N LRFPRERENE
MEMLE  SELRERFEEBRENERRAS
BAEENERBAS - UHERFHREALETD
- B ERR MY TS RRPTETT RS

CEMERN  AEEREHEEFAEZRABE
HREREEERNRETEANERIER (B
BEARRERMRBRELELE  ASREH ™
SHEBA(BREESIHEE)  EE (BRAHBE
BOEABEETHAEEEERTENEN -

EREHEEBRL

T FFIR @



GAM
HOLLYWOOD

7
LT

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RE - gRELARS (H)

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

We are committed to protecting the achievements of our research and
development team. To this end, we have established the Intellectual
Property Management System under which standard work programs are
formulated in respect of applying for and managing intellectual property
rights and strengthening the protection of intellectual property and this
can effectively protect the intangible assets of the Group. The Group’s
intellectual property included copyrights, trademarks, patents, trade
secrets and other rights conferred by (i) the Patent Law of the People’s
Republic of China, (ii) the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of
China, (iii) the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China, (iv) the
Measures for the Administration of Internet Domain Names in China, (v)
the Measures for the Administration of Software Products, (vi) the Law
of the People’s Republic of China Against Unfair Competition and other
applicable laws and regulations as well as other rights relating to the
protection of games, software, designs, new technologies, techniques,
etc.

We attach great importance to confidentiality in protecting intellectual
property. All interested parties are prohibited to divulge or provide
relevant information to others in the process of product development
and creation. In accordance with the “Measures for the Administration
of Content Self-review by Internet Cultural Business Entities”, our self-
inspection system will ensure that all products comply with our intellectual
property measures and relevant regulations.

HEALTHY NETWORK

As a company with a focus on the internet business, we have the
responsibility to uphold and strengthen a healthy network culture.

For our game development business, we strictly abide by the Measures
for the Administration of Online Games and other applicable laws and
regulations. In view of this, we have built a professional content review
team. There are professionally qualified content reviewers on the team
responsible for close scrutiny to ensure that the game elements, including
names, backgrounds, sound effects, maps, scenes, character designs,
building designs, prop designs and features, do not contain any legally
prohibited or improper wordings and materials, neither should any
pornography, gambling, violence and abetment be promoted. Therefore,
the Group strictly complies with the legal requirements on healthy gaming
of the countries where it operates.
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DATA SECURITY

Given the nature of our business, we need to collect and process a
large amount of player data. Therefore, we are exposed to the risks of
cyber attacks and the loss and leakage of data. To minimize these risks,
we have adopted a series of data security measures, such as access
authorization, password and data transmission encryption, so that data
are stored in at least two different locations on our internal server and
further backup is implemented in our disaster recovery system. The Group
has taken a number of measures to ensure network system security and
stable operation, in terms of network, system and application.

PRIVACY PROTECTION

Ensuring data privacy is crucial to protect our business and maintain our
relationship with customers and business partners. Employees must sign
a non-disclosure agreement to confirm their responsibility for keeping
the data (including sales data, business plans, customer’s personal
data, and intellectual property) in strict confidence. We have set access
authorization with respect to the customer’s personal data, restricting
employees from accessing sensitive data only unless otherwise as
required. We have also devised specific procedures to collect and process
user data to ensure that our products and services are in compliance with
applicable legal requirements.

ADVERTISING LABELS

We ensure the compliance, accuracy and authenticity of all published
materials, including press releases, labels, articles, and web contents, in
accordance with the Advertising Law of the PRC, and through the review
of the legal department.

COMMITMENT TO EMPLOYEES
Equal opportunity

The Group always upholds the principles of fairness, openness and
justice, and applies these principles in the recruitment, assessment,
promotion, development and welfare of its staff. The Group will not allow
any employment discrimination arising out of race, color, nationality,
language, age, gender, disability, religious belief, marital status,
pregnancy, etc., and related systems are formulated in internal documents
such as the code of conduct.
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Staff development

The Group adheres to the cultural core values of F.AIM.I.L.Y., and has
employees kept informed of the latest industry information and new job
skills for them to realize their full potential through a variety of training
formats and courses.

In order to meet the developmental needs of employees in different
positions, the Group provides our employees with management, expertise
and general knowledge learning channels, and organizes various sharing
and exchange programmes at the company level. We aim to create a
learning-oriented corporate culture, and thus encourage employees to
excel and pursue their career path development. Currently, the training
types received by employees include, but are not limited to, conventional
classroom training, on-the-job coaching and experience sharing sessions,
such as induction training, orientation, mini talks, etc.
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In 2022, for example, the company organized experience sharing
meetings — mini talks, which were held in the form of “online classes”
by the corporate executives. As a multinational internet enterprise, the
Group perceives the impact of the epidemic around the world more
comprehensively. Through data tracking spanning about half a year,
samples of user data from all over the world and interviews with gaming
companies from different countries, the impacts of the epidemic on
the game industry were summarized then shared among employees
participating in the training.

Through continuous optimization and improvement of the performance
management system, the Group conducts regular and timely performance
evaluation of employees and maintains an annual comprehensive
performance evaluation. The main business units conduct monthly
performance appraisal. After each appraisal, employees are required to
review their performance in their daily work and set out new achievement
targets with their supervisors. Through the two-way communication
mechanism, we can receive employee’s feedback and suggestions in a
timely manner to facilitate the growth of both parties.

The promotion of employees is determined based on the results of
their performance evaluation and potentials. The Group has also put
in place promotion mechanisms for employees. Employees may apply
for competitive promotion provided that they meet the relevant years of
service and performance requirements and that they have no records of
misconduct and are in line with the Group’s corporate culture and values.
This will accordingly stimulate the initiative of excellent employees, which
is conducive to selecting and cultivating talents and maintaining the

sustainability of talents.
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Caring for talents

The Group has always regarded employees as the key to sustainable
business development. Accordingly, the Group provides competitive
remuneration packages and benefits to employees and organises
diversified staff activities.

The Group strictly abides by labor laws and regulations of the PRC
and other laws and regulations regarding compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunities, diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits and
welfare, including the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Social
Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Regulations on the
Administration of Housing Provident Funds and Employee Paid Annual
Leave Regulations, to provide domestic employees with social insurance
covering pension insurance, unemployment insurance, medical insurance,
maternity insurance, work-related injury insurance, critical illness
insurance and supplementary medical insurance as well as housing
provident funds. In addition to public and statutory holidays, employees
are entitled to paid leaves, such as marriage leave, pregnancy check-up
leave, maternity leave, paternity leave, annual leave, bereavement leave,
sick leave and bonus leave, and other benefits including meal allowances,
attendance awards, festive gifts, charity soft drinks and birthday gift.
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Work-life balance

We attach great importance to the healthy development of employees’
physical and mental health. We enrich employee’s spare time life by
organising various recreational activities, such as badminton, table tennis
and basketball games, monthly birthday parties, festival events, Children’s
Day on the 1st of June, Thanksgiving Day, Woman’s Day on the 8th of
March, Halloween and annual dinner. These recreational activities have
greatly enriched the spiritual and cultural life of employees and enhanced
their cohesiveness and teamwork.
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Attention to two-way communication

We strive to establish sound and humanized communication channels,
formal and informal, for our employees. Currently, the various
communication channels established include conferences, work reports,
WeChat, Enterprise WeChat, instant messaging software (QQ), emails
and performance appraisal interviews. Employees may express their
ideas and views through these communication channels.

Occupational health and safety

The Group is committed to providing employees with a safe, healthy and
comfortable working environment. The Group conducts unified guidance
and supervision of the safe operation of the Group companies in
accordance with China’s laws and regulations on occupational health and
safety and industry standards. The Group grants badges to all employees
and only employees with badges can enter the office area. Non-company
personnel are required to register identity information at the front desk
and enter with a temporary visitor card. To solve the pollution problem
arising from the newly decorated office and to ease employees’ concerns
on the potential negative impacts on their health from the renovation, the
Group is equipped with high-efficiency air purifiers and protective masks
in the office area. We also plant and place large quantities of green
plants throughout the office area, taking care of the health and safety of
employees with practical actions. A complete set of fire-fighting facilities
that meet fire protection standards are placed at a prominent position in
the office. Clear guidelines for emergency exit routes are available in the
office and fire inspections are conducted to prevent from potential fire
hazards.

Strictly abiding by laws and regulations concerning the provision of a safe
working environment and the protection of employees from occupational
hazards, such as the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases, the Group provides annual physical examination
for employees and routinely publicizes the knowledge of occupational
diseases through different channels, to protect the health and related
rights and interests of employees.

As of December 31, 2022, no incidence of any work-related injury or
fatality was identified by the Group.
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Since the beginning of 2022, in response to the COVID-19 outbreak,
safety and health of the employees are the prime concern. A number of
strict protective measures have been imposed amid the period by the
Group, such as comprehensive disinfection in public facilities with a higher
visitor frequency, further enhancing the ventilation in the office areas,
and providing personal protective hygiene products to all employees. To
strengthen the control even further, all activities surrounding the office
area are monitored, with tightening visitor and vehicle controls, to lower
the chance of office infection, hence maintaining a safe environment for
all employees.

Labor standards

Strictly abiding by laws and regulations concerning the prevention of child
labor or forced labor, such as the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Law
of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Minors and other
laws and regulations, the Group prohibits the employment of child labor
and forced labor. Upon the joining of an employee, the Group strictly
implements the relevant processes of employment, so that the employee’s
data file, including identity and age, will be reviewed thoroughly to
prevent the occurrence of child labor. During the review, any child or
forged identity data found will be handled in accordance with the law. The
Group strictly abides by relevant laws and regulations of the jurisdiction in
the place of operation, signing labor contracts with employees according
to law and pays social insurance and protects the personal privacy of
employees in strict accordance with provisions.

In addition, our staff handbook and labor contracts have set out details
concerning the arrangements about working hours, overtime, leave and
dismissal. The Group’s implementations are carried out in a unified
manner according to standard working hours to ensure that the working
hours of employees are reasonable. Employees are not forced to work
and, if overtime is required, they need to obtain approval in advance and
receive paid leave afterwards. In the case of forced labor, employees
have the right to appeal to the Group’s Personnel Administration Center.

As at December 31, 2022, the Group had not identified any employment
of child labor and forced labor and no labor dispute had happened.

~

=0

KT _FRE - /B TEYCOVID-198F % -
BIMLZE2MERSEZ@IMNMRE - UL B -
EEE N T ETERIER A - A KRS
TEBENTEES £ T NARARENE
B AZEETRHEEANESERRE - AT#
— Mg AR AR EEB®ITE
T WA R MERMAEET - UBREN QSR
IS HMAMEBETRIFE—EZE2MNIRE -

a2

REBBKETF(PEARIMBEEE)  (hE
ARKMBEBEHERE)  (PEARAMBIARK
FAREER) FHBI LE T hoabls Tr)ERE
B RIREBETI LRSS - £8 T ABKBRR
WITARMBERE  FAOESEABERH 8%
MMER U IEELREREETNHRN - FEH
- WEBRRETHHRBEFNHER  HEEE
REME - AEBEBREETELWAARER K
FHEBRISHAEM - BBIZRRETHALER
B (RESTEABL -

LA - BPER T RSHARFAHINTARBEL
TERSRE - NBE - KRS AR RS MM 228k - £ EAES
BB ETERERT - REEEAIEZMN TER
B TogtlEESE  mFENL BEFEHEL
B - 2 BEESHEHRR - EHERGISHER
T BIARENAAEEAFITERALETHSR -

Htz2—Z-—#F#+_-_A=+—H £EXR%ERE
HAZTRAHSTINER  REHESDUH Y

R -

BHREBHEEERAT

TR FFR



GAM
HOLLYWOOD

7
LT

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RE - gRELARS (H)

COMMITMENT TO THE COMMUNITY

The Group always attaches great importance to the establishment and
maintenance of harmonious relations with the community and society. The
Group’s priorities include, but are not limited to, recruiting and cultivating
outstanding university graduates in the place of operation to take up
positions dedicated to game development and operations. In 2022, the
Group sent employees to visit higher education schools in Guangzhou
to conduct 2-day campus presentations and recruitment activities and
received enthusiastic responses. Promoting the employment of university
students through such activities is an effective measure for achieving
economic development and social harmony.

In respect of the requests by relevant administrative departments in
accordance with laws and regulations for the supervision and inspection
on the Company, the Group actively cooperates with them to ensure the
fulfilment of its own social responsibilities and obligations.
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CHARITY

Since COVID-19 Outbreak in early 2020, a series of precautionary
and control measures have been and continued to be implemented
across China and other countries in the world. To shoulder our social
responsibilities and offer humanitarian support, the Group has promptly
launched an assistance scheme in response to the COVID-19 Outbreak.
Under this scheme, the Group has mobilised its global subsidiaries to
procure medical masks, protective gowns and other medical supplies and
has donated the same to front-line medical professionals and institutions
in China.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group’s commitment to combating unethical business practices,
including bribery, fraud, corruption, extortion and money laundering, can
be reflected in our Anti-fraud Management System. Employees should
report to us by phone or email if there is any suspected misconduct.
The relevant departments of the Group will seriously investigate the
misconduct allegations based on our internal protocols and make
rectification in a professional and timely manner. Divulgement of any
relevant information is strictly prohibited and offenders will be handled
in a solemn manner. A code of ethics and conduct will also be included
in the staff handbook. We will do our utmost to ensure that employees
pay attention to the code and make it part of our daily activities, so as
to create a corporate culture that upholds righteousness and integrity.
The Group strictly abides by the Law of the People’s Republic of China
against Money Laundering. We have not experienced any confirmed
matters or open legal proceedings involving the Group or its employees
over extortion, bribery, fraud, and money laundering during FY2022. The
Group offers new employee induction training at the time when employees
join, which includes trainings in relation to basic employee ethics, such
as anti-corruption trainings. All the directors have received annual training in
anti-fraud policies and requirements, which includes the definitions and forms
of fraud, anti-fraud reporting channels, punishment for fraud cases, etc.

COMMITMENT TO THE SUPPLY CHAIN

As a responsible company, we attach great importance to environmental
and social factors and are committed to sustainable operations. Similarly,
we also expect our suppliers to be self-disciplined, thereby making
a positive influence on the supply chain. We have signed a code of
conduct with suppliers that requires them to meet the legal requirements
concerning occupational health and safety, anti-discrimination,
environmental protection, anti-corruption and anti-fraud.

We conduct preliminary assessment of quality and pricing for introducing
new suppliers. In purchasing important materials, such as servers,
computers and printers, qualified new suppliers will be recorded on
a supplier list. Under normal circumstances, the list should have at
least three different suppliers in each category so as to disperse the
risk arising from any of the suppliers due to disqualification or our
termination of cooperation. For the existing suppliers, we conduct an
annual assessment to maintain the most desirable list of suppliers. We
will review the prices, product quality, payment terms, delivery and after-
sales services of product suppliers as well as the service quality, staff
qualification and sense of cooperation of service providers. In addition,
the Group will also continuously evaluate and monitor suppliers for their
track record of handling social issues in the past. For suppliers who fail to
meet the standards of the Group, the cooperation with these suppliers will
be terminated.

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2022

RER

AEBEHITRETERBETA (BERE - K7
B - mFFEIR RO M AGEAT EE IRE R MM (R
BEEHEGBE) EH - MEEAARTIETS B
BEBBEFRAIBHRBRMIER - REEHRH
BERERMOANLRERIFEFMEER - XUE
EREROTAUE - BERE—HEBEES - ER
FRIEBAEIE - RIS - BIEITRREBITEH
ARBE T - HAGBRE HEREBBIZMR
8 WEZRREMBETBEDH—E0 - {EWMITE
—EAEEEBERENREE - AEEBEE
SFCREARAMBRERE) R-T - —BHRF
ER - B2 EHRENEHEESEENEHY
= BBER  BGF - RFFRAERBMHERRBEMLL
FUERSFR - B TAEARKIESREBIRHAH
BT ARSI - HheiERESSEERBEE -
AEESFEHRRAERETRY SEREEREK
MER - FHIATBSHETROBSMERN - B
BRHEHNEEEITRNETE -

HA RSB Ay AR

ER—HEEENEE RMASEERRERLS
B BORAHESE - A HATHERM
MEEEENE R EMARERSRERZE -
HPEEREERST AT - MEREERRED
FEBERERLE  RER RARERRER
N RFFBRT MANERIBE o

BRI AR HERL RN R E REBRRY]
FEHE - MIRBEZHMH (WRRE  FFEERRT
ENH) M S - 5FE A 1% 3 (LR R 1 RS 8 (e
BAMAE - HAEeRRE FOHERAE - —
RIEAT  ZEBEREELEBEZRNTHNEL=
BRI HER  AoBEFX—EREFETE
RABPIREAERERORR - tEAHERT
5 ORI F - EORE LS RAERD
HEFEE - RAOBTIZERBERNER  Em
i SRR - RN RERRT - ARRBIRH
BORBRE  ETERRAEN - 1 A%KE
meFEttRERHEREEARELEEEMNGE
B BN RBENAREBERENHER @ S L8
ZEHEEHAFRIE




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RE - gRELARS (H)

Considering the potential environmental and social impacts of the supply
chain, the Group takes into account the performance of environmental
protection, occupational health and safety, labour rights and compliance
with laws and regulations when selecting potential suppliers, with an
aim to bringing positive impacts to the entire supply chain. For example,
when inviting bids from travel suppliers, the Group requires the bidders
to comply with the Bidding Law of the PRC ((FF# A R FIERIZSX)) and
the Procurement Law of the PRC ({(FhZE AR HEAMBIERIEE)) in the bidding
process. Bidders are also required to protect the safety of employees in
accordance with the Labour Law of the PRC ((F#E AR KB EE))
and the Labour Contract Law of the PRC ((FFEARKMELHAEFRE)).
The Group also requires its bidders to pay taxes according to law.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group has 26 major qualified
suppliers, 18 are located in Mainland China, 3 are located in Hong Kong,
Macao and Taiwan, and 5 are located in other countries and regions.

COMMITMENT TO THE ENVIRONMENT
Emissions reduction

The Group strictly abides by the relevant laws and regulations, such as
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Environmental Protection
and the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Energy Conservation,
and vigorously advocates green office. Neither any significant exhaust
emissions and significant direct greenhouse gas emissions nor any water
and land pollution and hazardous and non-hazardous waste generation
and the like have been identified in the daily business operations of
the Group, and our business will not have any significant impact on the
environment and natural resources. The Group’s products are online
games and do not need to consume packaging materials. The main
consumption of resources is concentrated in the electricity and water
consumed in the Group’s operating premises and gasoline used by
the Company’s vehicles. The Group spares no effort in environmental
protection. The Group adopts the low-carbon office concept in reducing
emissions, uses various measures including encouraging employees to
use public transport instead of private cars to reduce emissions, and
smoking is strictly prohibited in all parts of the office premises. Due
to these measures, the Group has been maintaining a relatively low
level of emissions, and such emission level does not pose significant
environmental and social impacts. Emissions are not considered as
material in relation to the Group’s businesses, therefore no emission
targets are in place during the year ended December 31, 2022.
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As an internet enterprise, the Group identified the two major sources
of waste: scrapped IT equipment and printing consumables. Therefore,
the Group has adopted corresponding measures to reduce resource
consumption, encourage recycling and reduce waste generation. For
scrapped IT equipment, including hosts, monitors and other equipment,
the Group will deal with it accordingly according to the situation of the
equipment. First, they are sorted according to the Company’s operational
needs and reusable parts are reserved for recycling and reuse purposes.
As such, the actual life cycle of electronic devices can be extended and
the aim of reducing the environmental hazard arising from electronic
product manufacturing can be achieved. Lastly, for dysfunctional
equipment, the Group will hire an electronic equipment recycling agency
to recycle it. By making rational use of such electronic equipment recycled
through these two major ways, the equipment can also be reused,
thereby reducing environmental pollution caused by electronic waste.
For printing consumables, the Group has engaged a printer maintenance
service provider to handle maintenance and repair of printers at several
offices to avoid the increased use of printing consumables due to the
aging and failure of printers. Going paperless in all work processes is
encouraged in the Group, with aims to reduce the use of paper and
printing consumables. Waste management is not considered as material
in relation to the Group’s businesses, therefore no reduction targets are
in place during the reporting year.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the papers recycled by the
Group amounted to approximately 471 kg.

Resource efficiency

The Group advocates the concept of environmental protection, energy
conservation and low carbon office. To save natural resources, we have
taken the following actions:

. Emails, instant communication tools and WeChat at Work are used
and employees are not encouraged to print paper. Only necessary
documents are printed and double-sided printing and paper recycling
are being promoted. The Group encourages paperless processes in
work attendance approval, application for using conference rooms
and internal announcements, etc.

. For used materials in offline activities, recyclable materials are used

and used materials are recycled as far as possible to comply with
the principle of recycling.
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. The Group advocates energy saving and emission reduction,
responds to green procurement. Priority is given to energy-saving
lighting and other energy-saving appliances in purchasing to reduce
electricity consumption.

. Air conditioners are turned off during non-working hours or when
the office occupancy rate is low. In non-summer seasons like winter,
the use of air conditioners is suspended to reduce exhaust gas and
electricity consumption. New office premises are equipped with
transparent glass to increase the transparency and lighting, thus
reducing the need for office lights and reducing energy consumption.

. Signs reminding employees to save water are posted in toilets to
enhance employees’ awareness of water conservation.

Due to the above measures, the Group has been maintaining a relatively
low level of electricity and water consumptions, and such consumption
level does not pose significant environmental and social impacts.

Energy use and water consumption are not considered material in relation
to the Group’s businesses, therefore no energy use and water efficiency
targets are in place during the year ended December 31, 2022.

The Group has not encountered any difficulties in sourcing suitable water
sources, and The Group’s offices has a stable water supply which meets

its daily operational needs.

Climate Change

The Group is principally engaged in the businesses of online games
publication. Given the operation model of the Group, we consider there is
no climate-related issues that could have material impact on the Group.
Nevertheless, we continue to pay close attention to the possible impact of
climate change on our business, strategy and financial performance, and
fully support global climate-related actions.

 ARBEEEREHERT  SEEERE K
BEHELE BELEE N AMEERMNESS -

AEMEAEE

o EFHEFTERERERQEEARQEST
PR - EIFREFE - PINEFEEERE
B RLBERERAEER SRS R EE
BAIIE - BB RERREA - MR ERA
BRI

« ATFHEREREEREHOAKNERS  BS
BEIHRKES -

MARERET Lt - AEE— B R EEEIER
REERFKEKY  BZMEEKTFETEHIRE
Rt @EREANTZE -

BEREARFEKERAERMESMEWIIEEX © B
A F2022F12 A31 H IEFE AL EH TR
FRARKERFERASIEMNERZ -

AEETERSKAENNRNEEBERNRE A
KERLZCAREKRENEAREERE -

RIREE

AEBENTIEXBEEBRBEEET  ENAEED
BERN RMARBUEAILSHAREELEX
TENRREMFE - BE0 - RABERDH
ERARECE RPN ER - BURS A 15 Al L 75 2K Y
FE  WENIHEHRRTEY -

BHREBHEEERAT

T FFIR @



GAME

7
LT

HOLLYWOOD

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RE - gRELARS (H)

COMPREHENSIVE PERFORMANCE
Prevention of bribery and corruption

mEmMERER
Bh L BB B B AL RS

2022 2021
Indicators EE —E=-= - —F
Cases involving bribery, extortion, fraud and WREARERE - $R - BMFFRERE
money laundering (number of cases) R (R) 0 0
Product and service quality ERRkREEE
Service performance: fRig &R
2022 2021
Indicators EE —g=-= 2 —F
Legal cases in which products and services are
suspected of safety and health issues (number E @& MRS H T 2 BEEH
of case) FARM (R) 0 0
Cases in which products and services are
suspected of infringing intellectual property EmERESGREILMNBEEN
rights (number of case) =MHEE (R) 0 0
Complaints due to divulgement of customer
information (number of complaint) BER S S MmE RIS (F]) 0 0
Approximately Approximately
Number of products and service related complaints £ % B85 & & & RIS AL R & B 19,557 20,270
received — Address players’ questions (incidence) — — & BT &R ())) #19,557 #920,270
Emissions® BEm
Air pollutant emissions (office vehicles)?: RESREMBER (P ARE) 2:
2022 2021
Indicators EE —g=-= 2 —F
Nitrogen oxide (NOXx) (kilogram) ey (=) 1.28 1.28
Sulphur oxides (SOx) (kilogram) wmatky (F7=) 0.02 0.03

! The Group’s business scope involves a small amount of paper and e-waste
emissions. As the data collection system is still in the process of being
established, the related data is not disclosed in the ESG report.

2 The calculation method and the emission factor of air pollutant emissions
were established with reference to the Technical Guide for Air Pollutant
Emission Inventory for Road Vehicles (Trial) issued by the Ministry of
Ecology and Environment of the PRC. The scope of calculation of air
pollutant emissions in 2021 includes 2 private car owned and used by
the Group, and the scope of calculation of air pollutant emissions in 2022
includes 2 private cars owned and used by the Group.
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Ecology and Environment of the PRC and the 2022 national grid average
emission factor therein.

BREBHEEERR
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Greenhouse gas emissions: BE RSN
2022 2021

Indicators EBE =2_-C —E—F
Direct greenhouse gas emission®: AERBEEENE
Office vehicles

(kilograms of carbon dioxide equivalent) RARBE(FTR-_S/RES 3,398.00 4,357.00
Average total direct greenhouse gas emissions

by each employee* (kilograms of carbon BUEB‘FRERBEZINES

dioxide equivalent per person) (FR=ZEREEA) 22.21 25.62
Indirect greenhouse gas emission?: hE RS ES:
Purchased electricity

(kilograms of carbon dioxide) HNEE H (TR -G1bH) 154,596.92 169,823.98
Average total indirect greenhouse gas emissions

by each employee (kilograms of carbon dioxide F{i{EEFREREMEH KRS

per person) (Fr=&kH/A) 1,010.44 998.96

3 The calculation method and the calculation of emission factors were 3 AERBERFNEAEBELAEEEENER
established pursuant to the Guidelines for Accounting and Reporting of FRAMEMERREREER - EftE7ERE
Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Land-based Transportation Enterprises BRHENREURE P EAREMBEBEKERN
(Trial) issued by the National Development and Reform Commission of the FLERRMHNC(E L RBERTEREREIMN
PRC. R ERE SRR (R17)) FTHIET -

4 The number of employees was derived from the total number of employees 4 BEABEESACERABEE—_ZE-_—_F+-A=+
of the Group as at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, —HEBZE-_T-—F+_A=+—HANKBELE
respectively. PN

5 The scope of calculation of indirect greenhouse gas emissions includes the 5 IR EREREHNENEEEFEEFRINE
indirect greenhouse gas emissions of our business generated by the use of BENERAMEBBMEEAEREH N - 58 HE
purchased electricity. The calculation method and the calculation of emission FABBRHE R EGTH D2 E R EARAMBE B K E
factor of emission were established with reference to the “Notice on Doing AEIR IR AL B ) (R R 47 2023-2025 F B BT
a Good Job in 2023-2025 Reporting and Management of Greenhouse TEREREHMEREEEEMIERNRM) AR
Gas Emissions of Power Generation Enterprises” issued by the Ministry of EP®2022FE2REMFEHRETF -
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BRER

Use of resources

the Group and purchased electricity. The calculation method and related
references are factored, given in Appendix Il of the How to Prepare an
Environmental, Social and Governance Report: Reporting Guidelines for
Environmental KPIs A2.1 issued by the Stock Exchange, “Motor Gasoline”
GB 17930-2016 — Table 3 Technical Requirements issued by the General
Administration of Quality Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine of the
PRC, the Standardization Administration of the PRC and Testing Party for
Motor Gasoline (VIA), and Guidelines for Accounting Methods and Reporting
of Greenhouse Gas Emission of Enterprises in Other Industrial Industries
indicating that the low calorie-generating value of gasoline is 44.80 GJ/
tonne (Trial) — Table 2.1 Default values for common fossil fuel characteristic
parameters issued by the National Development and Reform Commission of
the PRC.

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2022

Energy consumption: BEIRERE
2022 2021
Indicators B —E-CHF —E—F
Direct energy HERER
Gasoline (liter) AUl (A F) 1,438.00 1,860.00
Average total gasoline consumption by each Bl BT RERES
employee (liter per person) (RF/N) 9.40 10.94
Indirect energy EEEER
Purchased electricity (kilowatts-hour) SNEE S (FRE) 271,080.00 292,296.00
Average electricity consumption by each BEEFHENEREES
employee (kilowatts-hour per person) (FEE/A) 1,771.76 1,719.39
Total energy consumption (megawatt-hour)? BFEE OKILA)° 284.46 309.60
Average total energy consumption by each BUEEFHERREE
employee (megawatt-hour per person) (KRB A) 1.86 1.82
Paper consumption: WREFEE -
2022 2021
Indicators BE -z T —F
Total paper consumption (kilogram) FRMREE (Tr) 238.00 298.00
Average total paper consumption by each BuEBFERABRRE
employee (kilogram per person) (F5=/A) 1.56 1.75
6 The total energy consumption includes private cars owned and used by 6 AN EEERREEEEANLKEFRN
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Water consumption?: KOBEFERE -
2022 2021
Indicators EBE —E-= —E—F
Total water consumption (cubic meter) ke (LK) 1,334.00 1,415.00
Proportion of outsourced tap water (%) HME B KRG L (%) 100 100
Total water consumption by each person BllEERAXEE
(cubic meter per person) (SZFHHKN) 8.72 8.32
Employment ElE
Employee composition: EEMRK :
2022 2021
Indicators EBE —E=-= 2B F
Number of employee (number)’ EBEAZ(A)7 153 170
By gender BRI & D
Female employee (number) ZEB (AN) 61 65
Male employee (number) FEE (A) 92 105
By different employment types REBBALE D
Full-time(number) 2BEES (A) 153 169
Part-time(number) FEE (N) 0 1
By geographical areas ZinmE D
The Mainland of China (number) FE R (A) 147 164
Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan (number) ARAamE (A) 2 2
Other countries and regions (number) HiBIREkibE (A) 4 4
By age group BERE D
Below 30 (number) 30BRA T (A) 70 85
30 — 50 (number) 30-507% (A) 78 80
Above 50 (number) 5058 A £ (A) 5 5
7 The number of employees was derived from the total number of employees 7 IEEABBEES A ABEZ-_ZE-__F+=-A=+

of the Group as at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021,

respectively.
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RE - gRELARS (H)

Employee turnover ratio®: 1B Bkt %&e:
2022 2021
Indicators g —E-= B —F
By gender ZMRIE D
Female employee turnover ratio (%) g IR KAE (%) 36 32
Male employee turnover ratio (%) SREE MK (%) 33 32
By geographical areas e E o
The Mainland of China employee
turnover ratio (%) B A Hb IR B SR A EE (%) 34 33
Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan
employee turnover ratio (%) BRE MR E B RKIGE (%) 0 0
Other countries and regions
employee turnover ratio (%) E At B R Kb [ & B R A E (%) 0 50
By age group LERE D
Below 30 employee turnover ratio (%) 3055 A TME B R KAG EE (%) 57 53
30 — 50 employee turnover ratio (%) 30-50 5% 1% B/ K1t (%) 15 13
Above 50 employee turnover ratio (%) 505% A L& B K AG L (%) 20 0
Occupational health and safety BERERZE
Health and safety of employees: BTREZ::
2022 2021
Indicators EBE —E-= —E-—%F
Number of work-related fatalities occurred
in the past three years including the BE=ZF (BERSFE)
reporting year® (number) ETTHEAZ(A) 0 0
Ratio of work-related fatalities occurred™ (%) AT T E (%) 0 0
Days of work lost due to industrial injury (days) EITBEXIEREK(X) 0 0

8 Employee turnover ratio = Turnover of employees in this category/ 8 BERKLE=%2FREE RAAZRZEH

Number of employees in that category as at 31 December of that BEBIZFEI12A3MEBHAK -
year.

®  Industrial fatality data and industrial injury data refer to work-related ¢ TITHBELRIGEESELEANDEREL SR
fatality incidents and industrial injury incidents recognized by the ERREMEITHEFRIEEM -

Human Resources and Social Security Bureau.
1 Ratio of work-related fatalities occurred = Number of work-related o ATTHER=AITHAZR BEE AH -
fatalities occurred/total number of employees.
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Development and training B R BT
Employee training: BIHE :
2022 2021
Indicators B —B-CF —T—F
Total training hours BIETIR e (/) 227.00 148.50
Per capita training hours (hours per person) AIGEE IR (/N A) 1.48 0.87
Per capita training hours by male employees SMEB A TIREL
(hours per person) (/N N) 1.64 0.87
Ratio of training by male employees'" (%) SMHEEZIEAL" (%) 61 66
Per capita training hours by female employees %% (& 8 A5 3)IF% 81
(hours per person) GNSYON) 1.23 0.87
Ratio of training by female employees' (%) ZHEEZIED L (%) 39 34
Per capita training hours by management EIEEREE AYETIRFE
employees (hours per person) GNP PN 1.16 0.82
Ratio of training by management
employees' (%) EEEREEZIESL (%) 6 6
Per capita training hours by Non-management HFERE R E AIHFIRE
employee (hours per person) (/NN 1.12 0.88
Ratio of training by Non-management
employee' (%) IFEREBEEZIESL (%) 94 94
" Percentage of employees trained = Number of employees trained in " RBEZIESLL=ZERREZIAZEHIE
this category/Total number of employees trained as at 31 December ZEE12A3MBNEESZIBAL -

of that year.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
5 HERERRE ()

INDEX OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL EBEIM(RE HEREAR
AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE 4185|) &5l
ISSUED BY THE HONG KONG STOCK
EXCHANGE
General —REE
disclosures Related sections in RERE ESGHER
and KPIs Description the ESG report BER it EBRED
Environmental Aspect RIEHE
Aspect A1: Emissions EBEA1: R
General Information on: Emissions reduction —REE | BEERRREREBHN - | HOBK
Disclosure (a) the policies; and K RTEEES BER
(b) compliance with relevant laws and EEERVNEESH
regulations that have a significant (a) 3K+ &
impact on the issuer relating to air (b) BTHBEITABEATZ
and greenhouse gas emissions, HEBER LRI E
discharges into water and land, and o
generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective | Comprehensive KPI A1 | BEiEEE R ARREHE R © | iR BN
emissions data. performance =&
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect Comprehensive KPIA1.2 | B¥ (8E1) ReEREE (8 | G580
(Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in | performance E2)REREHRE (A | &R
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity HE)R(MBR)EE (W
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per IANFESEN - GEEME
facility). H)o
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in Data collection KPIA13 |FEABSEENEE (ML | REEBER
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity | system in the process MEEtE) R (ER)RE (I | By
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per | of being established NEESEN - GERME
facility). H)o
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in | Data collection KPIA14 |FEEEREEEDEE UL | KEER
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity | system in the process MEEtE) R (WEA)RE (W | ByH
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per | of being established NBESEN - BEREN
facility). g)o
KPI A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and | Not applicable KPI A1.5 | Bl Pra] v eOHERkE B IR R | NER
steps taken to achieve them. EF5E L B AR FTIER BE o
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non- | Emissions reduction KPIA1.6 |HilEEEEREEEEY | HOHEK
hazardous wastes are handled, and a B0 - RAEHTET S AR
description of reduction target(s) set and BEEERAEIGELEEEMR
steps taken to achieve them. )P ER -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Contlnuea) o

BRiR - H2RELERE (H)

General —REE

disclosures Related sections in RERE ESGHER

and KPIs Description the ESG report BIER it EBRED

Aspect A2: Use of Resources EEA2: EFEEA

General Policies on the efficient use of Resource efficiency —REE |BUERER(BEER - K| BRKE

Disclosure resources, including energy, water and REM R BB
other raw materials.

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy Comprehensive KPIA2.1 | RERESMERR/HE |GEEN
consumption by type (e.g. electricity, performance ZeR (WS - Kgum) 8 | RHE
gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and E(UTFETFEEHE) RS
intensity (e.g. per unit of production BN BESEN - BIER
volume, per facility). MEtE)

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity | Comprehensive KPIA22 |BHEKERTE (NWUABES |FREEX
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per |performance B - FEBEE) o =#H
facility).

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency Not applicable KPI A2.3 | fEIFTET SZHIREIR(E Adies | NERA
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve FEIEERRERELEE
them. FTERER ) 27 B

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue | Comprehensive KPI A2.4 | fEilKEGEAKRE LRI BERE | GREER
in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, |performance, MR - URFAETRAK | KRB BR
water efficiency target(s) set and steps | Resource efficiency BHBERAEIGELEE | &KX
taken to achieve them. FTERER ) 20 8%

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for Not applicable KPIA2.5 |RKmTAREMENEE | TER
finished products (in tonnes) and, if (AmEst &) & (iR ) 84
applicable, with reference to per unit EBAEE -
produced.

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources EBHA3: BRERXAER

General Policies on minimising the issuer's Not applicable —REE | REBTAHRERARE | TEA

Disclosure significant impact on the environment TREKE R E R
and natural resources.

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of | Not applicable KPI A3.1 ?ﬁt%ﬁ%iﬁ@)ﬁfgiﬁ&%ﬁ TNER
activities on the environment and natural ARNEATERERNE
resources and the actions taken to BEERYENTE -
manage them.

Aspect A4: Climate Change BHEA4: RIZEL

General Policies on identification and mitigation | Not applicable —WEE |SAkESEERTEeY | TEA

Disclosure of significant climate-related issues BIAEEVENERRR
which have impacted, and those which RS EMBUR -
may impact, the issuer.

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate- Not applicable BiEN |HABARMIGESHETA | TER
related issues which have impacted, and BEMA |EEVENSARERES
those which may impact, the issuer, and H - REHTE -
the actions taken to manage them.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
5 HERERRE ()

implemented and monitored.

BIE °

General —REE

disclosures Related sections in RERE ESGHER

and KPIs Description the ESG report BER it EBRED

Social Aspect HEHE

Aspect B1: Employment EEB1: EE

General Information on: Equal opportunity, —REE | FETHREE BERE | TEHKE

Disclosure (a) the policies; and caring for talents and o IERE - RE - ¥ |(BiEAS
(b) compliance with relevant laws and | Labor standards e Zal RERNIK | S5E%ER

regulations that have a significant HfFis &E%‘JE’\] :

impact on the issuer relating to (a) UK

compensation and dismissal, (b )LT%T%TTA%@K#‘%
recruitment and promotion, EEBERE RRDINE
working hours, rest periods, o

equal opportunity, diversity, anti-

discrimination, and other benefits and

welfare.

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment | Comprehensive KPIB1.1 | MR - BEEE  FRA |GEEN
type, age group and geographical performance AkiEESHEEAS - | KRB
region.

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age | Comprehensive KPIB1.2 |#ZIER - FEAERI RIEE |HFEER
group and geographical region. performance DHEERALE - =35

Aspect B2: Health and Safety EBHEB2: #EHERZ2

General Information on: Occupational health —REE | FERHTXETIERERR |BERE

Disclosure (a) the policies; and and safety [BEEEEBRELEEN : |HRE
(b) compliance with relevant laws and (a) BUR &

regulations that have a significant (b) BFHBEITABEATE
impact on the issuer relating to HEBERERRDINE
providing a safe working environment e

and protecting employees from

occupational hazards.

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related Comprehensive KPIB2.1 |BA=F (RREERFE)E |HEENX
fatalities occurred in each of the past performance FRITHMAZRILE - | RHE
three years including the reporting year.

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Comprehensive KPI B2.2 THBATERSE - RAER

performance =3

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and | Occupational health KPIB2.3 |HlFTRMMNBERERT |BERRE
safety measures adopted, how they are |and safety 2R URIBBRITRE |HZE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Contlnuea) o

BRiR - H2RELERE (H)

General —RiRE

disclosures Related sections in RERE ESGHR&ER

and KPIs Description the ESG report BIER it EBRED

Aspect B3: Development and Training EmEB3: B#E KR

General Policies on improving employees’ Staff development —WKE |FRRAREETIERE |BIERE

Disclosure knowledge and skills for discharging BRI R B O BR - it
duties at work. Description of training BER o
activities.

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained Comprehensive KPIB3.1 |z RIK{EEER (=K %” RABEM
by gender and employee category performance BE- PREEE)EINT | KRB
(e.g. senior management, middle JEEBSL
management).

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed | Comprehensive KPIB3.2 |ZMURINEEERED & |HGEEN
per employee by gender and employee | performance LZRETASINO TR - | KRR
category.

Aspect B4: Labor Standards EmEB4: £ TR

General Information on: Labor standards —RIRE | BB ETIGRHST SR

Disclosure (a) the policies; and B
(b) compliance with relevant laws and (@) BUR &

regulations that have a significant (b) BFHETAREATE
impact on the issuer relating to EEBERE KRDINE
preventing child and forced labor. o

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review Labor standards KPI B4.1 | il i I HHEE1E @JE’]?E MEIA | 4 F%E|
employment practices to avoid child and WEETREHST -
forced labor.

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate | Labor standards KPI B4.2 |fHlfE#RERERRER | SEAER
such practices when discovered. BB RPTERERE) 5K o

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management BHEBS: ftEHEER

General Policies on managing environmental and | Commitment to the —WRE | FEREROREREER |HHER

Disclosure social risks of the supply chain. supply chain BRBUR o P

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical Commitment to the KPIB5.1 |Zit@EIDMHEHEE - | Bt
region. supply chain )

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating Commitment to the KPI B5.2 |f#ilERIIEAEERAIE e
to engaging suppliers, number of supply chain Bl MERITEEEMNME | M
suppliers where the practices are EREEE  URBEERITR
being implemented, and how they are ERRHE -
implemented and monitored.

BREPEEFRAR —T-FFR
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RE - gRELARS (H)

General —REE
disclosures Related sections in RERE ESGHER
and KPIs Description the ESG report BER it EBRED
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify | Commitment to the KPIB5.3 |filBRERIHEESER |HHERE
environmental and social risks along supply chain FRRE R ERKRAE B
the supply chain, and how they are B AT RERT
implemented and monitored. E e
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote | Resource efficiency KPIB5.4 |fillEEHEEREFRS |ERBE
environmentally preferable products FRRRERRREHED -
and services when selecting suppliers, A RIBEEIT RER % o
and how they are implemented and
monitored.
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility E@B6: EmER
General Information on: Commitment to —RBERE |BEMREERNRSNRE |HEFEM
Disclosure (a) the policies; and customers FEZR  EE BR[| &E
(b) compliance with relevant laws and | Advertising labels BEEURERTEN EEE%
regulations that have a significant Healthy network (a) BUR : & e P 4B 4%
impact on the issuer relating to health (b) BFHETAREATE
and safety, advertising, labelling and EEBER KRDINE
privacy matters relating to products o
and services provided and methods
of redress.
KPI1 6.1 Percentage of total products sold or Not applicable KPI6.1 |EEXCEREMEETE | TER
shipped subject to recalls for safety and %2 2 (R B 38 R 1 7 [l AL )
health reasons. EFal=a
KPI 6.2 Number of products and service related | Commitment to KPI 6.2 |ZEMNERKBRBHESF |HEPH
complaints received and how they are | customers EEUREEHE - G
dealt with.
KP1 6.3 Description of practices relating to Intellectual property KPI 6.3 |filtifi® RIRIEAHAER. | MBERE
observing and protecting intellectual BEWED -
property rights.
KPI 6.4 Description of quality assurance process | Commitment to KPI 6.4 |HilEERTBERERELE |HEFPH
and recall procedures. customers Wi o e
KPI 6.5 Description of consumer data protection | Data security KPI6.5 |MiUEEEBERRERLE |#EZ2
and privacy policies, how they are B URBERTRER |ALERE
implemented and monitored. Tk e
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
B HEHEERRE (F)

General —REE

disclosures Related sections in RERE ESGHER

and KPIs Description the ESG report BER it EBRED

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption EmEB7: RES

General Information on: Anti-corruption —RWE | BEMLEE  BR - RFF | RER

Disclosure (a) the policies; and RERER
(b) compliance with relevant laws and (a) 3K+ &

regulations that have a significant (b) BFHETAREATZE
impact on the issuer relating to BEBEERAGINE
bribery, extortion, fraud and money e

laundering.

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases Comprehensive KPIB7.1 | RERPNEEITASERE |HFEEX
regarding corrupt practices brought performance BREVEFRENESHA | KB
against the issuer or its employees R E RFDER
during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and | Anti-corruption KPIB7.2 |fillbr&sEmREBERr - |RER
whistle-blowing procedures, how they ARIBRABITRERAE
are implemented and monitored.

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training Anti-corruption KPIB7.3 |filmEELETRENR |REE
provided to directors and staff. Vet

Aspect B8: Community Investment EBEBS: #HEBRE

General Policies on community engagement Commitment to the —RIE | BRI E 2 RER iR

Disclosure to understand the needs of the community Fﬁft%i@ﬁ%xﬂﬁﬁ%,ﬁ\if% EE
communities where the issuer operates EBEERLEA SR
and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. Commitment to the KPIB8.1 |EIZEEE (5  BE | WHER
education, environmental concerns, community FE BIFK @BE- X |[E#H
labour needs, health, culture, sport). £ 85) -

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or | Commitment to the KPIB82 |EHIHEMBALER (e |HHLEMN
time) to the focus area. community o) o G

BREPEEFRAR —T-FFR




DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRE

The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on November 24,
2014 as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Act of the Cayman Islands. The Group is a leading global online game
publisher for China-based game developers, with fast-growing in-house
development capabilities for mobile games.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are shown
under Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the
Group’s revenue and operating profit for the year by principal activities is
set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in
this annual report and Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the year, which includes a
discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group,
an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key performance
indicators, particulars of important events affecting the Group during
the year, and an indication of likely future developments in the
Group’s business, could be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate
Governance Report” in this annual report. In addition, a discussion on
relationships with its key stakeholders is included in the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report”. The review and
discussion form part of this directors’ report.

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2022

EEEMAREALEE S -_—HHFENTHE
RREZE GHIIBME -

FEXRK

ARAR-_E-ME+—-A-+HAREHEHS
NREVFERSHBIMKALARBRERAF - A
SEE AT ENEEFAEFHRERBNZIRE
TRRBERBETE  BAREERNTHRERS T
tiEEEED -

ARAMIER A ES RF BN A I HRERME
19 - REFERTREBKE D 2 FRIRARLLEF
DITERAFHRIERESN BT — & RA Y
TEMRIMFET

EXOE

AEEFEEGRE(BRASERSNTIERAR
R AHBAERN W - (0 W RS E SR RET
WASBERRON - FEAEENFAER =5
1B R FE AN S B R R B B R A R AR ) AT 2 B R
FRIETERE] [EREAREOW I RIEE
ARG JFE o S AREAKREEIERNER
FEORRENRANFRIRE L FEEBRE] - %
ZRENITHABTRAEEGWMENBRBMD -



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EEemE (E)

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The consolidated results of the Group for FY2022 are set out on pages
114 to 196 of this annual report.

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of any final
dividend for FY2022 (FY2021: nil).

There is no arrangement in which a Shareholder has waived or agreed to
waive any dividends.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company currently does not have any pre-determined dividend
payout ratio. The amount of dividends actually distributed to the
Shareholders will depend on the Company’s earnings and financial
condition, operating requirements, capital requirements and any other
conditions that the Directors may deem relevant and will be subject to
approval of the Shareholders. The Board has the absolute discretion to
recommend any dividends.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from June 15,
2023 to June 20, 2023, both days inclusive, and during which period
no share transfer will be effected, for the purpose of ascertaining
shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the 2023 AGM to be
held on June 20, 2023. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the
2023 AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s share
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m.
on June 14, 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EEemE (E)

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set out
on page 14 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property and equipment of the Group during
FY2022 are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements on
page 167 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is highly aware of the importance of environment protection
and has not noted any material non-compliance with all relevant laws
and regulations in relation to its business including health and safety,
workplace conditions, employment and the environment. The Group
has implemented environmental protection measures and has also
encouraged staff to be environmental friendly at work by consuming the
electricity and paper according to actual needs, so as to reduce energy
consumption and minimize waste. For further details of the Group’s
environmental policies and performance, please refer to the section of
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” in this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EEemE (E)

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during FY2022
are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements on page
188 to 189 of this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during FY2022 are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 190 to 192 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at December 31, 2022, the Company’s distributable reserves were
US$30.6 million.

BORROWINGS

As at December 31, 2022, the Company did not have any bank
borrowings.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during FY2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the
laws of Cayman lIslands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing shareholders.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EEemE (E)

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE IPO

The net proceeds from the IPO amounted to approximately US$35.4
million after deducting share issuance costs and listing expenses. During
FY2022, the net proceeds from the listing were utilised in accordance
with the proposed applications set out in the section headed “Future
Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus, with the balance
unutilised amounting to approximately US$2.5 million. The balance of
fund will continue to be utilised according to the manner as disclosed
in the Prospectus. The Group held the unutilised net proceeds in short-
term deposits with licensed institutions in Hong Kong. In 2023, the
Company will use the proceeds raised from the IPO in accordance with
its development strategies, market conditions and intended use of such
proceeds. Details are set out in the following table:

BERLRBERSRRFEAR
ARRRERARBEEMSTIRFERISAAEE
TR NBETRAR EHRX) - R-T -8
BEE - EOAEFRIEFEEREARRNARE
RIARREE RS FIEMS | —HprE e R T
- MABBARBAAROR2.5BEETT - FAEE
HREBERRERREZ AEHA - FEEKRD
RS RIRF AR BRI T RN BB
B 2% ARAHRBEEZERRE 5
BRARERARBEESHSTIENEE RS  BAZ
FHHE - HRBA TR

Net amount
available as at
December 31,

Actual net
amount utilised

Unutilised
amount as at
December 31,

Expected timeline for

utilising the remaining

2021 during FY2022 2022 net proceeds (Note)
HE-Z--f BE-2-—-fF
tZA=+-B B HREE t=ZA=+—-B BAKTHE
SRR BRBAFE HABAEE FEFENEHRER(MEE)
UsD’ 000 uUsD’ 000 UsD’ 000
FET FET TEn
Investment 6,977.1 4,454.3 2,522.8 Expected to be fully utilised on or
before June 30, 2023
®E BN -Z-=FA=+H
BA:IES - Cl]
Development and research 1,833.3 1,833.3 —  Fully utilised
B 3% A 5T ERHHA
Expansion of online game business - - —  Fully utilised
BREBESRE BEEHHA
Marketing and advertisement - - —  Fully utilised
EHRER EXREFA
Working capital and other general - - —  Fully utilised
corporate purposes
LEESREM—REERR EREHA
Total 8,810.4 6,287.6 2,522.8
Bt
Note: The expected timeline for utilising the remaining net proceeds is based on MisE - BRSBTS RIRFEMEMRBRANEEY B

the best estimation of the future market conditions made by the Group. It will

be subject to changes based on the current and future development of the

market conditions.
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DIRECTORS

During FY2022 and up to the date of this annual report, the Board
consists of the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. LU Yuanfeng (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. HUANG Guozhan
Mr. HUANG Degiang

Independent Non-executive Directors

Professor CHAU Chi Wai, Wilton
Mr. LI Yi Wen
Mr. LU Qibo

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules, and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group as at the date of this annual report are set out on pages 19 to 24
in the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” in
this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a specific term of one to three years commencing from
the date of the respective service contracts, which may be terminated
by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either the
executive Director or the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed an
appointment letter with the Company for a specific term of one to three
years commencing from the date of the respective appointment letters,
which may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either of the Director or the Company. Under the respective
appointment letters, each of the independent non-executive Directors is
entitled to a fixed Director’s fee.

The appointments of the Directors are subject to the provisions of
retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered into any
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

CONTRACT WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

No contract of significance was entered into between the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling Shareholders or any of its
subsidiaries during FY2022 or subsisted at the end of the year and no
contract of significance for the provision of services to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries by a Controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries was entered into during FY2022 or subsisted at the end of
the year.

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2022

EERBEEH

BRTEFHRARRALRBEL  BEETHS
BEXENRBEEORMEH —E2=F  HERITES
FARBAHEL DR = A BANANE @B ML
LLEZEFERH -

EBUFPTEFERARARESIEEE  BEF
HAEXANEEERSRT —E=F  HERK
ARRAIE LN DR=(E A BN EERMNL L
ZEREE BBUFRTEERBEZENEE
£ OEBRTHESHES o

EXEZAAETASEREATEERERRKED

B bSO EEESN - R E R AL B ok B AT AP R
RAFIUARBNAR—FARNEECEERE
BN T T A I EVERIBRTE A 4 ©

ERBRREYN

MNZBZ ZBRFEARRE S E MM E R R B
BEMZERR RS EEMNB AR LERAL
EMERHEANRFRERDAEN  MARAR -F
T MBREFEEINEAR LA B R R S AW
B 8 X B ) AR 2 B g HAEATBT B8 N RIIR R RS 0 &
Ra#  BREFHEORFREDAR -



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EEemE (E)

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions”
in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements contained in this
annual report, no transaction, arrangement and contract of significance to
the business of the Group which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party, and in which a Director or any entity connected with such a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during FY2022.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are decided by the Board with reference to the recommendation given
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five highest
paid individual in the Group are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report respectively.

For FY2022, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any Director or
any of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the
Directors has waived any emoluments for FY2022.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments have been made or are
payable, for FY2022, by our Group to or on behalf of any of the Directors.

DIRECTORS’
BUSINESS

During FY2022, none of the Directors or their respective close associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business that
competed or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group, other than being a director of the Company and/or
its subsidiaries.

INTERESTS IN COMPETING
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have any
other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the
Listing Rules.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

On November 24, 2017, each of the Controlling Shareholders entered
into the deed of non-competition (“Deed of Non-competition”) in
favor of the Company, pursuant to which the Controlling Shareholders
have irrevocably, jointly and severally given certain non-competition
undertakings to the Company. Details of the Deed of Non-competition
are set out in the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling
Shareholders — Deed of Non-competition” in the Prospectus.

The Controlling Shareholders confirmed that they have complied with
the Non-competition Deed for FY2022. The independent non-executive
Directors have conducted such review for FY2022 and also reviewed the
relevant undertakings and are satisfied that the Deed of Non-competition
has been fully complied with.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment letters, no
contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or in
existence as at the end of the year or at any time during FY2022.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During FY2022, other than the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme as set out
in the section under “Post-IPO Share Option Scheme” and consolidated
financial statements, the Company has not entered into any equity-linked
agreement.
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MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In 2020, Guangzhou Zhang Ying Kong Information Technology Company
Limited* (BMZE&ZEEREBR2AAR]) (“Guangzhou ZYK”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, instituted legal proceedings (the
“Legal Proceedings”) against Shenzhen Qianhai Huanjing Network
Technology Co., Ltd.* (RIIFHEGLRBERKEBRAF) (“Qianhai
Huanjing”) in relation to the losses and damages sustained by
Guangzhou ZYK as a result of the unilateral termination by Qianhai
Huanjing of a series of intellectual property licensing agreements. Details
of the Legal Proceedings are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated May 18, 2020, March 8, 2021 and April 8, 2022.

On April 8, 2022, the Company received the judgment handed down by
the Guangzhou Intellectual Property Court* (M ANZHEEZEPL) of the
People’s Republic of China, pursuant to which (i) the intellectual property
licensing agreements shall be rescinded and (ii) Qianhai Huanjing shall
repay the licensing fee in the amount of RMB6,556,900 to Guangzhou
ZYK.

Save as disclosed above, the Group was not involved in any material
legal proceedings during FY2022.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During FY2022, the Group had not made any loan or provided any
guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to the Directors, senior
management of the Company, the Controlling Shareholders or their
respective connected persons.
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POST-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On May 27, 2017, the Company adopted the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme approved by the resolutions of our Shareholders. The purpose
of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is to attract, retain and motivate
employees, Directors and other participants, and to provide a means of
compensating them through the grant of options (“Options”) pursuant
to the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme for their contribution
to the growth and profits of the Group, and to allow such employees,
Directors and other persons to participate in the growth and profitability of
the Group.

Our Board has appointed The Core Trust Company Limited as the trustee
(“Trustee”) for the administration of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
and to hold the Shares which may be granted under the Options through
Epic City Limited (“Nominee”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Trustee.
The Trustee shall act in accordance and cooperate with our Board for
the purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. Our Company will
use Shares held by the Nominee and new Shares to be allotted by us to
satisfy the Options upon exercise.

Existing Shares held by the Nominee

The Shares which may be transferred from the Nominee upon exercise
of all Options to be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
shall not exceed 149,999,973 Shares (i.e. being the Shares held by the
Nominee representing 7.5% of the enlarged issued share capital of our
Company as of the Listing Date). Options lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme shall not be counted for the
purpose of calculating this limit.

New Shares to be issued by our Company

The new Shares which may be issued by our Company upon exercise of
all Options to be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and
other share option schemes of our Company (and to which the provisions
of the Listing Rules are applicable) shall not exceed 200,000,000 Shares,
(i.,e. 10% of the aggregate of the Shares in issue on the Listing Date
(“Scheme Mandate Limit") and as of the date of this annual report).
Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating this
Scheme Mandate Limit.
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As of the date of this annual report, 200,000,000 Shares are available for
issue, which representing 10% of the total issued Shares.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of
the options granted to or to be granted to each eligible person under the
Share Option Scheme (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in
issue.

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme at any time during the period to be determined
by our Board at its absolute discretion and notified by our Board to each
grantee of the Options (the “Grantee”) as being the period during which
an Option may be exercised and in any event, such period shall not be
longer than 10 years from the date upon which any particular Option is
granted in accordance with the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. Options
may be vested over such period(s) as determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion subject to compliance with the requirements under
any applicable laws, regulations or rules.

The exercise price (“Exercise price”) shall be such price as determined
by our Board in its absolute discretion at the time of the grant of the
relevant Option (and shall be stated in the letter containing the offer of
the grant of the Option), but in the case that any Share would be allotted
and issued to a Grantee upon the exercise of an Option in accordance
with the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, the Exercise Price
shall not be less than the higher of (a) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, which must be a Business Day, (b) the average closing price of
the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange
for the five (5) Business Days immediately preceding the date of grant,
and (c) the nominal value of a Share. For the avoidance of doubt, in the
case that the Share would be transferred from the Trustee to a Grantee
upon the exercise of an Option in accordance with the terms of the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme, the Exercise Price shall be determined by the
Board, as it may think fit taking into account the Grantee’s contribution to
the development and growth of the Group.

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme will be expired on 26 May 2027 (i.e.
the remaining life of the scheme is approximately 4 years and 1 month as
at the date of this annual report).

A summary of the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme has been
set out in the section headed “D. Share Incentive Scheme” in Appendix IV
of the Prospectus.
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On February 15, 2018, the Board approved to grant Options from the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme to eligible employees for their past
contribution to the success of the Group, and to provide incentives to
them to further contribute to the Group, the details of which are set out in
the announcement of the Company dated February 20, 2018.

The Options are conditionally vested upon satisfying specified service
vesting condition, which is mutually agreed by the employees and
the Company. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to
repurchase or settle the Options in cash.

On February 15, 2018, 49,498,610 Options, which are to be satisfied
solely by the Shares held by Epic City Limited when they are exercised,
were granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. No new
Share will be allotted to satisfy such Options. The vesting period of the
Options is three years and the vesting schedule is 33.33% after twelve
months from the grant date, 33.33% after twenty-four months from the
grant date, and 33.34% after thirty-six months from the grant date. The
Exercise Price of the Options granted is HK$0.0074 per Share (in respect
of 21,419,696 share options), or US$0.0074 per Share (in respect of
28,078,914 share options) (equivalent to HK$0.0579 per Share based on
the exchange rate of HK$1.00 to US$0.1279).

The options granted vested as follows:

33.33% vested
Further 33.33% vested
Remaining 33.34% vested

On the 1st anniversary of the date of grant
On the 2nd anniversary of the date of grant
On the 3rd anniversary of the date of grant

No Option has been granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
to a Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company
or an associate of any of them (as defined in the Listing Rules) since its
adoption and up to December 31, 2022.
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The Company has not granted any Options to be satisfied by new Shares
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. Details of movements of the
number of the Options to be satisfied by existing Shares held by the
Nominee under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme for FY2022 are set
out below:
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Outstanding Outstanding Fair value

Period during Number of as at Granted Exercised Lapsed asat of the options

which rights options January 1, during during during December 31, Exercise at the date

Name Date of grant are exercisable granted 2022 FY2022 FY2022 FY2022 2022 Price of grant
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the Company the date of grant
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The closing price immediately before the date on which the options were
granted on 15 February 2018 was HK$0.92.

The total number of shares that may be issued in respect of options and
awards granted under all scheme of the Company during the year divided
by the weighted average number of shares in issue for the year was
1.56%.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE IN SECURITIES

As at December 31, 2022, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which (a) were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which he/
she was taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or
(b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in
the register referred to therein; or (c) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as
follows:

Interest in Shares or Underlying Shares of our
Company

Name of Director Nature of Interest

ERBSITBRAERESNE

Bkt

B _F+-A=+—8 ARAEELES
TERABRARA RAEEEE (TERES MBS
1EBIEXVER) B ~ HEREIIRYD REFFH A (a)RIE
BERPEEDEXVHETRESHEBMEARAR
A B AT (B IEIRIE 5 R S B M IE S - 1
EESRABENERIAR)  (b)RIBREEER
HA S 65 5 352 15 B AZ I BIFr 15 M B 2 it b
(C)BRIRIZE TR ZAME AN A R KB R TR 3K

KB

2 5%

RA QB R AEE R0 B EE

Approximate
percentage of the
Company'’s issued
share capital

Number of ordinary
shares interested®

ERARE BT
EEpnA ERME BEEZNEERBED RENMYBE S
Mr. LU Yuanfeng® Interest in controlled corporation; interest of 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
spouse; interest held jointly with another
person
BE R U S 4@ EEGDEERES  BEER BE AL
HERFAHER
Mr. HUANG Guozhan® Interest in controlled corporation; interest held 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
jointly with another person
wmEDESEA® R EEER B - AT HRABENER
Mr. HUANG Degiang® Interest in controlled corporation; interest held 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%

jointly with another person

EiRmkL® EEHEEER B - AT HRBENER

Notes:

(1) The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(2) Under the SFO, Mr. LU Yuanfeng is deemed to be interested in all Shares
held by LYF Digital Holdings Limited, a company which is wholly owned by
him. Mr. LU Yuanfeng is also deemed to be interested in all Shares held by (i)
Ms. LUO Simin as Ms. LUO Simin is the spouse of Mr. LU Yuanfeng; and (ii)
Mr. HUANG Guozhan and Mr. HUANG Degiang as they are parties acting in
concert.
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(3) Under the SFO, Mr. HUANG Guozhan is deemed to be interested in all Shares (3) REZFRAEED - EEUELEWR /R (I)LXT

held by (i) LXT Digital Holdings Limited, a company which is wholly owned by Digital Holdings Limited({¥ ® & B R A]) : &
him; and (ii) Mr. LU Yuanfeng, Ms. LUO Simin and Mr. HUANG Degiang as (iPERIE 4 - BREBH LT REEE L E (BRE
they are parties acting in concert. ER—BITHAL) 2RO FEA R -

(4)  Under the SFO, Mr. HUANG Degiang is deemed to be interested in all Shares (4) RIBEHFRBEGKD  FEBRLEREAR(I)

held by (i) HDQ Digital Holdings Limited, a company which is wholly owned by HDQ Digital Holdings Limited({E2&# G/ A
him; and (ii) Mr. LU Yuanfeng, Ms. LUO Simin and Mr. HUANG Guozhan as Al R(iPERESLAE - BERGLT REBELEE
they are parties acting in concert. (HRBEZER—BITBA L) HBROTHEEE
2 .
Interest in associated corporation R EE R

Approximate
percentage of

Capacity/nature Number of shareholding
Name of Director Associated Corporation of interest Shares interest
EEpnA HEEE B RmitE R EE BOREED L
Mr. LU Yuanfeng LYF Digital Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 100 100%
B R I 5 A2 LYF Digital Holdings Limited EmEA A
Mr. HUANG Guozhan LXT Digital Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 100 100%
E=EREE & LXT Digital Holdings Limited EmEA A
Mr. HUANG Degiang HDQ Digital Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 100 100%
=E®REA HDQ Digital Holdings Limited EmEA A

Note: B3

(1) Under the SFO, a holding company is regarded as an “associated (1) RIBEFH REBE G - T?%"ﬂ?ﬂi’rﬁ?’%ﬁﬁﬁ”

corporation.” As of December 31, 2022, LYF Digital Holdings Limited, LXT EE] BET-_—_F+=-A=+—8"

Digital Holdings Limited and HDQ Digital Holdings Limited held 27.64%, Digital Holdings Limited * LXT Digital Holdmgs
2.85% and 4.91% of our issued share capital, respectively, and thus are our Limited X HDQ Digital Holdings Limited % 53545
associated corporations. BB EITRANH27.64% ~ 2.85% 2 4.91% °

A lﬂimﬁdﬁ m*ﬁﬁwal °

Save as disclosed above and in the section headed “Post-IPO Share K?J:BZ&F%/’K@Ffﬂ?é‘%?é%ﬁﬁ%%‘f%M*ﬁﬁ&ﬁ%
Option Scheme” and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at LMBEEEAM R-TE-_—_F+=-A=+—8 "
December 31, 2022, none of the Directors or the chief executive of BEARREELERITHABRANA T &HE G
the Company has any interests and/or short positions in the shares, FE(ERRFBSLAEERMEXVED) B RMD - 48
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated ARG REFFHEEREBEZES LBAEROIEXVIHE
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were TRESHEBAME AN T REE A FT (BIEIRIEE
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant REAE GBI R - HWEESR RAEE R ZOX
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and 7)) IREE %&Hﬁfﬂﬂﬂ%SSZ1'%2,\.152\3%‘%17”%
short positions which he/she was taken or deemed to have under such M e RRBEESFRIENG ANA 7 KR
provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of FreiEss I SOK AR -

the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or which were

required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and

the Stock Exchange.

EREBHEEFRA
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at December 31, 2022, the following corporations/persons had RZZEZZF+ZA=Z+—0 REARAREES
interests of 5% or more in the issued shares of the Company according to REAERPIE 336K EFENER S LM -
the register of interests required to be kept by the Company under section ATEE ALHERARBEEHITRMN5% I L
336 of the SFO: K ¢

FERRNESFHED

Number of ordinary

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s
issued share

Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest shares interested® capital
EARAREET

RREEEB BEME RERENZTERHA RAHBMOE DL

Mr. LU Yuanfeng® Interest in a controlled corporation; interests 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
of spouse; interest held jointly with
another person

REJRIE S @ REHEE RS - RBER BE AL
HAHENERS

LYF Digital Holdings Limited Beneficial owner; interests held jointly with 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
another person

LYF Digital Holdings Limited EnAA BE-ATHABAENER

Ms. LUO Simin® Interest in a controlled corporation; interests 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
of spouse; interest held jointly with
another person

BREHELO REGEE RS  BEER B5—AL
HEFHAOER

Angel Age Limited Beneficial owner; interests held jointly with 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
another person

Angel Age Limited ERHAEA B - ALTHRBANER

Mr. HUANG Guozhan® Interest in a controlled corporation; interest 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
held jointly with another person

ERREL AW XEHEE RS - BE— AT RREBANER

LXT Digital Holdings Limited Beneficial owner; interests held jointly with 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%

LXT Digital Holdings Limited

another person
Enfh @R ATHAKENER
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Number of ordinary

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s
issued share

Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest shares interested” capital
HADRBET

RREE LB BEME REERSENEERBEO RANBMOE DL

Mr. HUANG Degiang® Interest in a controlled corporation; interest 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
held jointly with another person

BEARKEO REGEERR  BE - ATHAKENES

HDQ Digital Holdings Limited Beneficial owner; interests held jointly with 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
another person

HDQ Digital Holdings Limited EnlBA HE-ATHABENER

7Road Holdings Beneficial owner 294,144,901 (L) 14.71%

FLRBEER BERERA

The Core Trust Company Limited® Trustee 141,351,189(L) 7.07%

The Core Trust Company Limited® A

Epic City Limited® Nominee for another person 141,351,189(L) 7.07%

Epic City Limited®

S—ATHRABA

Notes:

(1

()

®)

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

Under the SFO, Mr. LU Yuanfeng is deemed to be interested in all Shares
held by LYF Digital Holdings Limited, a company which is wholly owned by
him. Mr. LU Yuanfeng is also deemed to be interested in all Shares held
by (i) Ms. LUO Simin as Ms. LUO Simin is the spouse of Mr. LU Yuanfeng;
and (i) Mr. HUANG Guozhan and Mr. HUANG Degiang, as they are parties

acting in concert.

Under the SFO, Ms. LUO Simin is deemed to be interested in all Shares
held by Angel Age Limited, a company which is wholly owned by her. Ms.
LUO Simin is also deemed to be interested in all Shares held by (i) Mr. LU
Yuanfeng as Mr. LU Yuanfeng is the spouse of Ms. LUO Simin; and (ii) Mr.
HUANG Guozhan and Mr. HUANG Degiang, as they are parties acting in
concert.

GER

(1

(2)

3)

BEREBHEEERAT

FEILIRTZALTREOPEIETE -

RIBEES REEGRE - BERELEEWRABRLYF
Digital Holdings Limited({E 2 &H BN A R)EHE
B2 IR R AR o BRI S A TMEIR AR ()
REHXL (HREERL T AELEENERB) R
(i EBE AR EEREE (BRBREA—BITH
AL RHBENRHRD R EAER o

RIEEF LB G - 5B L HE AR Angel
Age Limited(f% 2 & A KD R A2 A
hEEA LD - REBHZLIRERR()ERESLE
(RARERESERBLLEHNERMB) R (i) FEESE
EREEREE (ARRER—RITHALIRE
B2 BB R A o

ZEZFFR
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(4) Under the SFO, Mr. HUANG Guozhan is deemed to be interested in all
Shares held by (i) LXT Digital Holdings Limited, a company which is wholly
owned by him; and (ii) Mr. LU Yuanfeng, Ms. LUO Simin and Mr. HUANG
Degiang as they are parties acting in concert.

(5) Under the SFO, Mr. HUANG Degiang is deemed to be interested in all
Shares held by (i) HDQ Digital Holdings Limited, a company which is wholly
owned by him; and (ii) Mr. LU Yuanfeng, Ms. LUO Simin and Mr. HUANG
Guozhan as they are parties acting in concert.

(6) The Core Trust Company Limited, being the trustee of Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme, directly holds the entire issued share capital of Epic City
Limited, which holds Shares underlying the options to be granted under the
scheme for the benefit of eligible participants pursuant to such scheme.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as
at December 31, 2022, no person had registered an interest or a short
position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, at no time during FY2022
was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of Shares in, or debt securities including debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During FY2022, the Group’s largest customer accounted for 20% of the
Group’s total revenue. The Group’s five largest customers accounted for
69% of the Group’s total revenue.

During FY2022, the Group’s largest supplier accounted for 35% of the
Group’s total purchases. The Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
68% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined under
the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital)
has any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers or the
Group’s five largest customers.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS
OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
Shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at December 31, 2022, the Group had 153 employees (December
31, 2021: 170), 47 of which were responsible for game development and
maintenance, 77 for game operation and offline events organisation,
and 29 for general administration and corporate management. The total
remuneration expenses, excluding share-based compensation expense,
for FY2022 were approximately US$4.4 million, representing a decrease
of approximately 4.3% as compared to FY2021. The Group enters into
employment contracts with its employees to cover matters such as
position, term of employment, wage, employee benefits and liabilities for
breaches and grounds for termination.

Remuneration of the Group’s employees includes basic salaries,
allowances, bonus, share options and other employee benefits, and is
determined with reference to their experience, qualifications and general
market conditions. The emolument policy for the employees of the
Group is set up by the Board on the basis of their merit, qualification
and competence. We provide regular training to our employees in order
to improve their skills and knowledge. The training courses range from
further educational studies to skill training to professional development
courses for management personnel.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group’s employees in Hong Kong have all participated in the
Mandatory Provident Fund in Hong Kong. The employees of the PRC
subsidiaries are members of the state-managed retirement benefits
scheme operated by the PRC government. The employees of the PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to this retirement benefits scheme is
to make the required contributions under the scheme.

Details of the pension obligations of the Company are set out in Note 3to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

%ﬁ%%%ﬁk%ﬁﬁ@%j%
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for FY2022 are set
out in consolidated financial statements contained herein. The related
party transactions did not constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Board, as at the date of this annual report,
the Company has maintained the public float as required under the Listing
Rules.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance) in relation to the Director’s and officer’s liability insurance is
currently in force and was in force during FY2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company recognizes the importance of good corporate governance
for enhancing the management of the Company as well as preserving
the interests of the Shareholders as a whole. The Company has adopted
the code provisions set out in the CG Code as its own code to govern its
corporate governance practices.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with the
relevant code provisions contained in the CG Code during FY2022, save
for deviation from code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code for
FY2022. Please refer to the section headed “Board of Directors” in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 35 to 38 of this annual report for
details.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the
Company with an aim to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the

Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 34 to
52 of this annual report.
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DONATIONS

Since the COVID-19 Outbreak in early 2020, a series of precautionary
and control measures have been and continued to be implemented
across China and other countries in the world. To assume our social
responsibilities and offer humanitarian support, the Group has promptly
launched an assistance scheme in response to the COVID-19 Outbreak.
Under this scheme, the Group has mobilised its global subsidiaries to
procure medical masks, protective gowns and other medical supplies and
has donated the same to medical institutions, government bodies, and
charitable organisations in countries in the world in 2022.

Save as disclosed above, during FY2022, the Group did not make any
charitable donations.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for FY2022 have been audited
by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming 2023 AGM.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited has been appointed as the auditor of
the Company with effect from December 7, 2021. The former auditor
of the Group, PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”), has resigned as the
auditor of the Company with effect from December 6, 2021. There are
no disagreement or unresolved matters between the Company and PwC,
and that there are no other matter in connection with the resignation of
PwC which needs to be brought to the attention of the shareholders of
the Company. For further details regarding the change of auditor, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated December 6, 2021.

Apart from the above disclosure, there was no change in the Company’s
auditor in the past three years.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

For FY2022, the Company has complied with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Company.

On behalf of the Board
LU Yuanfeng
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, March 30, 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BRI HRE

s

ZHONGHUI

To the Shareholders of Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Digital
Hollywood Interactive Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 114 to 196,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022, and consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence
Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants (IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Revenue
Refer to Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s revenue from
online games amounted to USD11,141,954, representing 99.99% of the
Group’s total revenue. It was mainly derived from the sales of in-game
virtual items. The balance of associated contract liabilities amounted to
USD1,405,456 as at 31 December 2022.

The Group’s in-game virtual items are categorised as both consumable
virtual items and durable items. Revenue derived from consumable items
in its online game service are recognised once they are consumed.
Revenue derived from durable virtual items in its online game services
are recognised ratably over the lifespan of durable virtual items with
reference to the playing period of paying players (“Player Relationship
Period”), on a game by game basis. If the Group does not have the ability
to differentiate revenue attributable to durable items from consumable
items for a specific game, the Group recognises revenue from both
durable and consumable items for that game ratably over the Player
Relationship Period. During the year ended 31 December 2022, all
ingame virtual items were treated as durable items by the Group.

The determination of the Player Relationship Period for relevant game
virtual items requires significant judgement and estimates. It is made
taking into account all known and relevant information available to the
Group at the time of assessment. Thus, specific audit focus was placed in
this area.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)
BYRBERE ()

Our audit procedures included, among others: BANEFTEFERBEATRR

—  Understanding, evaluating and validating the key internal controls — TR AR S AR E A Rk e i
in relation to the recognition of revenue from in-game virtual items, BERBENBRAZTEET  BIEEREET
including oversight exercised by management in assessing the EMRERARGTEEREREANT ARA
Player Relationship Period and computing the monthly revenue of NHEREEMETHES

game virtual items performed by management on a sample basis;

—  Inspecting of evidence of management’s review on a sample basis; — DB FAeEEREETENNEE
—  Testing of the integrity and system logic of data and information for — B RARBEZFEEIRBEBNER
supporting the determination of the Player Relationship Period, on a BRARN TR R R GEENT

sample basis;

—  Discussing with management and evaluating their judgements and — MWEBENH - THEREREGEERMETT
estimations made in determining the Player Relationship Period for KRR BRPTVER FI BT R fRER -
each game;

—  Assessing the accuracy of the management’s judgements and —  BERUBMEFEFELENELER - FHEEE
estimations by comparing to historical patterns on a sample basis; [E BT VE HI B R A BT A ERE I

—  Testing the result of Player Relationship Period by reperforming the —  BERUBEFRENHE AR RAREN
computation on a sample basis; &

— Recalculating revenue and contract liabilities based on the —  UHESR - RESEESSNKARS
respective Player Relationship Period of each game on a sample EMFTEENAELRS -
basis.

We consider that the significant judgement and estimates involved in BMRE EEEETH SSENEREREER
determining the Player Relationship Period adopted by management EM AR AN TR B ERPTEZ ERHE &
in the revenue recognition of in-game virtual items of the Group were fHEr - BRASERENSZE -

supported by the available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

BAZBE®RE (&)

Prepayment for equity investments
Refer to Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of prepayment for equity investments
for impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit because
the balance of prepayment for equity investments of USD1,498,656 as
at 31 December 2022 and the impairment loss for that prepayment of
USD2,051,344 for the year ended 31 December 2022 are material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment
test involves application of judgement and is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;

- Assessing ageing of the prepayment for equity investments;

—  Assessing the financial information of the investments;

- Checking subsequent settlements;

- Obtaining and checking to evidence to support the Group’s
impairment assessment;

- Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to credit risk in
the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for prepayment for equity
investments is supported by the available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)
BYRBERE ()

OTHER
REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirement of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

BAZBE®RE (&)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)
BYRBERE ()

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate treats of safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

BAZBE®RE (&)

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yeung Hong Chun

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P07374

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SftEEREMEERER

For the year ended December 31, 2022 HiZ —ZT——

F+-A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E-CHF —E-—4F
Notes usb usD
Bt EH ET
Revenue LON 7 11,142,371 12,753,453
Cost of revenue (BN (6,483,418) (7,340,087)
Gross profit EF 4,658,953 5,413,366
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHAX (3,244,375) (3,091,368)
Administrative expenses TR (5,106,172) (3,046,413)
Research and development expenses R (2,138,944) (1,893,970)
Net impairment losses on financial assets CRLEEREBEREE (224,881) (531,515)
Other gains/(losses), net HiiEm 55 8 548,503 (155,041)
Operating loss KEEE (5,506,916) (3,304,941)
Finance income EUR TN 9 25,617 20,625
Finance costs B TE R AR 10 (267,175) (386,308)
Share of losses of associates REBERTNREBRE (17,481) -
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—KK B AR e - 479,461
Loss before income tax BRATBRATEE (5,765,955) (3,191,163)
Income tax expense FRS iR 11 (97,513) (176,757)
Loss for the year EREA 12 (5,863,468) (3,367,920)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income: Hib2m (X)W :
Item that will not be reclassified to TEENSHEEERAEL -
profit or loss:
— Changes in fair value of equity investments  — LAA R BEF & BE&ZE)
at fair value through other FT A Ath 2 U A4
comprehensive income HRENARBEEZY (210,040) (792,176)
ltem that may be reclassified to profit or loss: — AJfEE B HEE B HIHE -
— Exchange differences on translating — MEINETEHIE K E5E
foreign operations (821,380) 171,046
Other comprehensive expense for the year, SREMZEHEX @ £HNK
net of income tax JZiEEE) (1,031,420) (621,130)
Total comprehensive expense for the year HRZHEBAXHALE (6,894,888) (3,989,050)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)
SOHABRH2ERER (4)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
Notes usb usD
B 5% E EYM
Loss for the year attributable to: AT EEFRESSE :
— Owners of the Company S VNGIE 2PN (5,863,468) (3,367,920)
Total comprehensive expense for the year LI TEGFAZEBZELE :
attributable to:
— Owners of the Company . VNGIE 2SN (6,894,888) (3,989,050)
Loss per share (USD cents) BRER (E4W) 15
— Basic — &K (0.32) (0.18)
_ Diluted — 8 (0.32) (0.18)
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SO BRI R

As at December 31,2022 W —ZE-—F+=-A=+—H

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2022 2021
—E-CHF —E-—4F
Notes usbD uUsD
ihg=2 E3 e
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BRERRE 16 1,035,197 1,445,391
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 990,857 1,406,545
Intangible assets B EE 18 194,405 62,476
Interests in associates B N Bl R 2 20 26,367 -
Equity investments at fair value through NAanEETZ28HEH5
other comprehensive income AE 2 E I R R 1%
& 21 162,029 372,069
Prepayments and other receivables TEA 3R & H Ath fE U518 24 5,260,646 3,700,644
Deferred tax assets RIETIREE 29 154,656 99,094
7,824,157 7,086,219
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables B 5 EUGRIE 22 932,850 1,032,458
Contract costs BRI 23 591,896 803,382
Prepayments and other receivables TEA 3R R H Ath fE Y 5K IE 24 9,915,972 10,397,590
Short-term deposits ISEERER N 25 - 1,000,000
Bank and cash balances RITRINSEH 25 25,032,539 31,681,054
36,473,257 44,914,484
TOTAL ASSETS HWEE 44,297,414 52,000,703
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EEkEE
Equity Ex
Share capital & A< 30 2,000,000 2,000,000
Reserves 1] 31 32,298,740 39,193,628
Total equity R 34,298,740 41,193,628
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)
SO BRI R (&)

As at December 31,2022 A —FE - -4+ —-A=+—H

2022 2021
—E-—fF T —F
Notes uUsD UsD
ihg=2 E3 e
Liabilities aE
Current liabilities REBAaE
Trade payables B S ENFIB 26 1,259,567 1,788,977
Contract liabilities AHaE 23 1,745,077 2,218,271
Accruals and other payables FERT B A K E Ath FE S 308 27 5,482,683 4,801,778
Lease liabilities HEafE 28 321,501 344,469
Current tax liabilities BNEATE B & (& 242,025 277,602
9,050,853 9,431,097
Non-current liabilities kRBERS
Lease liabilities HEAE 28 947,821 1,375,978
Total liabilities wmeE 9,998,674 10,807,075
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES BEXREE 44,297,414 52,000,703

The consolidated financial statements on pages 114 to 196 were FEMM4E196 BN AR BREECHESeRN -
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 March CTEHEZ AT ANEREETIERIRASE -
2023 and signed on its behalf by:

Lu Yuanfeng Wang Guozhan
ek i U =HEE
Director Director
£ BF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
BHRERER

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—4F
usbD USD
ES ET
Cash flows from operating activities RELETZBNESR
Loss before income tax BRETISTRTEE (5,765,955) (3,191,163)
Adjustments for: AT EIBERE -
Amortisation of intangible assets A E 132,807 358,213
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ BERZHTE 311,349 347,122
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 315,002 328,640
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RWEB A A 86 - (479,461)
Impairment of prepayment for BB ENTBNFRE
equity investments 2,051,344 -
Impairment of prepaid royalty fees TET R B R (E 305,980 -
Interest revenue FEWA (25,617) (20,625)
Lease interests HERE 85,203 105,250
Loss allowance provision for trade receivables B SR IE BB R E 224,881 531,515
Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses [N (W) Ei8FsE (295,070) 235,403
Share-based payments expenses LARE1D B EL R A R B 2 - 67,362
Share of losses of associates FE(REE SN R E1E 17,481 -
Operating loss before changes EEELHBAIZKEEE
in working capital (2,642,595) (1,717,744)
Change in trade receivables B W RIa s 27,654 (329,204)
Change in contract costs BRI AR EE 211,486 (186,642)
Change in prepayments, deposits and TR - ke REMERFIBEZS)
other receivables (102,703) 3,302,919
Change in trade payables 2 ZENRIEEE) (517,644) 282,830
Change in contract liabilities AHEEEY (473,194) 123,404
Change in accruals and other payables FEETE B & H A T FRIEE &) 745,792 676,962
Cash (used in)/generated from operating activities &% &8 (FifA), FBRE (2,751,204) 2,152,525
Income tax paid B FTSE (153,075) (225,433)
Interest received B RIS 25,617 20,625
Lease interests paid BEAREFRE (85,203) (105,250)
Net cash (used in)/generated from "meEs (A, MBRLFE
operating activities (2,963,865) 1,842,467
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
AHRSRER ()

2022 2021
—EBF —E-—4F
usbD uUsD
EY eV
Cash flows from investing activities RERETBNRERE
Withdrawal of short-term deposits IREVE BB T 3Kk 1,000,000 5,000,000
Placement of short-term deposits EA G REhER Y - (1,000,000)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEME - BERE (5,224) (8,270)
Purchases of intangible assets BERTEE (113,196) -
Injection of an associate BENANEAR (43,470) -
Advance to an associate BN EEA (3,622,500) -
Net cash outflow arising on disposal of HE—RMBAREEANRE
a subsidiary T R EE - (472,007)
Net cash (used in)/generated from RETH () FMERLFE
investing activities (2,784,390) 3,519,723
Cash flows from financing activities REMETHNRESRE
Repayment of lease liabilities BREESAE (325,950) (308,039)
Net cash used in financing activities RMEETEMARSEE (325,950) (308,039)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and e RESZEY CAD)ENFE
cash equivalents (6,074,205) 5,054,151
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNIESTE RSB (574,310) (287,498)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of i%ﬂﬁ’ﬂﬁﬁ&ﬁ%%%%
the year 31,681,054 26,914,401
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of FRNEAEREEEEY
the year 25,032,539 31,681,054
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RERBSEEYIN
Bank and cash balances RITRBESER 25,032,539 31,681,054
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 24 November 2014 as
an exempted company with limited liability. The address of its
registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The address of its
principal place of business in Hong Kong is 11/F, Tai Sang Bank
Building, 784 Nathan Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The address of
its headquarters is 2nd Floor, No.368 Jiang Nan Da Dao (South),
Haizhu District, Guangzhou, the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”). The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the development, operations and publishing of
web-based games and mobile games business (“Game Business”)
in North America, Europe, the PRC and other regions.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) that are relevant
to its operations and effective for its accounting year beginning on
1 January 2022. IFRSs comprise International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”); International Accounting Standards; and
Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised IFRSs did
not result in significant changes to the Group’s accounting policies,
presentation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements and
amounts reported for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised IFRSs that have
been issued but are not yet effective. The Group has already
commenced an assessment of the impact of these new and revised
IFRSs but is not yet in a position to state whether these new
and revised IFRSs would have a material impact on its results of
operations and financial position.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Gk bR e

—REHR

BHREBHEBMARAF ([RAAR )R =T —
ME+—A-THEERSFSTMKLA
EHRRARAT o D F &M HEEE ik
#Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands e RARMEB LT 2LERXMEUNE
BIREMBBT8AF A ERITREIE - AR
AR P E AR KB (THE ) EMNT
BERRT R ABRI3685 8 o A AR
EEBMERSMARLNE (B TR E

m o

RRBB—REEERDE - RAF) REHK
BAR (BBEAIAEER]) T2RILEM - B
I~ o B T Lt 3 6 0E 2 R R N T A A R
MRS CEREITER ([BEER] -

BR A0 HT RT R ASAE BT B R Bt 5 3
HEEA

REE  AEBEERMWBEBR S ENEES
(TR EREEE |) M 82 E M
YN _—E - - A-HENEHFEHN
YRR PR #T AT RSB AT BB B 75 # a5 E
Al (TR TSR E R ) - BRI TS IRE %
B EB BRI EL (BRI B HREE
811) - B et R R R o AR R
7B B 75 3 5 AR B I S R SR B AR F 2 JB
EFEZEFBER AEBAHEBTRERZE
BEERESHFEREAZE -

A R R B AR B i R AR 2 #7 AT R4S
ERT B B B s 5 2Rl » RSB B R in a1k a%
SHATREETRRBREENZZE B
REER AL FHT AT AR ME AT BB B 75 e 5 B
ERHEEEERI RN EREATZE

BHREBHEEERAT

T FFIR @




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R R M EE (&)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IFRSs issued by IASB and the applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by investments which are
carried at their fair values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions and
estimates. It also requires the directors to exercise its judgements in
the process of applying the accounting policies. The areas involving
critical judgements and areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to these consolidated financial statements, are disclosed
in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties,
to determine whether it has control. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability to exercise that
right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is

transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date the
control ceases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Consolidation (Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a
loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of
the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment
retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill relating to that
subsidiary and any related accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not control
or joint control over those policies. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible,
including potential voting rights held by other entities, are considered
when assessing whether the Group has significant influence. In
assessing whether a potential voting right contributes to significant
influence, the holder’ s intention and financial ability to exercise or
convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially recognised
at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate in an
acquisition are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date.
The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying
amount of the investment and is tested for impairment together with
the investment at the end of each reporting period when there is
objective evidence that the investment is impaired. Any excess of
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R R M EE (&)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Associates (Continued)

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits or losses
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share of the post-
acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in the consolidated
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the
associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate. If the associate
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its
share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the
share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a
loss of significant influence represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that associate and (ii) the Group’s share of
the net assets of that associate plus any remaining goodwill relating
to that associate and any related accumulated foreign currency
translation reserve. If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture, the Group continues to apply the
equity method and does not remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R R M EE (&)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in United States Dollars (“USD”), which is the
Company'’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and
liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange
rates at the end of each reporting period. Gains and losses
resulting from this translation policy are recognised in profit or
loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in foreign
currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income.
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R R M EE (&)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Translation on consolidation
The results and financial position of all the Group entities
that have a functional currency different from the Company’s
presentation currency are translated into the Company’s
presentation currency as follows:

(i) Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that statement of financial position;

(i) Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

(iii) All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the
exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of
borrowings are recognised in the exchange reserve. When
a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or
loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss
during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates
sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over the
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal useful
lives are as follows:
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Leasehold improvement Shorter of estimated useful HEMEEE hET Al EAF B R T
lives or remaining lease term T (B EERLE)
Office equipment 5 years N 5%
Motor vehicles 5 years = 5%
Computers 3 years B 3F

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R R M EE (&)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Leases

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding
lease liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by
the Group. Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use
assets is calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
The principal lease terms are ranging from 1 to 9 years.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount
of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments
prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the lease payments discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be
determined, or otherwise the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are leases with an
initial lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets
of value below USD5,000.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in
the period in which is it incurred.

Game intellectual properties and licenses

Under certain exclusive online mobile games arrangements
entered between the Group and the game developers, the Group
pays upfront license fees to the game developers as the Group
obtained the games developed by those game developers. The
Group recognises the upfront license fee an intangible assets.
The intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over
the expected economic life, ranging from 2 to 3 years. These
amortisation are recorded in cost of revenue (where the games
are commercially launched) or administrative expenses (where the
games are not yet commercially launched).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Computer software

Computer software is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 3 years.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets;
or the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not retained
control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a contract
whose terms require delivery of the asset within the timeframe
established by the market concerned, and are initially recognised at
fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the
case of investments at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R R M EE (&)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets of the Group are classified as under the following
categories:

(a)

(b)

Financial assets at amortised cost; and

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables)
are classified under this category if they satisfy both of the
following conditions:

— the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less loss allowance for expected
credit losses.

Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

On initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable
election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading
as at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income are subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair values recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
equity investment revaluation reserve. On derecognition of
an investment, the cumulative gains or losses previously
accumulated in the equity investment revaluation reserve are
not reclassified to profit or loss.

Dividends on these investments are recognised in profit or
loss, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part
of the cost of the investment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses
on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit losses are
the weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of a
default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the
loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to
the expected credit losses that result from all possible default
events over the expected life of that financial instrument (“lifetime
expected credit losses”) for trade receivables, or if the credit risk
on that financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the
loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal
to the portion of lifetime expected credit losses that represents
the expected credit losses that result from default events on that
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the loss
allowance at the end of the reporting period to the required amount
is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand
deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term
highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in
value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included as
a component of cash and cash equivalents.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R R M EE (&)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under IFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer with reference to the customary business
practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third
parties. For a contract where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised product or service
exceeds one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service to a
customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that
apply to that contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied over
time or at a point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over
time if:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of
the product or service.

Other revenue

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Employee benefits

(a) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave
are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision
is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long
service leave as a result of services rendered by employees up
to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
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For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Pension obligations

The Group’s companies incorporated in the PRC contribute
based on certain percentage of the salaries of the employees
to a defined contribution retirement benefit plan and other
defined contribution social security plans organised by relevant
government authorities in the PRC on a monthly basis. The
government authorities undertake to assume the retirement
benefit obligations payable and other social security payables
to all existing and future retired employees under these
plans and the Group has no further obligation beyond the
contributions made. Contributions to these plans are expensed
as incurred. Assets of the plans are held and managed by
government authorities and are separate from those of the
Group.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs
and involves the payment of termination benefits.

Share-based payments

The Group operates the Share Option Scheme, which is an equity-
settled share-based compensation plan under which share awards
are granted to employees as part of their remuneration packages.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured
at the fair value (excluding the effect of non market-based vesting
conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair
value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant
of the share-based awards is recognised as an expense over the
vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified
vesting conditions are to be satisfied, and credited to share premium
under equity. The total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the share-based awards granted:

- including any market performance conditions;

- excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions; and

- including the impact of any non-vesting conditions.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of share-based awards that are expected to vest
based on the non-marketing performance and service conditions. It
recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in
profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

If the terms of a share-based award are modified, at a minimum an
expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified. An
additional expense is recognised for any modification that increases
the total fair value of the share-based payments arrangement,
or is otherwise beneficial to the employee and other qualifying
participants, as measured at the date of modification.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and recognised
in profit or loss over the period to match them with the costs they
are intended to compensate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
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For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or
unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply
in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in
profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
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For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purpose of allocating resources and assessing
the performance of the Group’s various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the nature of productions processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or
provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(if) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Company or of a parent of the Company.
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For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Company are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management

personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii

=

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
Company or to a parent of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
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For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Impairment of assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or not yet
available for use are reviewed annually for impairment and
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets except deferred tax
assets, investments and receivables to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of any impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of any impairment loss.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset or cash — generating unit is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset or cash-generating
unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss
is treated as a revaluation increase.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount
when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditures
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation
is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of
outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non — occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information
about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting period or
those that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate
are adjusting events and are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements. Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting
events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
B OB R R M EE (&)
For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE
4. KEY ESTIMATES
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below.

(a) Estimates of the playing period of paying players
(“Player Relationship Period”) in the Group’s game
publishing services
As described in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group recognises revenue from durable virtual items
ratably over the Player Relationship Period. The determination
of Player Relationship Period of each game is based on the
Group’s best estimate that takes into account all known and
relevant information at the time of assessment. Such estimates
are subject to re-evaluation on a semi-annual basis. Any
adjustments arising from changes in the Player Relationship
Period as a result of new information will be accounted for
prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.

(b) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

(c) Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts
based on assessments of the recoverability of the trade and
other receivables, including the current creditworthiness and
the past collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise
where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
balances may not be collectible. The identification of bad and
doubtful debts requires the use of judgement and estimates.
Where the actual result is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of the trade and
other receivables and doubtful debt expenses in the year in
which such estimate has been changed.

FEME
=t B3 B B 3 Y 2RR

TXARBARARRA T ERR R E RS
ATHBREMNEMTERR  ZFERREK
RERERRR - TSR TESREFEEE
LA BERAEREHEIE -

(a) HAKEERETREFMNEILK
MBEFERRE ([TTHREBEB H
fh&T

HINE G MR ET L - AEE
RITREE R R L R TR RERY
mE A - BEER A ITR BRI TIR
BEARBNSEGHET - EPFER
AT A MRARREER - ZEMAE
BEFEHTE R - BRERERT
REAFREBESD RS RO EAREEIER
TAEI BT E B AR -

(b) FA1SM
AEBEARE T AVERRBMMER -
EEMSHBERATEERMGS - 1
—REBBRRE  FEXHRAEHRRK
BEEEFETEERE - WZEEE
MERERASERBINKNLHENE
HoREHEZREREEHARETES
8 O P 1S Bt SR SE L IR B ©

(c) REFRHBERRE
AEENRZRAEBEDBEEES
REMEYFIEN A EENE (BESHA
BB AR B BEE OB WR ) &
FPAMAEL - REARRAERIEN LE
FER O EHRBERED T & R
B - BAIRIERT ZEB A B MG -
HERSRA RN RRMEE - BIZER
BRZEFTHRESNFEZEESH N
H R MR A R R ARG S MO BRTEN(E ©
BB AT BARR B - GEHEED
FFREBENIRE - RITT 8L TR RSN -

ZEZFFR

BEREBHEEERAT




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign
currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate
risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk as
most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) and EURO (“EUR”) and
Hong Kong dollar (“HKD”). The Group currently does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its
foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2022, if USD had weakened/strengthened
5% against RMB with all other variables held constant,
consolidated loss after income tax for the year would have
been approximately USD177,000 (2021: USD175,000) higher/
lower, respectively, arising mainly as a result of the foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of RMB-denominated
receivables and payables.

As at 31 December 2022, if USD had weakened/strengthened
5% against EUR with all other variables held constant,
consolidated loss after income tax for the year would have
been approximately USD116,000 (2021: USD100,000) lower/
higher, respectively, arising mainly as a result of the foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of EUR-denominated
cash and cash equivalents.

The cash and cash equivalents, receivables and payables
of the Group’s Hong Kong entities are denominated in HKD,
which is pegged against USD, and are not therefore subject to
significant foreign currency risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R R M EE (&)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Price risk

(c)

The Group’ s equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period. Therefore, the Group is exposed
to equity security price risk. The directors of the Company
manage this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments
with difference risk profiles.

As at 31 December 2022, if the share prices of the investments
increase/decrease by 5%, the other comprehensive income
would have been approximately USD8,000 (2021: USD19,000)
higher/lower, arising as a result of the fair value gain/loss of
the investments.

Credit risk

The carrying amount of the bank and cash balances, trade and
other receivables, and investments included in the statement of
financial position represents the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in relation to the Group’s financial assets.

The credit risk on bank and cash balances and investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income are
limited because the counterparties are all high-credit-quality
financial institutions in the PRC and Hong Kong. There has
been no recent history of default in relation to these financial
institutions.

Trade receivables and certain other receivables at the
end of each reporting period were due from the Platforms
and payment channels in cooperation with the Group. If
the strategic relationship with the Platforms and payment
channels is terminated or scaled-back; or if the Platforms and
payment channels alter the co-operative arrangements; or if
they experience financial difficulties in paying the Group, the
Group’s game development receivables might be adversely
affected in terms of recoverability. To minimise this risk, the
Group maintains frequent communications with the Platforms
and payment channels to ensure the effective credit control.
In view of the history of cooperation with the Platforms
and payment channels and the sound collection history of
receivables due from them, the directors believe that the credit
risk inherent in the Group’ s outstanding trade receivable
balances due from the Platforms and payment channels is low.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE
5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(c) Credit risk (Continued)

For other receivables not due from payment channels,
management makes periodic collective assessments as well as
individual assessment on the recoverability of other receivables
based on historical settlement records and past experience.
The directors of the Company believe that there is no material
credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding balance of other
receivables.

The Group considers whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of financial assets on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period by comparing the risk of a
default occurring as at the reporting date with the risk of default
as at the date of initial recognition. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following information is used:

- internal credit rating;
- external credit rating (if available);

- actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the borrower’s
ability to meet its obligations;

- actual or expected significant changes in the operating
results of the borrower;

- significant changes in the value of the collateral or in the
quality of guarantees or credit enhancements; and

- significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the borrower, including changes in the
payment status of borrowers.

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is
more than 30 days past due in making a contractual payment.
A default on a financial asset is when the counterparty fails to
make contractual payments within 60 days of when they fall
due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R R M EE (&)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE
5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk (Continued)

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage
in a repayment plan with the Group. The Group normally
categorises a loan or receivable for write off when a debtor
fails to make contractual payments greater than 360 days past
due. Where loans or receivables have been written off, the
Group, if practicable and economical, continues to engage in
enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivable due.

The Group uses two categories for non-trade receivables
which reflect their credit risk and how the loan loss provision
is determined for each of the categories. In calculating the
expected credit loss rates, the Group considers historical loss
rates for each category and adjusts for forward looking data.

Definition

Category Loss provision

Performing Low risk of default 12-month expected
and strong capacity to losses

pay

Non-performing  Significant increase in Lifetime expected

credit risk losses

Liquidity risk
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient

reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

SOt R M (&)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continved)y 5. BMIREBEE a

(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) REVE SRR (2)
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash flows, of AEENeREBEENRURBASGRE
the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows: KEIEDTAT ¢
Between Between
Less than 1and 2 2and 5
1 year years years Total
DRE 16526 26 B5% Foy
usD usbD usD usD
E EY EY EY
At 31 December 2022 R-B=ZZF
+=A=+-8
Trade payables B S ENIE 1,259,567 - - 1,259,567
Accruals and other payables FEEtE R R E MM FIE 5,294,776 - - 5,294,776
Lease liabilities HEAE 386,492 377,097 649,236 1,412,825
6,940,835 377,097 649,236 7,967,168
At 31 December 2021 RZTZ—F
+=A=1+—8
Trade payables B S ENRIE 1,788,977 - - 1,788,977
Accruals and other payables FEFtE R R EMENIE 4,628,295 - - 4,628,295
Lease liabilities HEEE 434,850 417,557 1,114,163 1,966,570
6,852,122 417,557 1,114,163 8,383,842
(e) Interest rate risk (e) FIZE=
As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets and HRASEETESAFREEMEE
liabilities, the Group’s operating cash flows are substantially WAEENKERREAMTX MG
independent of changes in market interest rates. MEEBHHTE -
The Group’s exposure to interest-rate risk arises from its bank AEEBFMEHOFERREZHREEIR
deposits. These deposits bear interests at variable rates varied TR - ZEFEFAZBHMEGE - W
with the then prevailing market condition. MEFEZRTRES -
No sensitivity analysis is presented as the directors of the HRARBIESFR AT EREEBENIRTT
Company consider that the interest rate fluctuation on interest HEROFBEWATETIKR Bt ES
income from bank balances is insignificant. PIBERE DT ©
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AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(f) Categories of financial instruments at 31

5. BIBEKRERE @

) RT-—A=+—-AWEBIT

December XA
2022 2021
—E-CHF —E-—4F
usbD USD
ESH I
Financial assets: SREE
Equity investments at fair value BRAnEBEGEAHEZESHA
through other comprehensive HEh 2 EW AR ERIZE
income 162,029 372,069
Financial assets at amortised cost REHEN AT ENSREE
(including cash and cash (BREReMASEED)
equivalents) 29,126,330 37,752,439
Financial liabilities: ERaE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHKAHENEREE 7,823,665 8,137,719

(g) Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of
financial position approximate their respective fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

Bt R R M = ()
For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE
6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market

participants at the measurement date. The following disclosures of

fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises

into three levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure

fair value:

Level 1 inputs:

Level 2 inputs:

Level 3 inputs:

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can
access at the measurement date.

inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly.

unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out
of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in
circumstances that caused the transfer.

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 December

Fair value measurements using level 1:

QIREEE
RABERENSHSEE ZHNGERIHET
MEFR ST HEEEMBEBRNERLER A
BN EER - LT AR EBEFESRECS
BWARBEER  SHA2AAEEFANGE
BT RBABIED B=EFR

FMBARE ©  AKERFHE R IR AR
SHHEREERBER
IR 5 2 B ORI
).

MEERBEEERMEE
AIBR 2 AR (5
—RABIERIRERIN)

FE_RBABUE

FE=ZRBARE : BEXREZTAUHRE

NEHR -
ZK’*IE‘JB{ RAMREEEREEMNEREAGIK
MEBHEALZE=ESFHNENEARE
& o
(@) RT-A=+t—HNRAREBEEBRHE

EAE-—BORAEEAE

2022 2021
—E- & B
usbD USD
EY EYH
Description B
Recurring fair value measurements: &KEMQAABENE
Equity investments at fair value BRAnEAEGEAEZEHA
through other comprehensive Hih2mlma =iz d
income
— Listed security in Hong Kong — BB L™ 162,029 372,069
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For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE
7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

7. WARDEBESR

2022 2021
s —E-—F
usbD UsD
Ep e
Online game revenue FERES 3PN 11,141,954 12,752,704
Advertising revenue BEERA 417 749
Total revenue R 11,142,371 12,753,453
Disaggregation of revenue from REEFEHNBAZS I :
contracts with customers:
Timing of revenue recognition WA TR
Over time BERSRIB A 11,142,371 12,753,453

Segment information

For management purpose, the executive directors of the Company
consider that the Group generates revenue primarily from the
provision of online game services. The executive directors of
the Company review the operating results of the business as
one segment to make strategic decisions about resources to be
allocated. Therefore, the executive directors of the Company
consider that there is only one segment of the Group and no further
analysis is presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R R M EE (&)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE
7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
Revenue from major customers:

The Group has a large number of game players, no individual game
players generated revenue which exceeded 10% or more of the
Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

The revenue generated from top five largest revenue collection
platforms, accounted for 69% (2021: 73%) of the Group’s revenue
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The following table summarises the percentage of revenue from
games licensed by a single company or group exceeding 10% of the
Group’ s revenue during the year ended 31 December 2022:

WAR D EBE R @)

REEEEFHEA :

AEEREAHEBEANEBIR - #BEERE
BUREANBABBAERREBE=_S-=
FTZA=T—BLEFERAN10%KNA E
(ZZ=—F :|)-

REAARBABZFEFEHBAEREEEHEE
—E - _F+ A=+ —BHLEFENKAN
69% (=T _—4F : 73%) °

TEHIREBEE-_E-_—F+=-A=+—H1t
FEKREE—RAIREBIREEE MG AL
B AFBIE10% U AMELE

2022 2021
—E-— T4

ES =W

Game licensor A PRI EAA 20% 27%

Geographical information

Non-current assets other than financial instruments and deferred tax
assets, by country:

1 35 & R

RERBDWIFRDEE (SR TARREM
BREERI) -

2022 2021

—E-CHF —E_—4F

usb USD

E3 e

BVI HBEITHES 1,448,656 3,500,000
The PRC i 5,825,692 2,910,312
Hong Kong B 179,674 149,656
Other locations Hftbih = 53,450 55,088
7,507,472 6,615,056

No geographical information for revenue is presented as 99.99% of
the Group’s revenue are derived from global online customers.
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(Continued)
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For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

7.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
Game publishing service revenue

The Group is a publisher of online games developed by third party
game developers or its own. The Group licenses online games from
game developers and earns game publishing service revenue by
making a localised version of the licensed games and publishing
them to the game players through distribution platforms, include
major social networking websites (such as Facebook), online
application stores (such as Apple Inc.’s App Store (“Apple App”) and
Google Play installed in mobile telecommunications devices), web-
based and mobile game portals in certain countries and regions
(collectively referred to as “Platforms”), including the Group’s
websites. The games licensed to the Group are operated under
a free-to-play model whereby game players can play the games
free of charge and are charged for the purchase of Game Tokens
or other virtual items via payment channels, such as the various
mobile carriers and third-party internet payment systems (collectively
referred to as “payment channels”).

(i)  Principal Agent Consideration
Third party developed games
Proceeds earned from selling Game Tokens and other virtual
items are shared between the Group and game developers,
with the amount paid to game developers generally calculated
based on face value of Game Tokens or other virtual items
determined by game developers, after deducting certain
deductible fees, multiplied by a predetermined percentage
for each game. The deductible fees are predetermined and
negotiated game by game, including the fees paid to the
payment channels and the Platforms, as well as the credit
allowable for deduction for each game.

WAR D EBE R @)

PR A AT AR IS WA
REBA—RPHEERETH  BITHE=H
HEAERNE FRAENRGEE - AEER
PSS RS EN MR ER  WRIEZER
BEREBOAR TR RBERETRE (BEE
B4k (WNFacebook) « 4 FEMR2AE
JE (BB EERERHApple Inc. By
App Store ([ Apple AppJ) % Google Play) *
ETERRENEE KB EHEEMIFHL
(ZBAITa] BEAEERIL))BITTHE
BITR - B BB TR A - RNEE
BREOEEDARBEIENLE Bt
PEEITR AT A B DUl R AT B B R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE
7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
Game publishing service revenue (Continued)

(i)  Principal Agent Consideration (Continued)
Third party developed games (Continued)
(1) The Group acts as Agent

With respect to the Group’s game licenses arrangements
entered into during the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021, the Group considered that the (i) game
developers are responsible for providing the game
product desired by the game players; (ii) the costs
incurred by the game developers to develop the games
are more than the licensing costs and game localisations
costs incurred by the Group; (iii) game developers have
the right to determine the pricing of in-game virtual items
and the specification, modification or update of the game
proposed by the Group. The Group ' s responsibilities
are publishing, providing payment solution and market
promotion service, and thus the Group views game
developers to be its customers and considers itself as
the agent of game developers in the arrangements with
game players. Accordingly, the Group records the game
publishing service revenue from these licensed games,
net of amounts paid to game developers.

Games operated directly by the Group:

Games operated directly by the Group are in the form
of self-operation on its own websites and cooperation
with Platforms, which the Group is responsible for
determining Platforms and payment channels, hosting and
maintenance of game servers for game running, providing
customer service as well as marketing activities. For
games self-operated by the Group, payment channels are
responsible for payment collections related to the games.
For games cooperated with Platforms, Platforms are
responsible for distribution, platform maintenance, paying
player authentication and payment collections related to
the games.
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For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE
7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Game publishing service revenue (Continued)

(i) Principal Agent Consideration (Continued)
Third party developed games (Continued)

(1)

The Group acts as Agent (Continued)

Games operated directly by the Group: (Continued)

As the Group is responsible for identifying, contracting
with and maintaining the relationships of Platforms and
payment channels, commission fees paid to Platforms
and payment channels are included in cost of revenues
and presented on a gross basis. The Group considers it
is the primary obligor to game developers for the reasons
identified above as it has been given latitude by game
developers in selecting Platform and payment channels
for its service to game developers.

Different from the above analysis, for games cooperated
with Facebook if it had been specified by game
developers and Apple App, the game developers are
fully aware of Facebook and Apple App ' s roles and
responsibilities. The Group considered that Facebook,
Apple App and itself provide services to the game
developers together, as the Group does not have the
latitude in selecting and negotiation with Facebook and
Apple App and does not have the primary responsibility
to game developers for the service provided by them,
commission charges by Facebook and Apple App are
deducted from revenue.

Games subcontracted to Platforms:

Certain games are subcontracted to Platforms to operate
directly. For such subcontracted games, Platforms are
responsible for determining secondary Platforms and
payment channels, hosting and maintenance of game
servers for game running, providing customer service as
well as marketing activities. The Group’ s responsibilities
are delivering games to Platforms, and thus the Group
views the game developers to be its customers and
considers itself as the agent of game developers in the
arrangements with Platforms, as the Group does not
have the primary responsibility to game developers for
the service provided by these Platforms. Accordingly, the
Group records revenue on a net basis, amounts paid to
game developers and revenue-sharing amounts paid to
Platforms or third party payment vendors are deducted
from revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R R M EE (&)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WARDZIER &

(Continued)

T B AT IR AE WA (1)

(i) Principal Agent Consideration (Continued) (i)  FEEAE(E)

Game publishing service revenue (Continued)

Third party developed games (Continued)

(2) The Group acts as Principal
During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
there was a game license arrangement under which the
Group takes primary responsibilities of further game
development and updates, game operation, including
determining Platforms and payment channels, providing
customer services, hosting game servers, if needed, and
controlling pricing and game and services specifications
during the license period. The Group bears the cost
incurred to further develop the game. Under this type of
game license arrangement, the Group considers itself as
a principal in this arrangement. Accordingly, the Group
records the online game revenue from this third party
licensed game on a gross basis. Commission fees paid
to Platforms and payment channels and amortisation
of license fees paid to third party game developer are
recorded as cost of revenues.

Self-developed games

The Group sometimes enters into license arrangements
under which the Group takes primary responsibilities of game
development and game operation, including determining
Platforms and payment channels, providing customer services,
hosting game servers, if needed, and controlling pricing and
game and services specifications. The Group bears the cost
incurred to develop the games. Under this type of agreements,
the Group considers itself the principal. Accordingly, the Group
records the online game revenues from these games on a
gross basis. Commission fees paid to Platforms and payment
channels and amounts paid to licensor are recorded as cost of
revenue.

The Group self-develops mobile games. Revenues derived
from self-developed games are recorded on a gross basis as
the Group acts as a principal to fulfil most obligations related to
the mobile game operation. Commission fees paid to Platforms
and payment channels are recorded as cost of revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R R M EE (&)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WARDZIER &

(Continued)

Game publishing service revenue (Continued) T B AT IR AE WA (1)
(i) Timing of revenue recognition (i) WA TEREF
Third party developed games (Continued) FE=FAERE
(1) The Group acts as Agent (1) AEEEZRE
Games operated directly by the Group: REBEFELE MR
For the purposes of determining when services have AEER S EERITRIEEREH
been provided to the respective players, the Group has BE AKEREE TSR

determined the following:

—  Consumable virtual items represent items that are — HREEERBEYMmEEERSE
extinguished after consumption in the form of fixed Ema BN EREEE A
charges levied on each round of games played. The FAERETBFEENY
paying players will not continue to benefit from the me BRI E KT #E
virtual items thereafter. Revenue is recognised at a BESNZEERD M - W
point in time (as a release from contract liabilities) AT i 4% FE A e 12 (it 48
when the items are consumed and the related 28 Al 765 s M B B e 3R (1
services are rendered. REVABENER)

—  Durable virtual items represent items that are - WHREREYREERENER
accessible and beneficial to paying players over RARKBERARZEND
an extended period of time. Revenue is recognised mm oo Y AR 3 AR 2 I8 Y i R
ratably over the average life of durable virtual items FHE R Y @ E T 5 0] B R A
for the applicable game, which the Group makes (R AREBEFEREMEH
best estimates to be average Player Relationship FHTTRBEERE) AR fI
Period. R o

The Group estimates the Player Relationship Period on REBZERBERE — (M ITREA

a game-by-game basis and re-assesses such periods FE - WEBYFEMHZFHR -

semi-annually. If there is insufficient data to determine the fie) I % 2 S B0 BUBR R BEE T R R

Player Relationship Period, such as in the case of a newly H - flansrm e - AR KRS

launched game, it estimates the Player Relationship REBSE=FREBAENEM

Period based on other similar types of games developed BEEBRGAIRERR B2

by the Group or by third-party developers until the new MEBEYERGOEXFESL

game establishes its own patterns and history. The Group ERFIIRERER - AEEZE
considers the games profile, target audience, and its BRI - BER - WRERE
appeal to players of different demographics groups in RARABERNTTRARS| S -

estimating the Player Relationship Period.

If the Group does not have the ability to differentiate i 7% 5= B 40 0 b A5 T b A SE FR R
revenue attributable to durable virtual items from ERDRPES BRERY @O
consumable virtual items for a specific game, the Group EAEIA - AIREEE@RITR B R
recognises revenue from both durable and consumable BRI L 71 W SR 52 2 B 2R B T R
virtual items for that game ratably over the Player TEFEEE R MBI -

Relationship Period.

BEREBHEEERAT

T —FFIR @




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R R M EE (&)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE
7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
Game publishing service revenue (Continued)

(i) Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

Third party developed games (Continued)

(1) The Group acts as Agent (Continued)
Games subcontracted to Platforms:
Revenue of games subcontracted to Platforms are
recognised ratably over the Player Relationship Period,
for (i) the Group has a continuous obligation to game
developers to coordinate Platforms for providing service
to game players, and (ii) the Group does not have the
ability to differentiate revenue from games subcontracted
to Platforms attributable to durable virtual items from
consumable virtual items for a specific game.

(2) The Group acts as Principal
Revenue of third party developed games when the Group
acts as a Principal are recognised ratably over the Player
Relationship Period or as the durable virtual items are
consumed, which is similar to the policy of third party
developed games operated directly by the Group when
the Group acts as an Agent mentioned above.

Self-developed games

Revenue of self-developed games are recognised ratably
over the Player Relationship Period or as the durable virtual
items are consumed, which is similar to the policy of third
party developed games when the Group acts as a Principal
mentioned above.

Advertising revenue

The Group provides advertising placement for a specified period on
the interface of online games. The Group recognises revenue ratably
over the period during which the advertising services are provided.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

SOt R M (&)
For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE
8. OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET 8. HftiEdxTE
2022 2021
—E-CHF —E-—F
usbD UsD
Ep ET
Government grants IR 48 B 253,915 43,675
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) b i8558 295,070 (235,403)
Others Hity (482) 36,687
548,503 (155,041)
9. FINANCE INCOME 9. BIFEUWA
2022 2021
—E-CF - —F
uUsD UsD
ES ET
Interest revenue from bank balances KB RITESHAF WA 25,617 20,625
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BA TR AR
2022 2021
—E-CHF —EF-—fF
usb USD
ES ET
Lease interests HEFE 85,203 105,250
Net foreign exchange losses bE B 1855 181,972 281,058

267,175 386,308




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

11.INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. TERAX
2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—F
uUsbD UsD
ETT ET
Current tax — Overseas withholding BEATRIE — BINEHIATSEL
income tax (“WHT”) ([FEFT18HL)
— Provision for the year — FAEE 153,075 198,832
Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income BVEATHIE — R B ZEFTIEHL
Tax (“EIT”) (TEEmRER])
— Under-provision in prior year — LFEBETR - 77,019
Deferred tax (Note 29) IRIEFLIE (M13E29) (55,562) (99,094)
97,513 176,757

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Act of
Cayman lIslands and accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands
income tax.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the BVI, the company
incorporated in BVI are not subject to any income tax.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 as the Group did not generate
any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during both years.

Guangzhou You Lai Information Technology Company Limited was
qualified as “Advanced Technology Service Enterprises” in 2022 and
2021 and was entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15% for
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Guangzhou Zhang Ying Kong Information Technology Company
Limited was qualified as “Small Low-Profit Enterprise” for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 and was entitled to a
preferential income tax rate that was calculated in accordance with
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. Under the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime, the first RMB1 million of profits of qualifying
corporation are taxed 2.5%, and profits above RMB1 million are
taxed at 10% from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021. From 1
January 2022 to 31 December 2022, the first RMB1 million of profits
of qualifying corporation are taxed 2.5%, and profits above RMB1
million are taxed at 5%.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R R M EE (&)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE
11.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

No income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations in the
PRC has been made for the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021 as the Group did not generate any assessable profits during
the both years.

According to the applicable PRC tax regulations, dividends
distributed by a company established in the PRC to a foreign
investor with respect to profits derived after 1 January 2008 are
generally subject to a 10% WHT. If a foreign investor incorporated in
Hong Kong meets the conditions and requirements under the double
taxation treaty arrangement entered into between the PRC and Hong
Kong, the relevant withholding tax rate will be reduced from 10% to
5%.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group
does not have any plan to require its PRC subsidiaries to distribute
their retained earnings and intends to retain them to operate and
expand its business in the PRC. Accordingly, no deferred income tax
liability on PRC WHT was accrued as of the end of each reporting
period.

The Group has subcontracted games to a platform operating in
Vietnam. According to the applicable the Vietnam tax regulations,
royalty fees generated from Vietnam are subject to a 10% WHT.

The Group cooperates with a platform in Brazil. According to the
applicable the Brazil tax regulations, income generated from Brazil
is subject to 10% remittance tax and 15% income tax, which is
withheld by the platform.

1. R8I @)

HE-T-—FrR-F-_—F+-A=+—H
IEFE - AEBEKRREREOEFREAER
2ES  AAREREEMEFEYREET
o] FE AL A o

RBEROPEBBER - RPEKIZN AR
R-TEENF-A-BZERELENENRSI
Bl E & 0 R BUE — AR ZE SN 10% 5 T8I0
Bi o MHNBEBEMAZOIEKREEFED
HEEBZ R LM EERBROLEA TR
T RARE - BRI R AR EAS UL 10% TR

25% °

REE-T - —FR-F-_—F+_A=1+—
BIEFE - AEE &R 28 E H P B
BRAIDRERBET -  BAERBZEEF
AR B S RIRRE X - Bt - BESR
HHAK - B BTN FE A B R FERTIRIE AT
wRAatE -

FEESBEESET —EERREENFS -
RBERBERERBERY - AREEENORESR
TBEIN10% M TEINR o
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(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

11.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the product
of loss before income tax multiplied by the PRC enterprise income

tax rate of 25% is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. R8I @)

PS5 52 B2RR PR S B AT S 1R SR A TR B R 22
B E25%FEMEZ BRI T -

2022 2021
—E - B
uUsbD uUsD
E3 ET
Loss before income tax KR TS iR E 18 (5,765,955) (3,191,163)
Tax calculated at a tax rate of 25% BB E25% 5t HE R IR (1,441,489) (797,791)
Effect of different tax rates available to HEARTRNE A A& TR
different subsidiaries MR E 952,357 465,151
Tax effect of temporary differences and WERREREERBHEED
tax losses not recognised WM E 347,148 294,145
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BARMBAR BB ZE (1,156) (128,961)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible B S el R AR
for tax purpose Bnge 87,578 68,362
Under-provision in prior year LEEREBTR - 77,019
Overseas WHT YEINEFIFTIS L 153,075 198,832
Income tax expense FSHAX 97,513 176,757
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R R M EE (&)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE

12.LOSS FOR THE YEAR 12. FREE

The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging the following:

REEFABRTEMG AT SR

2022 2021
—E-CHF —E-—4F
usbD uUsD
EYH e
Amortisation of intangible assets B BEE#E
— Amortisation of licenses — FPRI RN (T AMARLAR)
(included in cost of revenue) 110,875 207,898
— Amortisation of licenses (net off revenue) — FrAIREEE S (BRI 18,704 146,829
— Amortisation of other intangible assets — HibmpEE#HE (FrATTH
(included in administrative expenses) FZ) 3,228 3,486
132,807 358,213
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment % - BiE LR EITE 311,349 347,122
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 315,002 328,640
Directors’ emoluments (Note 13) EE55HM (MH5E13)
— As Directors —ERE=Z 38,766 40,202
— For management —1EREIEE 181,155 189,810
219,921 230,012
Research and development expenses R 2,138,944 1,893,970
Auditor’s remuneration ZEET S 255,428 257,401
Impairment of trade receivables E 5 RWFIBERE 224,881 531,515
Impairment of prepayment for equity SR ENTENFRE (A
investments (included in administrative TR )
expenses) 2,051,344 -
Impairment of prepaid royalty fees TEfThRiEERE (GTATHRAX)
(included in administrative expenses) 305,980 -
Staff costs including directors’ emoluments BIRA(BEESHFNM)
— Wages, salaries and bonuses —IE&  FHe kit 3,557,551 3,780,847
— Pension costs — defined contribution plans —BESKA - RERKEE 223,260 238,946
— Social security costs, housing benefits and —HERERE - EEEMKR
other employee benefits EhiE BRI 596,840 628,285
— Share-based payments expenses — RN AERNRAZ - 67,362
4,377,651 4,715,440

—— —
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X NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R R M EE (&)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE

13.DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 13.EERFETHRAEFMEE

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EREFMAL
EMPLOYEES
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) EERETETHAEEMH

emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to directors and chief ENfENTFESREBITHRAENT

executive are as follows: B4 T

2022
—E-CE
Other social

security costs,

Pension housing
costs - benefits
defined and other
contribution employee
Name of directors EEpg Fees Salaries plans benefits Total
HitH B{RE
BEOHRE  HA - fE
-RE  BAREM
we 73 st EEEH wst
usb usb usbD usb usb
EYH En En En En
(Note i)
(BY=ED)
Executive directors: HiTEE -
Mr. Lu Yuanfeng FERIE L E - 59,092 3,910 3,052 66,054
Mr. Huang Guozhan BEELAE - 51,496 3,389 2,664 57,549
Mr. Huang Degiang BERELAE - 51,499 3,389 2,664 57,552
Independent non-executive directors: BB TEE -
Mr. Li Yi Wen FRUEE 13,033 - - - 13,033
Mr. Lu Qi Bo ERURLE 13,033 - - - 13,033
Professor CHAU Chi Wai, Wilton A 2R (Piatiin)
(Note iii) 12,700 - - - 12,700
38,766 162,087 10,688 8,380 219,921
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
& BH R R ()

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

13.DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s

emoluments (Continued)

13.EERFTETHAEFMRE
EREEFMAL @

(a) EBRFETBRAEEHFM =

2021
—E-—F
Other social
security costs,
Pension housing
costs - benefits
defined and other
contribution employee
Name of directors EEfY Fees Salaries plans benefits Total
Hiit g RE
BEEKA KA
-fE BARAEM
ik e GG EEREA @5t
usD usb usD usD usb
EH E e ER e
(Note i)
(FiHi)
Executive directors: HiTEE -
Mr. Lu Yuanfeng B 5 - 62,019 3,914 3,263 69,196
Mr. Huang Guozhan HEELE - 54,067 3,392 2,848 60,307
Mr. Huang Degiang HEREE - 54,067 3,392 2,848 60,307
Independent non-executive directors: BB TEE -
Ms. Imma Ling Kit-sum (Note ii) BZL L (M) 5,434 - - - 5,434
Mr. Li Yi Wen FRNEE 13,666 - - - 13,666
Mr. Lu Qi Bo BRUK LA 13,666 - - - 13,666
Professor CHAU Chi Wai, Wilton [BF R (i)
(Note iii) 7,436 - - - 7,436
40,202 170,153 10,698 8,959 230,012

ZEZFFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

B OB R R M EE (&)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE

13.DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 13.EERFETHRAEFMEE

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID BREHMA L @
EMPLOYEES (Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) EBRFETBRAEEHFM =
emoluments (Continued)
Notes: BT
(i) Salary paid to a director is generally an emolument paid (i) BNEFNFE—REEMRZATES
or receivable in respect of that person ' s other services in ERARNAIEMBRARTNEH BB
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or HiRBmE MRS -

its subsidiary undertakings.

(i)  Resigned on 2 June 2021. (i) RZZBZ—FXA-HEE-
(iiiy  Appointed on 2 June 2021. (i) RZF-_—FA-BEZE-
There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief FAMBEEELAEFEZTHAERENR
executive waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during BHEEMHFHOTHE -
the year.

(b) Directors’ material interests in (b) EERRS - RHHEHNH
transactions, arrangements or contracts HE KER
No other significant transactions, arrangements and contracts REBE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HILF
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was ERARKRFEREMER - BAFHE
a party and in which a director of the Company had a material RABBII AR RREFHEZKE
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of BEHEERNEamMEREREBEHR
or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: EMEARS  RHEREH(ZT=Z—
nil). Fm) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

13.DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 13.BEERIEFTHRAEFMER
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID BREHMAL @
EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(c) Five highest paid individuals (c) EEERSHMAL

FRAEEAZESTMALRERS
EF(ZTEZ—F:—R)-BT=A
—E-—F  WE) AL ZHBE @

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year
included two directors (2021: one). The emoluments of the
remaining three (2021: four) individuals are set out below:

™
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
usbD UsSD
E3H e
Wages, salaries and bonuses TE - #Faekiti 182,913 239,277
Pension costs — defined BESHA — ATEHFKEE
contribution plans 10,426 13,350
Other social security costs, Hibit gRERE - FEEF &
housing benefits and other HibfEB4&F|
employee benefits 8,294 11,296
Share-based payments LARR (7 A E R AT 50 - 22,543
201,633 286,466

The emoluments fell within the following bands: HINFUATEE

Number of individuals

A
2022 2021
—E-CF T —F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £%1,000,000E T 3 4

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors or
the highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

BEREBHEEERAT

REBE-ZT_—_FR-_ZFT=-_—F+=A
=+—HIFE FTEEHEREMFE
EFdEEFMATINEARNE - 1ER
IMAZR S B 855 Bl E R B E -

ZEZFFR




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

14.DIVIDEND 14. K&
The directors of the Company did not recommend the payment of ARREZEETEHARNBE-_T-__F+=
any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil). A=+—RLEFEZHARE(ZT=—F :
) o
15.LOSS PER SHARE 15. BRE18
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share is based on FRERREEREEB BB TSRS -

the following:

2022 2021
—Eg=-= —T-—%F
usbD usbD
Ep ey
Loss B
Loss for the purpose of basic A ESRERNREE M MEE
and diluted loss per share (5,863,468) (3,367,920)
2022 2021
—E-CF 2o —F
Number of shares RHOEE
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ BLafESREALREEHEMSH
shares in issue less shares held for EEITHINIE T AR S B Rt
the Share Option Scheme for the BT BB A (Fiista)
purpose of calculating basic and
diluted loss per share (Note a) 1,861,021,877 1,856,765,612

Notes: s

(a) The loss per share is determined based on that 1,861,021,877 (2021: (a) BREBDHEZBOETHMNEFSTER
1,856,765,612) shares were the weighted average number of ordinary #HA1,861,021,877R (T - —4:
shares in issue excluding the 138,978,123 (2021: 143,234,388) shares 1,856,765,6120%) (FTREHE-T——
which were the weighted average number held for the Share Option T RA=+—HALEFERBERETEFAELN
Scheme for the year ended 31 December 2022, without taking into DT AL 28138,978,123% (T ——4 :
account any shares which may be granted and issued by the Company 143,234,388/%)) 5t H - ERTFTRARAFIR
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme. BB &I AT R R BT E AR D -

(b) The 31,156,997 (2021: 31,182,377) options granted and remained (b) HREHmEARITER31,156,997% (ZF =
unexercised are not included in the calculation of diluted loss per share —F :31,182,3771p) BREHBEE T ==
because they are antidilutive for the years ended 31 December 2022 FRIF-Z—FTZA=+—HLEFEAER#E
and 2021. These options could potentially dilute basic loss per share in SHAE - AR E RSB BR T EKZ
the future. LHEREFEEN ZEERENARAITES

EESRANER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. 9% - BMERZE
Office Leasehold Motor
equipment Computers improvements  vehicles Total
WAERE B HEVERE AE @t
usD usb usb usD usb
=N =N e = £
Cost BA
At 1 January 2021 R-B--%-f-H 111,657 439,123 2,320,486 109,137 2,980,403
Additions NE 3,743 4,527 - - 8,270
Exchange differences fEH R 10,131 10,637 62,102 - 82,870
At 31 December 2021 and R-B--%+-A=+-HK
1 January 2022 —E-"f-f-H 125,531 454,287 2,382,588 109,137 3,071,543
Additions NE 79 5,145 - - 5,224
Exchange differences EyEE (10,346)  (34,678) (187,820) - (232,844)
At 31 December 2022 R-B--f+-A=1+-H 115,264 424,754 2,194,768 109,137 2,843,923
Accumulated depreciation 2T E
At 1 January 2021 R-Z=--%-8-H 106,681 377,595 712,554 40,017 1,236,847
Charge for the year FREH 5,443 32,210 287,642 21,827 347,122
Exchange differences BREE 10,122 9,287 22,774 - 42,183
At 31 December 2021 and RZZ--5+-A=t+-HK
1 January 2022 —E-"f%-f-H 122,246 419,092 1,022,970 61,844 1,626,152
Charge for the year ER%H 3,093 12,148 274281 21,827 311,349
Exchange differences B2 (10,133)  (32,100) (86,542) - (128,775)
At 31 December 2022 R=Z-=%+=-A=+-H 115,206 399,140 1,210,709 83,671 1,808,726
Carrying amount BEE
At 31 December 2022 RZZ--5+-A=t-H 58 25,614 984,059 25,466 1,035,197
At 31 December 2021 N-E-—F+-f=+-8 3285 35195 1350618 47,03 1445391

e

ERE

PEEAR AT

ZEZFFR




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

17. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. HERERAREE
Disclosures of lease-related items: THERBEER 2 HE
At 31 December 2022 2021
R+=—HA=+—H —E-= T —F
usbD USD
ES EL
Right-of-use assets — Buildings FRAEEE —BF 990,857 1,406,545
Lease commitments of short-term leases 2 HiflE 2 TH & HFIE 5,304 8,902
The maturity analysis, based on REBERGAEReRELAEEHEEAR
undiscounted cash flows, of the FrEEIHAS AT T -
Group’s lease liabilities is as follows:
— Less than 1 year — D F 386,492 434,850
— Between 1 and 2 years —1E2F 377,097 417,557
— Between 2 and 5 years —2FE54F 649,236 1,114,163
1,412,825 1,966,570
Year ended 31 December 2022 2021
BE+-—A=+—-HLEFE —=E-= T —F
usb USD
ES EL
Depreciation charge of right-of-use ERAEEENITERX
assets 315,002 328,640
Lease interests HEFE 85,203 105,250
Expenses related to short-term leases 1S HiTH EMRRIFI L 9,448 10,955
Total cash outflow for leases BRHEENRES R B 420,601 424,244
Additions to right-of-use assets fEREEERE M - 61,552
Lease agreements are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to HEWZ RETAH129F - HEBKIIZ
9 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and BERIEERGE B P e BT ERK G - 1
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease ERZENEEINERRZL - EHEEETSH
agreements do not impose any covenants and the leased assets EERBIERS ©

may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

18.INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. B EE
Game
intellectual
properties Computer
and licenses software Total
TR A E R
RErAfE B84 et
usbD usb usbD
EYH EYH Ep
Cost 2%
At 1 January 2021 R=-—ZE-_—-%—HF—H 3,700,214 51,079 3,751,293
Exchange differences EHEE 7,838 (229) 7,609
At 31 December 2021 and R-E-_—-F+-A=+—HK
1 January 2022 —E--"%—A—H 3,708,052 50,850 3,758,902
Additions NE 267,675 - 267,675
Exchange differences IE =% (25,860) (3,673) (29,533)
At 31 December 2022 R-E-_—F+=-A=+—H 3,949,867 47,177 3,997,044

Accumulated amortisation and T BEREREER
impairment losses

At 1 January 2021 R-ZE-—-F—H—H 3,294,035 38,428 3,332,463
Amortisation for the year FREH 354,727 3,486 358,213
Exchange differences R ZR 5,670 80 5,750
At 31 December 2021 and R-ZBE-—F+ZA=+—-HK

1 January 2022 —E-__%—A—H 3,654,432 41,994 3,696,426
Amortisation for the year F Y 129,579 3,228 132,807
Exchange differences MEHEE (23,498) (3,096) (26,594)
At 31 December 2022 R-ZBE-_—F+=-A=+—H 3,760,513 42,126 3,802,639
Carrying amount fREE
At 31 December 2022 R-B-_=-f+=-A=+—H 189,354 5,051 194,405
At 31 December 2021 RZE-——F+=-A=+—H 53,620 8,856 62,476

ZEZFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

19. SUBSIDIARIES 19. f{EB A TR
Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Group as at 31 December 2022 AEER T —_FR-_F-_—F+=ZA=+
and 2021 are as follows: —HAMBRARFEET ¢
Place of Percentage of ownership interest/
incorporation/ Issued and voting power/profit sharing
registration paid uplregistered EAREER /REE/FEHKEDL  Principal
Name and operations capital 2022 2021 activities
R/ BETRES/
e REEHE &R ZBICE R IEER

Directly owned

ERER

Digital Hollywood International Limited (‘Hollywood BVI") BVI UsD100 100% 100%  Investment holding

Digital Hollywood International Limited ([ Hollywood BVI]) ZBRUHE 100%7T RERR

Proficient City Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong HKD10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding

Proficient City Hong Kong Limited i 10,0007 REER

Angame Inc. BVI/ UsD100 100% 100%  Operation of
Malaysia mobile games

Angame Inc. EEELES/ 10057 HEFRER
BRAZ

Indirectly owned

HREs

Game Hollywood Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong/ HKD1 100% 100%  Operation of
Hong Kong, online games
Taiwan and
Vietnam

Game Hollywood Hong Kong Limited B/ BB 157 SEPLEE
AEREE

Now To Play Game Limited Hong Kong/ HKD10,000 100% 100%  Operation of
Overseas web-based

games
Now to Play Game Limited 7% /85 10,0007%570 2EMRES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

19. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

19. B A E) @

Place of Percentage of ownership interest/
incorporation/ Issued and voting power/profit sharing
registration paid uplregistered B EER /B ZR /FIBAREAL  Principal
Name and operations capital 2022 2021 activities
B BEIRES/
£ Refins gV ZBCCE To-F FEEE
BN E 8 RHEAR LA (Guangzhou You Lai Information the PRC USD2,000,000 100% 100%  Technical support
Technology Company Limited “Guangzhou You Lai")* services
BMBEs G SRRARAR ([EMER]) HE 2,000,000 T Rl ERE
EMZHAESBHEERAE (Guangzhou Zhang Ying Kong the PRC RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Development of
Information Technology Company Limited)* mobile games
ENEREEEREERAA el AK1,000,0007 REFRER
BT AFREMRHER AT (Guangzhou Suiyue Niandai the PRC RMB1,270,000 100% 100%  Marketing and
Software Technology Company Limited)* technical support
service
BMTRAERBMRBEERA i AR#1,270,0007C Ee IR R
R%
I REEESREERAE (Beiing You Tang Information the PRC RMB2,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Technology Company Limited)*
FREEEENRERAR G AR 2,000,000 REER
I REREBRRAER LA (Beijing You Lai Information Technology  the PRC RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited)*
IR SRRBRAR H AR1,000,0007 RERR
* The English names of certain subsidiaries of the Company referred * FEXFAARRETHBARNEXEREREE
herein represent the management’s best efforts in translating the HEEBRNUZEQARIMENEXHE  EAX
Chinese name of these companies as no English names have been ERRWEEREHE -
registered.
Note: The Company has set up a structured entity, Epic City Limited (“Share M ARARBERY —REBIEEFEEpic City

Scheme Trust”), solely for the purpose of administering and holding the
Company’s shares for the Share Option Scheme (Notes 30 and 33),
the Company has the power to direct the relevant activities of Share
Scheme Trust and it has the ability to use its power over Share Scheme
Trust to affect its exposure to returns. Therefore, the assets and
liabilities of Share Scheme Trust are included in the Group’s balance

sheet and the shares it held are presented as a deduction in equity as

shares held for the Share Option Scheme.

33)

B e

BEREBHEEERR

Limited ([ iR T EME7E]) -

BARNRGERETEFANRG (M:E30 %
KRR BB REERRD
B WhHRHEROTEETERENATE
HERER - Bt - ROGEIETEINEERE
BEINAEENEEAGBR - MAMBEAN
AR Ty LA SR AR A e IR A AR 27 B

T —FFIR @

EREEERRE

FHEEFEMERDE




X NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

20.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 20. A& N EINIRE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
usbD uUsD
E3 ET
Unlisted investments ELETRIRE 26,367 -
Set out below are the details of the associates of the Group. The AR S G AL BB A QT ER o T XFTIE
associates as listed below has share capital consisting solely of ERRIMRAEREEMRAE - GRFMERR
registered capital, which are held directly by the Group. BASEERERS -
Details of interests in associates as at 31 December 2022 and 2021: R —FER-_T-—F+-_A=+—HR
NS E S =
% of ownership
Place of interest
business/country FERRERE Dt (%) Nature of the Measurement
Name of incorporation 2022 2021  relationship method
BENY EH
a8 RIER —BCCf “ECD-F BEME FEAE

LB&ERR AR 2 F(Shanghai Jiying the PRC
Technology Company Limited,

“Shanghai Jiying”) (Note i) 20 20  Note ii and iii Equity
FEEEMRARAF (I LEKE]) (M) +E P Eii R #a

[BM % 5 RHR % & B R A 7(Guangzhou the PRC
Duolai Technology Investment Co., Ltd.,

“Duolai”) (Note v) 30 - Noteiii and vi Equity
BMNSHERMBEREFRAR ([%%K]) HE
(Fiztv) i R vi s
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
Bt R R M = ()
For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

20.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes:

)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Shanghai Jiying is principally engaged in the production and operation
of virtual reality recreational machines.

The Group has designated a member in the Board of Directors which
enables the Group to exercise significant influence in Shanghai Jiying
through the participation in operational, investing and financing actions.
Consequently, Shanghai Jiying has been accounted for as an associate.

Shanghai Jiying is a private company engaged in the game operation
and there is no quoted market price available for its equity.

There were no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interests in
the associates.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group assessed the
performance of Shanghai Jiying and considered the related investment
to be irrecoverable and therefore, the entire amount of the investment
in associate was fully provided for. There was no movement for the
impairment for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Duolai is principally engaged in the provision of rental services and
information technology consulting services.

The Group has 30% of the voting rights in the shareholders’ meetings
which enables the Group to exercise significant influence in Duolai.
Consequently, Duolai has been accounted for as an associate.

20. A E NN E )

L

)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(v)

-

R

Rt

LEEBIENEERREBRBNEERE
78 o

AEEEREREGER—EKE  RAKEA
FERSELE  RARBETHN LEEET
BERFES - At LEEBEIIE—
BRANE

LEERA—RUEFEREENLERR K
R EHIHME -

BESRAEERBERARNBRENNAE
RBE-Z-AFT-_A=T—RALFE &

SEFH LEEBNRE - TRB/EBRER
ARYE - FEE R E AR EHNRESED
EHERERE RBE-_T-__FR-_FT—
—FHZA=TALFE  RELEED -

REBNFRHEBERBRIE

o

SRR AR

S W

REEERRAEG EH30%IRERE - FAKE

AHEHRITEERTE N - At - ZREER
BEA A RIALR ©

T —FFIR @




X NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

20.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 20. A E N EINVIRE (@)
The following table shows the Group’s share of the amount of one TRINTAEEEL —KEAEDEARNIE
immaterial associate that is accounted for using the equity method. BEARABERARINEE -
2022 2021
—E--fF —E-—F
uUsbD usbD
Ep ET
At 31 December: R+=—A=+—8:
Carrying amounts of interests MEWEREE 26,367 -
Year ended 31 December: BE+-A=1+—-HLFE
Share of losses e E1E (17,481) -
Share of total comprehensive expenses &1L 2 [ [ 4258 (17,481) -
As at 31 December 2022, the bank and cash balances of the Group’ RZE-_—F+-A=+—H AEEHF
associates in the PRC denominated in RMB amounted to USD98,947 BERNTUARBHENRITIRBEEHRR
(2021: USDniIl). Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject 98,947E L (ZT=—F : TE) - BAR
to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations. B 53R R IINEE R R FR B ) SN I R 1D
21.EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 21.®BAAREBEFTEBEZFHTA
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Htt2HKENERRE
INCOME
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
uUsbD uUsD
E3 ET
Non-current assets EMBEE
Equity securities, at fair value BAREFES  BRAREE
Listed in Hong Kong — EEBLT — BERUBIERERAA
FingerTango Inc. 162,029 372,069
The Group acquired approximately 0.6% of common stocks of REBEDWERLUESZERER R F140.6%
FingerTango Inc., a company listed in Hong Kong which is principally FERR - R AREERE LT - TE2EFER
engaged in the development, operation and publishing mobile game EHE  EERBITTFEEBERER -

business in the PRC.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES 22. E5 EWFIE

2022 2021

s —E-—F

usD usD

EH e

Trade receivables g Z e RE 3,169,489 3,199,502

Less: allowance for impairment B RER (2,236,639) (2,167,044)
Carrying amount BREE 932,850 1,032,458

Trade receivables are arising from the development and operation of
online game business. The credit terms of trade receivables granted
to the Platforms and third party payment vendors are usually 0 to
120 days and 0 to 30 days, respectively.

The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on invoice date, and

BHEYFIBR BB EREBNRE RS
BoETFEREZINRREREFTNES

M KRBEEHRED AR
30H -

120H M0

BIREWFIAER AR AT EHNGREE 2

net of allowance, is as follows: BRER DT -
2022 2021
—E-CHF —T-—F
usb usbD
EYH e
0-30 days 0Z30H 329,305 441,995
31-90 days 31£90H 292,128 425,590
91-180 days 91E180H 175,465 115,498
Over 180 days #HiB180H 135,952 49,375
932,850 1,032,458

PHRE —g--

=

PEEAR AT

FEH @




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 22. BESEWRIE @)
Reconciliation of loss allowance for trade receivables: B 5 EW AR E R B R -
2022 2021
s —E-—F
usbD UsD
Epe e
At 1 January w—A—8 2,167,044 3,530,020
Increase in loss allowance for the year £ (A /E518 B &1 A1 224,881 531,515
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RWEBAR - (1,932,985)
Exchange difference EH =% (155,286) 38,494
At 31 December W+ZA=+—H 2,236,639 2,167,044
The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring AEERKABRBRM B REENFZIRNELS
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance FEETERHEERE - Hh B E 5 EUK
for all trade receivables, which is calculated using a provision matrix B A2 HRTE RS ERE - W AR EBEET
(including the use of internal and external data sources) where a H(BEEARNIRINBEIEIR) - ERiR
fixed provision rate applies depending on the shared credit risk BEZERFENAEEERRFEMERR
characteristics of the trade receivables. TEREE -
In assessing the shared credit risk characteristics of the trade ETEE SR FIENEEEERRENR -
receivables, the Group takes into account reasonable and AEEEECERBEEMBANETLERN
supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort. MASANERESHER - kBEBRES
This includes information about past events, current conditions and - ERTRR RARRAS B M R TE RIS AR o

forecasts of future economic conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (cContinued)

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2022 and 2021
was determined as follows for trade receivables:

22. E5 R FIE ()

BEREE R —FR-T_—F+=H
Tt HREZERUNEET A THEER

f -
Category 1* Category 2* Category 3* Category 4* Total
B8 |t E=E EmE* st
Expected loss rate TEHESIE X 5% 30% 50% 100%
Loss allowance as at R-ZB-_—%+—-A
31 December 2022 (USD) =+—BWEERE
(%£73) 48,743 2,678 482 2,184,736 2,236,639
Loss allowance as at RZEZ—F+=A
31 December 2021 (USD) =t+—HREBEE
(%7t) 53,464 7,047 203 2,106,330 2,167,044
* The Group’s loss allowance categories of trade receivables are as * REBE ZEBRENBEREERNET :

follows:

Category 1 — Highest grade, lowest credit risk

Category 2 — Medium grade, low credit risk

Category 3 — Poor standing, high credit risk

Category 4 — High likelihood of default, very high credit risk

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are

E—F - Hafp  KEEERR

EF - hREAR - KEERR

E=F - B4R REERR

BINE - SEQTREN - EFSNEERR

AEENE ZEUGIENREEIA TS

denominated in the following currencies FHE :

2022 2021
—EBF —F-—F
usbD uUsD
E ET
USD EP 830,980 922,402
RMB AR#E 75,844 79,302
HKD BT 26,026 30,754
932,850 1,032,458

HHROEBHEEFRAGT —TZ_FFH @




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

23.CONTRACT COSTS AND LIABILITIES 23. 8RR AERBE
Disclosures of revenue-related items: WAMERETEE 2 -
At 31 December 2022 2021
R+=-—A=+—8 —E-= T —F
uUsbD UsD
EpH e
Contract costs — unamortised BRI — BEBEITE & EA R
commission cost charged by e
distribution platforms 591,896 803,382
At 31 December 31 December 1 January
B 2022 2021 2021
—Eg-= B4 T
+=ZA=+—-H8 +=ZA=+—H —A—H
uUsD uUsD UsSD
ESH ESM ETT
Contract liabilities — unamortised &% EE — HERREE
revenue from sales of Game ok N F TR R Y,
Tokens and virtual items for FRE TN E B o FTIS Y
web-based games and mobile 3N
games 1,405,456 1,918,625 1,765,490
Contract liabilities — royalty fees A #) & & — B L UENA AR
received in advance e 339,621 299,646 413,307
Contract liabilities — unamortised &AXEE —VIFHAIERN
balance of the initial license REEHES
fee - - 270,000
Total contract liabilities SHBEBE 1,745,077 2,218,271 2,448,797
Contract receivables (included in ~ A#JEKFIAE (Gt AR S
trade receivables) JEULFRIE) 932,850 1,032,458 1,282,604
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)
& BH R R ()

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE
23.CONTRACT COSTS AND LIABILITIES 23.44RAERERE®

(Continued)

2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—F
usb uUsD
E3 ET
Transaction prices allocated to PEREERFHABITHNEAE EILFEL
performance obligations unsatisfied REE+-A=-+—BIEERZAK
at the end of the year and expected AR 5B
to be recognised as revenue in the
year ended 31 December:
- 2022 ——T=-=F N/A 2,218,271
- 2023 —ZT==F 1,745,077 -
1,745,077 2,218,271
Year ended 31 December 2022 2021
BE+-HA=+—HLEE —EBZZHF 2 —F
usb usD
EH ET
Revenue recognised in the year that ~ REFERERLAF I ASHEBEHWA
was included in contract liabilities at
the beginning of the year 1,918,650 1,808,198

BEREBHEEERAT

ZEZFFR




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE
23.CONTRACT COSTS AND LIABILITIES

BHRAREE @

(Continued)
Significant changes in contract liabilities during the year: FRENEENERE
2022 2021
—s - B
uUsbD uUsD
E3 ET
Increase due to operations in the year A& ML N 1,445,456 1,931,602
Decrease due to disposal of a A ) BT B A B i
subsidiary - (83,930)
Decrease due to reclassification EE#HHEmRD - (270,000)
Transfer of contract liabilities to BREEBEBEZKRA
revenue (1,918,650) (1,808,198)
A contract liability primarily consists of the unamortised revenue EHNBEZERREREHEREER R T

from sales of Game Tokens and virtual items for web-based games
and mobile games, where there is still an implied obligation to be

fulfilled by the Group over time.

Costs to obtain contracts, mainly related to contract acquisition
costs, which primarily consist of unamortised commissions cost
charged by distribution platforms are capitalised as contract costs
and amortised over the Player Relationship Period because the
Group expects to recover these costs. Capitalised contract costs are
amortised to profit or loss when the related revenue is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
SO B R (4)
For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE

2APREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 24 FENRRHEMEKRE
RECEIVABLES

2022 2021
—E-= —T-—F
usbD usb
E3 eV
Included in non-current assets FAERBEE
Prepayment for equity investments (Note i)  #Ez1% & T8 7 (B &Ei) 1,498,656 3,550,000
Prepayment for interests in an associate Bt ) T 2 O FEAST AR(BR L)

(Note ii) 3,622,500 -
Prepayment for game development pdsdke SRR BN 77,305 83,920
Deposits e 62,185 66,724

5,260,646 3,700,644
Included in current assets FARBEE
Receivables relating to payment channels BN FCRENEKEIE (MaTiv)

(Note iv) 2,734,130 3,334,054
Prepaid royalty fees (Note iii) FENThRAE B (B 5Eiii) 6,650,201 6,166,941
Prepaid advertising charges FENEEER 15,375 159,316
Prepaid server rental expenses TN RRBEERE 89,455 32,406
Other receivables (Note v) H i pE Y FIE (M atv) 426,811 704,873

9,915,972 10,397,590
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
Bt R R M = ()
For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

24 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Note:

(M)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Prepayment of USD50,000 was for the right to equity purchase of
certain shares of a company engaged in game operation.

On 20 April 2018, Hollywood BVI made a prepayment to purchase the
shares to be issued by Nouveau Capital Partners Corp. (“Nouveau”),
which was established with limited liability in accordance with the laws
of BVI, and it is principally engaged in investment holding, at a total
consideration of USD3,500,000. As at the date of this report, to the
best of the Directors’ knowledge, Nouveau held approximately 16.27%
of the issued share capital in Bright Idea Life Company Limited (78H
EVERMAMR AT, “Bright Idea Life”). Bright Idea Life is a company
established with limited liability in accordance with the laws of Taiwan
district, which is principally engaged in the provision of cultural and
art promotion services via multimedia, animation, games and virtual
reality technologies. The right to purchase of the shares will be
effective when the Investment Commission in Taiwan approves this
transaction. Pursuant to the arrangements, Hollywood BVI has the
right to require Nouveau to refund all the initial aggregate principal
amount of USD3,500,000 in the condition that the conversion cannot be
executed due to relevant approval cannot be obtained from Investment
Commission in Taiwan. During the year ended 31 December 2022,
impairment losses of USD2,051,344 (2021: USDnil) was made for this
equity investment.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group prepaid
USD3,622,500 for further investment in its associate, Duolai.

As at 31 December 2022, prepaid royalty fees mainly represent the
prepayments of approximately USD6,650,000 (2021: USD6,167,000) to
certain game developers. During the year ended 31 December 2022,
impairment losses of USD305,980 (2021: USDnil) was made for these
prepaid royalty fees.

Receivables relating to payment channels mainly represent the balances
in PayPal and Skrill (formerly Moneybookers), for cash collection from
game players for games operated on the Group’s websites.

Impairment on other receivables is measured as either 12-month
expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses, depending
on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of a deposit
or receivable has occurred since initial recognition, the impairment is
measured as lifetime expected credit losses. Based on the Group’s
assessment on other receivables, impairment provision of USD89,986
was made as at 31 December 2022 (2021: USD95,949).
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24. FERREK

BEE -

)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

H t FE WU IE ()

BUEE R F L BN A RS T RO AR
TR B M TE (S 550,000 T ©

RZZ—N\FMA=+H ' Hollywood BVI
#t# & ANouveau Capital Partners Corp.
([Nouveau|  —RIBFERBE LB ERK
VFEREREEROBR DA BITHRMD
B TE 3R - {8 /3,500,000 T - B E
RREBH - RESEFA - NouveauiF BE
BEFERODAERAE ([EAEE]) BEITR
K#)16.27% ° TRAOLEER—RKIRBEGERE
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BE - MR R E R E R R M S RE
HERSE E/EREZEGHERERS
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B mEREMAEIREZESIUSEBIE
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2,051,344 T (T -~ : TXT) °
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SERE-FREREBLE AR S EMER
3,622,500 7T ©

RZT-ZZF+-A=+—8 - EffHE
BEXZHEMAETHERAZEEANNRELY
6,650,000 C(=—ZF——4 : 6,167,000
)  RBEE-E-_—F+-_A=+—HI1
FE - ODRZSEMNRESELRERIE
305,980E L (ZF=—F : TXET) °

BEAMFRENERFIEE ZHENPayPal &
Skrill (ATfEMoneybookers) RE &k + Th5k
RN S [0 408 i 22 1 o 30 K 1) 302 8 B R ACER )

Hih R BRRER12EBREEFHENR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
SO B R (4)
For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE

25.SHORT-TERM DEPOSITS AND BANK
AND CASH BALANCES

Bank and cash balances carry interest at prevailing market rate
ranging from 0.0001% to 0.25% (2021: 0.0001% to 0.35%) per
annum.

The effective interest rate for the short-term deposits with original
maturity dates over three months as at 31 December 2021 was
0.51%.

The bank and cash balances and short-term deposits are
denominated in the following currencies:

25. B R RBITRRSER

R1ITMIRE AL N 70.0001%%E0.25% (=
T ——4F : 0.0001%ZE0.35%) WIRITHIBE
FIEETE -

RIZE-Z—F+-A=+—HRIPEBE=
BANERFRNEREFE/S0.51%

RITRRSEHRRERFHRIDATH G
&

2022 2021

—E-= - —F

uUsbD uUsD

E3 ET

uUsD E7T 1,514,743 4,705,249
RMB AR 1,471,448 6,235,322
HKD BT 17,873,470 18,361,841
EUR BT 4,172,878 3,378,642
25,032,539 32,681,054

The conversion of USD denominated balances into foreign
currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies
denominated bank balances and cash out of the PRC amounted to
USD2,333,889 (2021: USD10,222,626) are subject to relevant rules
and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government.

IAETTHER & IR E BINE KB S AN
Bt EM A$£2,333,889% T (T~ —4 ¢
10,222,626 ) WIRTTAE SR R IR G E T A
+ 7838 T P B BT 78 5 B9 AB R N E B Il 3R Al
KRB o
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(Continued)

B OB R R M EE (&)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE
26. TRADE PAYABLES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. E 5 BY R

The aging analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as B S RENREREERAMNRES AT
follows:

2022 2021

—E-C—F —E-—F

uUsbD usbD

EH ET

0-90 days 0ZF90H 362,139 511,790
91-180 days 91%F180H 276,076 393,120
181-360 days 181£360H 296,292 652,821
Over 360 days @360 H 325,060 231,246
1,259,567 1,788,977

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are
denominated in the following currencies:

AEENE S RN FENEREDIATIIES

SHE

2022 2021
—E-CF B4

usD usD

ES e

usD ESM 881,275 1,570,977
RMB AR 378,292 218,000
1,259,567 1,788,977
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE
27.ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

27. BT ERA R EA BN RE

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

usbD UsD

Ep e

Other tax payables H b FE T 18 187,907 173,483
Salary and staff welfare payables E#He B TEF 1,461,831 1,306,755
Accrued professional service fees A EERBKE 402,088 310,137
Advertising fee payables ENESE 343,981 187,618
Rent payable EAEe 172,312 187,256
Other payables (Note) E A pE s (M EE) 2,014,304 2,014,886
Others Hh 900,260 621,643
5,482,683 4,801,778

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group disposed a

subsidiary to a third party, the amount due to the disposed subsidiary

was transferred to other payable.

i REZ=F=-—F+-A=+—BLEFE &
SEME=AHE-RHBEAR - MEFE L
EMBARMFAD SR EMAE -

e

ERE

PEEAR AT

—— —

=

FEH




(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE
28.LEASE LIABILITIES 28. HEEE
Present value of
Lease payments lease payments
HEMRK HENFWRE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E--F T CZEBZZE —ET-_—F
usb usD usD usD
EP eV En 0
Within one year —&FR 386,492 434,850 321,501 344,469
Over one year but within five years —FLEERFRA 1,026,333 1,531,720 947,821 1,375,978
1,412,825 1,966,570 1,269,322 1,720,447
Less: Future finance charge W RIREI TSR (143,503)  (246,123)
Present value of lease liabilities HEABENRE 1,269,322 1,720,447
Less: Amount due for settlement within B R AREIHEENSE
12 months (shown under (ERBEEETIITR)
current liabilities) (321,501) (344,469)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months R1I2AR I BEENEE 947,821 1,375,978

As at 31 December 2022, the average effective borrowing rate was
5.47% (2021: 5.47%) per annum. Interest rates are fixed at the
contract dates and thus expose the Group to fair value interest rate

risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

29. DEFERRED TAX 29, IEEBIIE
The following are the major deferred tax assets recognised by the AT RASERRZETERLEHRIBEE -
Group:
Tax losses
HBEE
usbD
ET
At 1 January 2021 RZZE-_—F—H—H -
Credit to profit or loss (Note 11) &P (FsE11) 99,094
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 RZZEZ—F+=ZA=+—HK
“ZE-—F—H—H 99,094
Credit to profit or loss (Note 11) A (1) 55,562
At 31 December 2022 R-ZB--%#+=-A=+—8 154,656
Deferred income tax liabilities of USD464,000 (2021: USD525,000) RZZEZZF+ZA=+—0 WERETE

as at 31 December 2022 have not been recognised for the WHT AR B A ST B BT /BB A B A AR BB 1 28 1 FE A /9 B 30
and other taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings TR H A TR IR RERIEIE FT 1S 7 & (5464,0003%
of certain subsidiaries established in the PRC. Such amounts are TL(ZEZ—% : 525,000%7T) - ST

permanently reinvested. Unremitted earnings totalled USD9,290,000
(2021: USD10,505,000) as at 31 December 2022.

As of 31 December 2022, the Group did not recognise deferred
income tax assets of USD2,329,000 (2021: USD1,640,000), in
respect of deductible temporary differences and cumulative tax
losses amounting to USD17,094,000 (2021: USD11,991,000) in total,
as it is uncertain that future taxable income will be available in those
subsidiaries against which the tax losses can be utilised. Included
in unrecognised tax losses are losses of USD7,231,000 (2021:
USD5,501,000) that will expire in 2023 to 2027 (2021: 2022 to 2026)
and the remaining unrecognised tax losses of USD4,986,000 (2021:
USD2,407,000) have no expiry date.

BEXRABEE -RZE-_—_F+-_A=+—
AmRELZFE H£%9,290,000k T (=&
——%F : 10,505,000 T) ©

RZEZ—F+-—A=+—8 AEELE
BEAT R ET B = B2 A ££17,094,000F T (=
T = —4 111,991,000k 0) M RBERIEEE
HRIELEHREEE?2,329,000F T (T - —
F :1,640,000%T) - BEARAYTEEZEM
[ A BB AR R FE AR B ) 2R A5 R RIS & 18 T A
i - ARTHBERLESR_Z=_=F2
TECAF(ZF—F 2T FECT
ZRNE) BIHMY 87,231,000 0 (ZF = —
F : 5,501,000 T) + Mk FARERBEE
184,986,000 0 (ZZF = —% : 2,407,000
JC) WEEEAA o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
SO B R (4)
For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE

30.SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES HELD
FOR THE SHARE OPTION SCHEME

30.%$&?ﬁﬂﬁﬂ§t$§%‘l‘§l%ﬁﬂ’ﬂﬂi

Number of
ordinary shares Amount
ZRRHE X
usbD
E
Authorised: JETE
Ordinary shares of USD0.001 SREE(E0.0013E T
(2021: USD0.001) each ZEZ—F 1 0.001FL) W
iRk
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, R=—TB-_—%—HF—H"
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 —E-—H+=ZA=+—8"
ZEBE-Hf-A—-HRK
—E--H+=-H=+—H 4,000,000,000 4,000,000

As at 31 December 2022, the total number of issued ordinary shares
of the Company was 2,000,000,000 shares (2021: 2,000,000,000
shares) with par value of USDO0.001 per share (2021: USDO0.001
per share) which included 138,978,123 shares (2021: 138,978,123
shares) held under the share incentive scheme. They have been
fully paid up.

A summary of the Company’ s share capital and shares held for the

MRZZE-—F+-_A=+—H  ARQRFDHET
LTRBABATREEETL(ZE=—
& §&mE0.0013%7T) £92,000,000,000 %
—Z—~—% :2,000,000,0000%) @ BIEFIK
Bl A 138,978,123 k1 (=&
——% :138,978,1230%) - ZEMHEH L

ARRABH AR B ER SFA AR B2

Share Option Scheme are as follows: W

Number of Shares held for

shares Share the Share

in issue capital Option Scheme

BB RS E

2RITROEE R BENRS

usb usD

EP EP

(Note)

(BfF&E)
At 31 December 2022 R-—ZT-_—F+=-HA=+—H 2,000,000,000 2,000,000 (138,978)
At 31 December 2021 RZZE-_—F+=-HA=+—H 2,000,000,000 2,000,000 (138,978)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
SO B R (4)
For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE

30.SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES HELD
FOR THE SHARE OPTION SCHEME

(Continued)

Note: According to the written resolutions of all the members of the Company
dated 2 November 2015 and capitalisation issue dated 24 November
2017, an aggregate of 150,000,000 ordinary shares were authorised
and reserved for the issuance to the employees, directors of the Group
and other persons pursuant to the share incentive scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) adopted by the Company.

The Company has appointed Core Trust Company Limited as the trustee
to assist with the administration and vesting of options granted pursuant
to the Share Option Scheme. On 27 May 2017, the Company allotted
and issued shares to Share Scheme Trust, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Core Trust Company Limited, which are or will be used to satisfy the
options upon exercise. The shares held by Share Scheme Trust are
presented as a deduction in equity as shares held for the Share Option

Scheme.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no ordinary share of the
Company (2021: 5,245,918 ordinary shares of the Company) was
transferred by the Share Scheme Trust to the grantees exercising of the

awarded shares.

The Group’ s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group ’ s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for stakeholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group monitors capital (including share capital and capital
reserves) by regularly reviewing the capital structure. As a part
of this review, the directors of the Company consider the cost of
capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debt. In the opinion of the Directors, the Group’s capital risk is low.

30. AR BBRETEFEHR

7 )

M REEHA-T—HFE+—AZBARFZE
BREOEMABRELAHA-ZT—+tF+—A
ZTmE/MEARLEST - £4£150,000,000 0%
LAk B B RIRE REA A R A KR
RN & ([REARERTE ) BT T AKER
BE - EERHEMAL -

NAFIE Z{ICore Trust Company Limited
EAZ AR E IR kBB IR IEERERT
EREMERE - RZT—+FRA=-+L
H  ARAFE MM EIE5E (Core Trust
Company Limited®) 2 & E R F)) B K%
TR + FALASIHG R AT 2 B AR T 1T (5 s A
FE - RO EEFEREORD AR BRET
EIRBENRG 25 AEZRD -

REBE-T-_F+=-A=1+—HLFE " &
BBBBRH T ES R ITEEERRD K&
BRAERARREBR (Z2-—%F : B#E%
5,245,918 R AR B EiBAR) ©

FAEEERERN B BRREAEEEERSE
EEREEN R AR ERIEHRER K AEAMT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

31.RESERVES 31. #1E
(a) The Group (a) x&EHE
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements TEBMRECEREREITEHIE
therein are presented in the consolidated statement of profit mhHEtrEREREEHEZEBR
or loss and other comprehensive income and the consolidated FE5 -

statement of changes in equity.

(b) The Company (b) &AT
Shares held Share- Equity
for the Share based investments
Option Share payments  revaluation Accumulated
Scheme premium reserve reserves losses Total
HRHA

RERES Eit EikE
BENRS Rya® BB EfiRE RitHR E
usp usD usb usb usb usp
i i i i By i
At 1 January 2021 RZF=-5-A-H (144,224) 36,295,551 4,801,300 (1,395,362)  (3,103,672) 36,453,593

Total comprehensive expense ENZERNAE
for the year - - - (792,176) (707,464) (1,499,640
Share-based payments (Note 33) ARG BRI (H333) - - 67,362 - - 67,362
Exercise of share options TibERE 5,246 629,411 (624,829) - - 9,828
At 31 December 2021 RZE--E+ZA=1-H (138,978) 36,924,962 4,243,833 (2,187,538)  (3811,136) 35,031,143
At 1 January 2022 WZE--%-A-H (138,978) 36,924,962 4,243,833 (2,187,538)  (3,811,136) 35,031,143
Total comprehensive expense ENZERNAE

for the year - - - (210,040)  (2,522,363)  (2,732,403)
Forfeit of share options B E - - (2,872) - 2,872 =
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZ§¥+ZR=+-H (138,978) 36,924,962 4,240,961 (2,397,578)  (6,330,627) 32,298,740
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AU B ERRMEE ()
For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE
31.RESERVES (continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(iii)

Shares held for the Share Option Scheme

The consideration paid by Share Scheme Trust (Note 30)
for acquiring the Company’s shares, including any directly
attributable incremental cost, is presented as “Shares
held for the Share Option Scheme” and the amount is
deducted from total equity.

When Share Scheme Trust transfers the Company’ s
shares to the awardees upon vesting, the related costs
of the awarded shares vested are credited to “Shares
held for the Share Option Scheme”, with a corresponding
adjustment made to “Share premium”.

Share premium

Under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands, the
funds in the share premium account of the Company are
distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

Share-based payments reserve

The share-based payments reserve represents the fair
value of the actual or estimated number of unexercised
share options granted to employees of the Group
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for equity-settled share-based payments in Note
3 to the consolidated financial statements.

31. #E =

)

(c) RENMHEERAR

(i)

(i)

(iii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AU B ERRMEE ()
For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE
31.RESERVES (continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iv)

(vi)

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC and the Articles of Association of subsidiaries
located in the PRC, it is required to appropriate 10% of
the annual statutory net profits after offsetting any prior
years’ losses as determined under the PRC accounting
standards, to the statutory surplus reserve fund before
distributing the net profit. When the balance of the
statutory surplus reserve fund reaches 50% of the share
capital, any further appropriation is at the discretion of
shareholders. The statutory surplus reserve fund can be
used to offset prior years ' losses, if any, and may be
converted into share capital by issuing new shares to
shareholders in proportion to their existing shareholding
or by increasing the par value of the shares currently
held by them, provided that the remaining balance of the
statutory surplus reserve fund after such issue is no less
than 25% of share capital.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policies in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

Equity investments revaluation reserve

The equity investments revaluation reserve comprises
the cumulative net change in the fair value of equity
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income held at the end of the reporting period and is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy in Note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements.

(vii) Other reserve

The other reserve represents the differences between the
fair value of the consideration paid and the carry amount
of non-controlling interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
AORTB MK T (H)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE
32.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY

32. AR AW MR R

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
usbD USD
EYH =
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Equity investments at fair value through BRAnBEAZEEEZHT AEM
other comprehensive income 2EUW R ERIEE 162,029 372,069
Investments in subsidiaries RSB ARMEE 455,449 455,449
Prepayments TR 50,000 50,000
667,478 877,518
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEU BT BB A FIFRIA 26,306,613 28,274,144
Prepayments and other receivables FEAT R R H At UL SR8 66,056 66,056
Bank and cash balances RTINS ek 16,835,493 17,263,777
43,208,162 45,603,977
TOTAL ASSETS HWEE 43,875,640 46,481,495
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EaRkEaE
Equity =
Share capital f& A< 2,000,000 2,000,000
Reserves Gt 32,298,740 35,031,143
Total equity R 34,298,740 37,031,143
Liabilities =R
Current liabilities REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FER B R R FIE 9,196,834 9,146,433
Accruals and other payables FEET B A R E At FE T 5B 380,066 303,919
Total liabilities PN =Ri 9,576,900 9,450,352
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES HEZNREE 43,875,640 46,481,495
HRESHEEER AT —T__FFR




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)
SO B R (4)
For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE

33.S HARE-BASED PAYMENTS
TRANSACTIONS

On 15 February 2018, 21,419,696 and 28,078,914 shares options
were granted under the Share Option Scheme, with exercise price
of HKD0.0074 and USDO0.0074 per share, respectively. The vesting
period of the share options granted is three years and the vesting
schedule is 33.33% after 12 months from the grant date, 33.33%
after 24 months from the grant date, and 33.34% after 36 months
from the grant date respectively.

The directors have used the Binomial option-pricing model to
determine the fair value of the share options as at the grant date.
Key assumptions, such as risk-free interest rate, expected volatility
and dividend yield, are required to be determined by the directors
with best estimates. The risk-free interest rate, expected volatility
and dividend yield were assessed to be 2.65%, 54.58% and 0%,
respectively.

Movements of the number of share options outstanding and their
related weighted average exercise prices are as follows:

BURDAERNRRS

RZZ—NE_A+FEH - 21,419,69617 &
28,078,914 17 & AR 4 5 BIAR R BB AR A 51 8145
o 1TEE D R AER0.00747%5 70 120.0074
Enc IRLERENEBIHA=F  mHEE
BRI AR B EARE 1218 A 1455 E33.33%
R B AAE24E A 14 58 33.33% « M
i HEAE36 1A A 14558 33.34% °

EREERA_BRARREEERETERE
RIELBHN AR EE - EFRAREGER
EEERRAE  BERERRKGSEESETER
& o mERRFE - FEENIE R R DRI
732.65% ~ 54.58% 0% °

WARTTEERAENE B 28 Mz SRR
BRI IITEED T

2022 2021
—E-CE “E--F
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise shares exercise shares
price per under price per under
share option the option share option the option

BhEkE BREAT BhERE BT
THTEE BH&A FHTRE B BE

usb usb

E e
At 1 January »“—A—H 0.0052 31,182,377 0.0047 36,428,295
Forfeited during the year FRRY 0.0074 (25,380) - -
Exercised during the year FRITHE - - 0.0019 (5,245,918)
At 31 December W+ZA=1+—H 0.0052 31,156,997 0.0052 31,182,377
Vested and exercisable at 31 December RTZA=+—BERERATE 0.0052 31,156,997 0.0052 31,182,377

The Group recognised an expense of USDnil (2021: USD67,362)
for the year ended 31 December 2022 in relation to share options
granted by the Company.
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For the year ended December 31,2022 HE — T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE

34.CHANGES

IN LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities during the year:

M. BMEEHELNEEEE

TRIIRFARREEDEEN A EEBEE
B :

Lease liabilities

HEAHE

uUsD

EP

At 1 January 2021 RZEZ—F—H—H 1,918,747

Changes in cash flows ReREg (308,039)
Non-cash changes IR FH

— Additions — &N 61,552

— exchange differences —EHERE 48,187

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 RZEZ—F+-A=+—8BK

—E-—F—HF—H 1,720,447

Changes in cash flows ReReg (325,950)
Non-cash changes JEIE & # )

— exchange differences —EBNERE (125,175)

At 31 December 2022 RZE-—F+=-A=+—H 1,269,322

35.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group is currently involved in a lawsuit of a series of intellectual
property licensing agreements against Shenzhen Qianhai Huanjing
Network Technology Co., Ltd. (CRIITADELERERIEBRA
A]), a company established in the PRC on 12 July 2015 and
a fellow subsidiary of 7Road Holdings Limited, a substantial
shareholder of the Company. The outcome of this legal proceeding
is undeterminable at the moment. The directors of the Company
do not expect that the outcome of this legal proceeding will have a
material adverse effect on the Group’s financial position or results of
operations.

35. RAEE

REBRE L Lt $RIITANE LB AR RHS
ERAR (RZZE—AFEA+-BEFEK
SUHRE  REEREERER QR EE FRH
JBRR]) H)— R A E R A AR -
ILIERAAMAER BRI ARAERE - ARAEERR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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B OB R R M EE (&)

For the year ended December 31,2022 HE—Z-—F+=-A=+—HILtFE
36.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@A) Key management
compensations

personnel

The compensations paid or payable to key management
personnel (including directors and CEO) for employee services
are as follows:

36. BB ARS
(a) BREEEAS T

HEERBENNENAREEEAS
(BREENEFENTE) OFBIDIR
™

2022 2021

—E-CHF —E-—4F

usb USD

ES EL

Wages, salaries and bonuses ITE  He ki 200,853 210,355

Pension costs — defined contribution plans ~&BZ$ KA — FE M2 10,688 10,698
Other social security costs, housing benefits Hfbit @RER A - FEEF K

and other employee benefits Hiblg Eta A 8,380 8,959

219,921 230,012

(b) Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group does not have any material related party
transaction for both years.

37.APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 30 March 2023.
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